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GENERAL INFORMATION

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”), “ Adaptimmune,” the “Group,” the “Company,” “we,”
“us” and “our”referto Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and its consolidated subsidiaries, except where the context
otherwise requires. “Adaptimmune” is a registered trademark of Adaptimmune.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as
assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those
expressedorimplied by such forward-looking statements. We make such forward-looking statements pursuant to the
safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. All
statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report are forward-looking statements. In
some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,”
“continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect” or the negative of these words or other comparable terminology.

Any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report reflect our current views with respectto future events or
to ourfuture financial performance andinvolve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause ouractual results, performance orachievements to be materially differentfrom any future results, performance or
achievements expressed orimplied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause actual results to differ
materially from current expectations include, among other things, those listed under Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors and
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward -
looking statements. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update or revise these forward -looking
statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available in the future.

This Annual Reportalso contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our
business, and the markets for certain diseases, including data regarding the estimated size of those markets, and the
incidence and prevalence of certain medical conditions. Informationthat is based on estimates, forecasts, projections,
market research or similar methodologies is inherently subjectto uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may
differmaterially fromeventsand circumstances reflected in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we
obtainedthis industry, business, market and other data from reports, research surveys, studies and similar data prepared
by third parties, industry, medical and general publications, government data and similar sources.



PART I
Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company transitioning in 2024 to a commercial-stage cell therapy
company. We focus on providing novel cell therapies to people with cancer. We are a leader in the development of T-
cell therapies forsolid tumors and are anticipating our first marketing approval followed by the commercial launch of
afami-celin 2024. Our first product, a famitresgene autoleucel or “afami-cel” is specific to synovial sarcoma and will be
the first product in our sarcomaproduct franchise. Lete-cel, which we are planning for U.S. commercial launch in 2026,
will be oursecond product in the sarcoma franchise and will target both synovial sarcoma and myxoid round cell
liposarcoma (“MRCLS”), significantly expanding our treatable patient population.

Synovialsarcomaand MRCLS are two of more than fifty types of soft tissue cancers, with approximately
13,000 new softtissue sarcoma cases in the U.S. each year. Synovial sarcoma accounts for approximately 5-10% of
these cases, with MRCLS accounting for another approximately 5-10% of soft tissue sarcomas. Synovial sarcoma
impacts younger people with one third of patients diagnosed under the age of 30. Thefive-year disease specific survival
rate for synovial sarcoma patients is currently 20%. MRCLS impacts middle-aged adults and is frequently diagnosed
between ages 35-55. It hasan 8%, 5 year disease specific survival rate. We believe that afami-cel in synovial sarcoma
and lete-cel in synovial sarcomaand MRCLS canmake a significant difference to people im pacted by these cancers.

All of ourproducts and clinical candidates utilize engineered T-cells designedto find and destroy cancer cells
in patients. The T-cellsare engineered to recognize particular antigens expressed by the cancer cells and to activate a
person’s immune system to fight thecancer they have. Our current products and clinical candidates are personalized
treatmentoptions where we take a person’s white blood cells, modify them to express the engineered T-cells and then
return those engineered T-cells to the patient.

Afami-cel and Commercialization

We filed a Biologics License Application (“BLA”) with the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in
December 2023 forafami-cel, a celltherapy that provides a treatmentoption for people with synovial sarcoma. People
with synovial sarcoma are eligible to be treated with afami-cel if they express MAGE-A4 at the required level and have
the required Human Leukocyte Antigen (“HLA”) type. We reported an approximately 39% overall response rate (ORR)
and approximately 12 months duration ofresponseatthe Connective Tissue Oncology Society (“CTOS”) in 2022 from
our SPEARHEAD-1 trialandbelieve thatafami-cel will be transformative for people with advancedsynovial sarcoma.

We announced FDA acceptance ofthe BLA forafami-cel, which has priority reviewon January 31, 2024. The
BLAhasa Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“PDUFA”) target action date of August 4,2024. We are currently preparing
forthe launch of afami-cel for shortly after the PDUFA target action date. We plan to launch at select authorized
treatmentcenters (“ATCs”) and anticipate growingto 30 ATCs. The launch will focus on sarcoma centers of excellence
to ensure a targeted approach for persons with synovial sarcomawith initialactions to prepare for launch already under
way at certain of these centers. We are working with third parties to implement the necessary infrastructure to support
the launch, including with a diagnostic laboratory partner for the supply of the required companion diagnostics for
eligibility testing.

Lete-cel

We are in the process of transitioning lete-cel, which targets the NY-ESO antigen in people with synovial
sarcomaand MRCLS, from GSK. We reported interim analysis data for the IGNYTE-ESO trial with lete-celat CTOS in
2023.1n sub-study 2 ofthe IGNYTE-ESO trial, we reporteda 40% ORR (18/45 patients treated) in synovial sarcoma
and MRCLS combinedandapproximately 11 months median duration of response. The primary efficacy endpoint
requires 16/60 patientsto have a response. Sub-study 2 explores safety and efficacy in patients who received prior
anthracyclinetreatment andenrollment in sub-study 2 has completed. We also reported data for sub-study 1 of the



IGNYTE-ESO trial which explores lete-cel in the first-line setting for treatment naive patients with metastatic or
unresectable synovial sarcoma or MRCLS. In the five patients treated the response rate was 80% (4/5) by investigator
assessment.

Clinical Pipeline

We have clinicaltrials ongoing for people with ovarian cancer, head and neck cancers and urothelial cancers in
which the MAGE-A4 antigen is expressed. The SURPASS trials use a next-generation TCR T-cell with the aim of
increasing efficacy.

e SURPASS-3 Phase 2 Trial with ADP-A2M4CD8. A Phase 2 trial for people with platinum resistant
ovarian cancer is recruiting patients. We have received Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy
(“RMAT)” designation for ADP-A2M4CD8 for the treatment of this indication from the FDA. The Phase 2
trialwill evaluate ADP-A2M4CD8as both monotherapy and in combination with a checkpoint inhibitor,
nivolumab, in ovarian cancer. The trial is open in the U.S., Canada, Spain and France.

e SURPASS Phase 1 Trial with ADP-A2M4CD8: Enrolliment is ongoing in a Phase 1 trial, focusing on
treatmentof patients with head and neck and urothelial cancers in earlier line settings and in combination
with a checkpoint inhibitor (nivolumab). In the focus areas of ovarian, urothelialand head and neck cancers
the reported response rate is 75% in patients with 3 or fewer prior lines of therapy (9 out of 12 patients).
Thetrialincludesa combination cohort where participants receive a combination of ADP-A2M4CD8
togetherwith a checkpoint inhibitor (nivolumab). The trial is open at clinical sites in the U.S., Canada,
France, the U.K. and Spain.

Pre-clinical Pipeline

Our proprietary platform enables us to identify cancer targets, find and develop celltherapy candidates active
against those targetsand produce therapeutic candidates for administration to patients. Our cell therapy candidates
include TCR T-cellsand TruC T-cells. Our cell therapies are currently manufactured on an autologous or per patient
basis. Additionally we have a proprietary pre-clinical allogeneic platform for the development of “off the shelf” cell
therapies.

Our most advanced pre-clinical programs are for T-cell therapies directed to the PRAME target (“ADP-600")
and to CD70 (“ADP-520"). ADAP-600 isan engineered TCR T-cell. PRAME is expressed in a broad range of tumors
including synovial sarcoma, breast, NSCLC, gastroesophageal, melanoma, endometrial, ovarian and head & neck
cancers. ADP-520 is a TruC, developed by TCR2 Therapeutics Inc. “TCR?”) and added to our preclinical pipeline
following the combination of Adaptimmune with TCR?in June 2023. CD70 is expressed in renal cell carcinoma
(“RCC”),a solid tumor and in hematological malignancies including acute myeloid leukemia (“AML”) and lymphoma.

Our allogeneic platformutilizes cells derived from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (“iPSCs”), which can be
gene-editedto express our engineered TCRs or other constructs andthen differentiated into the required end cell type,

forexample T-cells. The platform is applicable to all of our cell therapies.
Collaborations

We have a strategic collaboration with Genentech Inc (“Genentech”). The collaboration with Genentech covers
theresearchand development of “off-the-shelf” cell therapies for up to five shared cancer targets (“off-the-shelf”
products) and the development of a novel allogeneic personalized cell therapy platform. We also have several research
and development collaborations directed to particular next-generation technologies. Following the exit from a prior
collaboration with GSK, we are in the process of completing transition of the NY-ESO program from GSK. We
anticipate final transition of all programs (including all clinical trials) by mid-year 2024.

Corporate



We have facilities in the U.S. in Philadelphia and Bostonand in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”) in Abingdon and
Stevenage. We are anintegrated cell therapy company with our own manufacturing facility in the U.S. for autologous
productsandin the U.K. forallogeneic products together with a dedicated lentiviral vector manufacturing suite in the
U.K. within the Celland Gene Therapy Catapult manufacturing facility at Stevenage. This enables us to continue
improvingthe patient experience associated with our celltherapies including the ability to introduce improvements to
the manufacturing process and patient supply chain.

On March 6,2023 the Company announced entry into a definitive agreement under which it combined with
TCR2inanall-stocktransaction. TCR?is a Boston, Massachusetts-based T-cell therapy company focused on treating
solid tumours. The transaction was approved by the Company’s shareholders and TCR? stockholders on May 30, 2023
and the merger became effectiveon June 1,2023. Following merger becoming effective TCR?and all entities within the
TCR?group, becamewholly owned by the Company. Following the completion of the transaction, the former TCR?
stockholders held approximately 25% of the Company, whereas the Company’s pre-existing shareholders held
approximately 75%. The operations of the TCR2are now fully integrated within the Adaptimmune operations.

Business Strategy

Building on our leadership position with engineered T-cell therapies in solid tumor indications, our strategic
objective isto be a world leader in designing, developing and delivering cell therapies that redefine the treatment of
cancer. Our mission isto revolutionize thetreatment of solid tumors with a single dose of engineered TCR T -cellsandas
a result to address cancers with high unmet needs with both autologous and allogeneic solutions. To achieve our mission,
our primary core value drivers are as follows:

Building a commercial franchise in synovial sarcoma and MRCLS. We submitted a BLA for our first
product, afami-cel for the treatmentof synovial sarcoma and are targeting the commercial launch of afami-cel upon
receipt of FDA approval. We continueto build the systems, policies and commercial capabilities to support that launch.

We are progressing development of our second product, lete-cel and targeting U.S. commercial launch in 2026.

Progressingthe SURPASS-3 Phase 2 trialthrough to completion. Depending on the data, we plan to rapidly
progress ADP-A2M4CD8through the phase 2 trial and towards BLA filing. We have RMAT designation for ADP-
A2MA4CDS8 for the treatment of ovarian cancer from the FDA.

Progressingthe ADP-A2M4CD8 T-cell therapy intoearlier lines of therapy. We are recruiting patients in two
new cohorts in the SURPASS trialin urothelialand headand neck cancers. These cohorts are looking at treatment in
earlier lines of therapy and alongside standard of care treatments.

Progressing PRAME (ADP-600) and CD-70 (ADP-520) directed T-cell therapies into the clinic. We aim to
complete preclinical development of our T-cell therapy directed to PRAME, continue development of our next-
generation T-celltherapies directedto PRAME and continue pre-clinical development of a T-cell therapy directed to

CD70.

Continuingto develop “off-the-shelf” cell immunotherapies and progress allogeneic cell therapies to the
clinic. We continueto develop our “off-the-shelf” (allogeneic) platform, which is broadly applicable to cell therapies,
both internally and in collaboration with our partner Genentech.

Continuingto improve our manufacturingand patient supply processes to optimize how we deliver our cell
therapiesto patients. Our integrated cell therapy manufacturing capabilities enable us to continually enhance our cell
and vector manufacturingand supply processes which we believe will ultimately enable us to treatpatients quicker, at a
lower cost and more effectively.



Our Cell Therapies for Cancer

The Immune System and T-cells

Theimmune system plays an important role in targeting and destroying cancer cells. Specifically, T -cells,
which are a type of white blood cell, and their receptors create a natural system that is designed to scan the body for
diseased cells. In general, cells process proteins internally and then convert these proteins into peptide fragments which
are then presented on the cell surface by a protein complex called the Human Leukocyte Antigen (“HLA”). T -cells
naturally scanallothercells in the body forthe presence of abnormal peptide fragments, such as those generated from
infectious agents. Recognition of this peptide-HLA complex takes place through the T-cell receptor or TCR expressed
onthe T-cells. However, binding of naturally occurring TCRs to cancer targets tends to be very poor because cancer
proteins appear very similar to naturally occurring proteins on healthy cells.

Cancer Target Identification and Validation

Before developingany engineered T-cell therapy, it is important to identify and validate a suitable target cancer
peptide or protein. The targetorantigen mustbe expressed only onthe cancer cells of interest orat very low expression
levels in normalnon-cancerous tissue. Careful validationand identification of targets is important to ensure that any
engineered celltherapy is specific to thetargeted cancerand does not bind to thesametarget onnon-cancer cells, or that
the receptor in the cell therapy does not recognize a similar peptide or protein derived in normal cells.

Our Cell Therapies

We have developed arange of celltherapiesall of which utilize the interaction between a T-cell via its TCRs
and a peptide or protein. Our cell therapies can be made directly from a patient’s own T-cells (“autologous” cell

therapies) or manufactured from stem cells (“allogeneic” cell therapies).

Forall of ourautologous cell therapies patient T-cells are extractedand are thenengineered to generate the end
cell therapy whether this is through engineering of the TCR itself or through the addition of another agent which
enhancestheefficacy of the TCR or T-cell. The nature of the engineering impacts the type of cell therapy product
generated. Theengineered T-cells are thenexpandedand infused back into the patient. When these T-cells encounter a
recognized peptide or protein within the patient’s body, they multiply and initiate thedestruction of the targeted cancer
cells.

Forourallogeneic T-celltherapies, Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells ("iPSCs”) are gene edited to express the
engineered TCRand potentially a range of next-generation modifications. As partof thegene editing the iPSCs are also
edited to remove certain HLA-type expressionso that patients expressingany HLA-type can be treated with the same
end product. Those gene-edited iPSCs are then differentiated, using a number of directed process steps, into T-cells,
which can then be used to treat patients expressing the tumor antigen to which the TCR is directed.

Adaptimmune has two receptor platforms, “TCRs” and “TRuCs”, which target different classes of
antigen. Engineered TCRstarget peptides from intracellular proteins that are naturally processed into peptide fragments
and presented on thecell surface by HLA, whereas TRuCs bindto protein targets that are expressed on the cell surface,
similarto the way in which Chimeric Antigen Receptor or “CAR” T-cells act. Following identification of a suitable
target protein that is expected to have a safeexpression profile, we tailor ourapproach depending on the extracellular or
intracellular location of the target. Both platforms are amenable to autologous and allogeneic cell therapies.

Forintracellulartarget proteins we identify potential immunogenic peptides that are processed and presented by
specific HLAtypesand then identify TCRs that are capable of binding to that specific peptide/HLA complex. We
engineer and optimize those identified receptors to enhance their ability to recognize and bind to the cancer targets,
thereby enabling a highly targeted immunotherapy which complements a patient’s immune system. The optimized TCR
forthe celltherapy then undergoes extensive preclinical safety testing prior to administration to patients who express the
right protein targetand HLAtype. The majority of our products, current clinical candidates and mostof our pre-clinical
candidates target intracellular antigens presented by HLA-A2.



TRuCsuse anantibody bindingdomain coupled to a CD3 subunit. The antibody portion binds to the target
protein on the cancer celland thenthe bound complexsignals through a CD3/TCR complex using the natural signaling
pathway of T cells. The physiologicalsignalingmethod of TRuCs isdistinct from CAR T-cellsignaling where multiple
signalingunitsare boltedtogether in a single protein. Natural TCRs are sensitive to much lower antigen density than
CARs. Our ADP-520 preclinical program uses a TRuC directed to the CD70 antigen. There is no HLA restriction with
this product meaning that all patients with tumors expressing CD70 could be eligible.

Our Product Pipeline
PROGRAM
[TARGET] TRIAL NAME(S)/ INDICATION(S)/ DESIGN IND-ENABLING PHASE 1 PHASE 23 REGISTRATION
DAGEAH | SmodsiSacoma I
[MAGE-A4] Synovial Sarcoma
WESSl  Smosm sarc I
[NY-ESO] Synovial sarcoma and MRCLS
SURPASS-3 registration-directed trial
Monotherapy; +/- checkpointinhibitor
ADP-A2M4CD8* o ;rpass PhiHead & neck cancer E
[MAGE-Ad] Focus on earlier line therapy +/- checkpoint inhibitor
SURPASS Ph1 urothelial cancer _
Focus on earlier line therapy +/- checkpoint inhibitor
Indications that express PRAME including synovial
ADP-600 sarcoma, breast, NSCLC, gastroesophageal, melanoma,
[PRA-ME] endometrial, ovarian and head & neck cancers _
Clinical Indications TBD
Indications that express CD70Qincluding hematological
ADP-520 malignancies: acute myeloid leukemia (AML), lymphoma
[CD:IO] and renal cell carcinoma (RCC) _

Clinical Indications TBD

*SURPASS Ph 1 no lenger enrolling for indications other than head & neck and urothelial cancers

Clinical Pipeline
Sarcoma Franchise — afami-cel and lete-cel

We submitted a Biologics License Application (“BLA”) with the FDA for our first product, afami-cel, in
December 2023. Acceptance of the BLAwasannounced on January 31, 2024, with a target PDUFA date of August 4,
2024.We are working towards a commercial launch in the third quarter of 202 4. A second product, lete-cel, is in pivotal
trial, with the full data set targeted for the third quarter of 2024.

e  Afami-cel
Afami-celisa TCR T-celltherapy directed to a MAGE-A4 peptide presented on HLA. The diagram below

illustrates the afami-cel T-cell interacting with the MAGE-A4 antigen on the tumor cell. We believe afami-cel
will redefine treatment for people with synovial sarcoma.
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Enrollmentin a Phase 2 clinicaltrial (the SPEARHEAD-1 trial) in synovial sarcoma will shortly complete in
the U.S. Enroliment in the SPEARHEAD-1 trial will continue in Canada, the U.K,, Spain and France. A
pediatric trial, SPEARHEAD -3, is currently enrolling in the U.S..

Clinical data from the SPEARHEAD-1 trial was presented at the Connective Tissue Oncology Society
(“CTOS”)in November2022. An Overall Response Rate (ORR) perindependent review of approximately 39%
in synovial sarcomawas presented together with a median duration of response of just over 50 weeks. We
believe afami-cel continues to have anacceptable benefit to risk profile. The charts below summarize the best
overall responses by RECIST v1.1 as of August 29, 2022 for cohort 1 of the SPEARHEAD -1 trial.
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The graph represents data from Cohort 1. PR= partial response; SD=stable-disease; PD=progressive
disease. Data represent percent changes from baseline in sum of diameters (sum of the long diameters



for non-nodal lesions and short axis for nodal lesions) in target lesions through progression or prior to
surgical resection.

Survivaldata for afami-cel was reported at CTOS in 2023 with afami-cel responders having a 2-year
survival probability of 70% and median overall survival notyet reached in the SPEARHEAD-1trial. As of
August 30,2023 the median overall survivalacross the entire SPEARHEAD -1 trial is approximately 17
months.
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Orphan Drugdesignation for afami-cel for the treatment of soft tissue sarcomas has been granted in the
European Union (“EU”) and U.S. In addition, the FDA has granted RMAT designation U.S. for the
treatmentof synovial sarcoma andaccess to the Priority Medicines (“PRIME”) regulatory support scheme
for the treatment of synovial sarcoma.

We are currently preparing to launchthe product in the third quarter of 2024 in the U.S. Launch will be
focusedinitially on 6-10 ATC and will expand to additional ATCs. Field teams are being recruited and we
are working with our ATCs and supporting third party vendors to provide for a successful launch.

Lete-cel

Lete-celisa TCR T-cell therapy directed to a NY-ESO peptide presented on HLA. It was originally
developed by Adaptimmune, and further developed under a collaborationand license agreement with GSK
plc. Lete-celisbeinginvestigated forthe treatment of synovial sarcoma or myxoid/round cell liposarcoma
(MRCLS)in the pivotal IGNYTE-ESO (NCT03967223) trial in patients who received prior anthracycline
treatment. GSK and Adaptimmuneagreed terms for the transition of lete-cel back to Adaptimmune in April
2023, transition of the lete-cel clinical trials are ongoing.

Data from aninterim analysis of sub-study 2 of the IGNYTE-ESO trialwas reportedat CTOS in November
2023. Sub-study 2 of the IGNYTE-ESO trial is a registration directed trial in synovial sarcoma and
MRCLS exploring the efficacy and safety of lete-cel in later stage patients who have received prior
anthracyclinetreatment. The interim analysis for efficacy includes data from 45 people with synovial
sarcomaor MRCLSwhohavereceived lete-celin the IGNYTE-ESOtrialand who had at least 6 months
follow up. At the time of this analysis, 18/45 (40%) (99.6% CI: 20.3%, 62.3%) people with synovial
sarcomaor MRCLShad RECISTv1.1responses by independent review with two complete responses and
16 partial responses. The response rate was 9/23 (39%) for people with synovial sarcoma and 9/22 (41%)


https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03967223?term=IGNYTE-ESO&rank=1

for people with MRCLS by independent review.
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At the time of this data cut, 18/45 of people with synovial sarcoma or MRCLS had RECISTv1.1responses
with lete-cel, by independent review. The pre-defined success criteria for this planned interim analysis
required at least 14 responders out of 45 patients and the primary endpoint for efficacy will require 16
responders outof 60 patients by independentreview. The full pivotal trial read-out is expected in the third
quarter of 2024 and work is underway to further develop lete-cel and submit a BLA in the U.S.

Duration of Response (DoR) is still being followed in 9/18 (50%) of responders at the time of thedata cut-
off. The medianduration of responsewas 10.6 months (95%Cl: 3.3, NE). The DoR ranges from 1.18+ to
16.6+ months and 12 out of 18 patients were censored for this analysis.

Data from sub-study 1 of the IGNYTE-ESO trial was also reported at CTOS 2023. Sub-study 1 was
designed to explore thefeasibility, efficacy, and safety of lete-cel in the first-line setting for treatment-
naive patients with metastatic or unresectable synovial sarcoma or MRCLS. Of the five evaluable patients
in the sub-study, oneexhibiteda complete response, with an additional three partial responses, yielding an
overall response rate of 80% (4/5) by investigator assessment. All five patients experienced cytokine
release syndrome, all cases resolved; four were treated with tocilizumab. Overall, the sub-study reveals
encouraging efficacy in this small population of treatment-naive patients in the advanced/metastatic setting
with 80% ORR, with all responses ongoing at the time of this analysis.

The IGNYTE-ESO trial, is ongoing but closed to enroliment. It is being transitioned from GSK to
Adaptimmune together with the remainder of the NY-ESO directed cell therapy program previously
controlled by GSK. Transitionis subjectto theterms of and is anticipated to be completed during 2024.

SURPASS trials
Phase 1 Trial with ADP-A2M4CD8 (SURPASS trial)

Enrollmentisongoingin the Phase 1 SURPASS trial for ADP-A2M4CD8, a next-generation TCR T-cell
therapy. This T-celltherapy utilizes the same engineered T-cell receptor as afami-cel, but with the addition
of'a CD8a homodimer. The addition of the CD8ahomodimer has been shown in vitro to increase cytokine
release and T-cell potency.

Data fromthe trialwasreportedatESMO in 2023, with a 35%overall response rate andapproximately 5
months median duration of response in 43 evaluable patients. A50% response rate was seen in the focus
indications of ovarian, urothelialand head and neck cancer. The following chartshows the responses seen



in the trial.
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Recruitment in the SURPASS trial is now focused onhead and neck cancer and urothelial cancer in earlier
line settings and also with checkpoint inhibitors.

The charts belowshowthe responses seen in ovarian, urothelial and head and neck indications. Data

provided is as of August 14, 2023.
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Phase 2 Trial with ADP-A2M4CDS8 in ovarian cancer (“SURPASS-3"):

A Phase 2 trialwith ADP-A2M4CD8 in ovarian cancer isenrollingin the U.S., France, Spainand Canada. The
U.S. arm of the trial has been initiated in collaboration with The GOG Foundation Inc. The trial evaluates the
T-cell therapy in both monotherapy andin combination with nivolumab (a checkpoint inhibitor) in platinum
resistant ovarian cancer. We recently received FDA RMAT designation for ADP-A2M4CD8for the treatment
of patients with platinum resistant ovarian cancer.

The trialwas initiated based on the clinical data seenin persons with ovarian cancer in the Phase 1 SURPASS
trial. A 40% overallresponserate (includingone complete response) and median duration of 17 weeks was
reported as of August 14 2023 in the 15 patients treated.
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Other Clinical Programs
The ADP-A2AFP Phase 1 trialandthe SURPASS-2 Phase 2 trial, have closedto enroliment. The gavo-cel and

TC-510 trials have also closedto enroliment and in all cases trials will be closed once all patients have been
fully treated and followed in accordance with the protocol and regulatory requirements.

Preclinical Candidate Pipeline
Our aim isto utilize the insights we obtain fromour clinical trialsand translational sciences work to improve

the efficacy of our existing products and approaches; andto increase thescope of our celltherapies andability to treatan
increasing number of patients. We are currently focusing our preclinical pipeline onthe developmentof T-cell therapies

directed to PRAME and CD70 and on our allogeneic cell therapy platform.

PRAME program

PRAME is highly expressedacrossa broad range of solid tumors including ovarian, endometrial, lung and
breast cancers. We are developing TCR T-cellsdirected to PRAME, with the initial candidate currently in preclinical
testing and next-generation candidates being developed over the longer term.

CD70 program
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The CD70 program targets the CD70 antigen which is expressed across a range of hematological malignancies
(acute myeloid leukemia and lymphoma) and solid tumors (renal cell carcinoma). We are using TRuC technology to
develop a T-celltherapy against CD70, with membrane bound IL-15 to enhance persistence. The T-cell therapy is
currently in pre-clinical testing.

Allogeneic iPSC Platform

We continue todevelop ourallogeneic platform which can be used to generate ‘off-the-shelf” cell therapies that
are universally applicable to alleligible patients by developing gene-edited iPSCswhich are differentiated to T-cells by
ourin-house proprietary process. These “off-the-shelf” cells are being developed to overcome the current limitation of
autologous therapies that need to be manufactured specifically for each patient. Additionally, our process starts with

iPSCs instead of donor-derived T-cells, which potentially reduces product variability.

The enhanced T-celltechnology being developed involves selectiveengineering fortheremoval of potentially
immunogenic cell surfaceproteins (for example, HLA molecules) and the addition of our TCRs, without the use of
nucleases, to develop these T-cell products. Ifsuccessful, this will enable us to treat our patients with an “off-the-shelf”
oron demand cell therapy product without the need to acquire a patient’s own cells.

We have a collaboration programwith Genentech, in which “off-the-shelf” cell therapies for up to five shared
cancertargets (“off the shelf” products) anda novel allogeneic personalized cell therapy platform are being developed.

Integrated Cell Therapy Company

We are committed to buildingan integrated cell therapy company with a broad range of capabilities that enable
the research and development of cell therapies, the translational analyses of clinical responses, control of the
manufacturingand supply chain and commercialization. The ability to take learnings from every stage of the process and
feed theselearnings backinto further research and developmentenables decisions to betaken at theappropriate timeand
improvements and enhancements to processes and products to be made effectively and in a timely manner.

We have our own autologous cell therapy manufacturing facility at the Navy Yard in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania whichis capable of supplying the majority of our autologous cell therapies currently in the clinic. The
Navy Yardfacility willalso supportthe anticipated commercial launchin the U.S. of afami-cel. A new manufacturing
facility dedicated toallogeneic drug product manufacture openedin 2022 and is co-located with our research facility in
Milton Park in the U.K. We also have our own dedicated vector manufacturing capability in the U.K., within the
Catapult Cell and Gene Therapy Manufacturing Centre in Stevenage, which is producing lentiviral vector for our

SURPASS trials using a proprietary suspension process.

Control of our own end-to-end manufacturing processes (including vector, T-celland analytical quality control
testing) enables us to improve and further develop these processes for manufacture of our cell therapies. The ability to
manufacture in-house provides security of supply at a lower cost than usinga third-party provider. In addition, the ability
to continually evaluate and optimize processes enables ongoing reductionin the times taken to treat our patients and the
overall cost of goods applicable to manufacture and supply of our cell therapies.

In addition toour in-house capabilities, and as a result of the strategic combinationwith TCR?and transition of
the lete-cel program back to Adaptimmune, we are also utilizing third party manufacturing capacity to manufacture lete-
celand ADP-520. We utilize a third party contract manufacturer for supply of lenti-viral vector for use in the
manufacture of afami-celand lete-cel. We will continue to evaluate the mostefficient and effective supply chains forall
of our products.
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Core Alliances and Collaborations
Genentech Strategic Collaboration and License Agreement

On September 3,2021, Adaptimmune Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc,
entered intoa Strategic Collaboration and License Agreementwith Genentech, Inc.and F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd (the
“Agreement”).

The collaboration has two components:

1) Development of allogeneic T-cell therapies for up to five shared cancer targets

2) Developmentof personalizedallogeneic T-celltherapies utilizing o T-cellreceptors (TCRs) isolated from
a patient, with such therapies being administered to the same patient.

The parties will collaborateto performa research program, initially duringaneight-year period (which may be
extended forup totwo additional two-year terms at Genentech’s election upon payment of an extension fee for each
two-yearterm), to developthe cell therapies, following which Genentech will determine whether to further develop and
commercialize such therapies.

Underthe terms ofthe Agreement, Adaptimmune receiveda $150 million upfront payment. Adaptimmune may
also receive:

e $150 million in additional payments spread over a period of five years from the effective date of the
Agreement, unless the Agreement is earlier terminated,;
research milestones of up to $50 million;
development milestones of upto $100 million in relation to the development of off-the-shelf T-cell therapies
per collaborationtarget (unless Adaptimmune exercises its right to opt-in to receive a profit share) and up to
$200 million in relation to the development of personalized T-cell therapies;

e commercializationmilestones ofup to $1.1 billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune
exercises its right to opt-in to receivea profit share and assuming off -the-shelf T-celltherapies are developed to
five targets) and for personalized T-cell therapies; and

e netsalesmilestones of up to$1.5billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune exercises its
right to opt-in to receive a profit share and assuming “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies are developed to five
targets) and for personalized T-cell therapies

In addition, Adaptimmune will receive tiered royalties on net sales in the mid-single to low-double digits.

Adaptimmune also has a right to opt-in to receive a profit share and to co-promote “off-the-shelf” T-cell
therapies. If Adaptimmuneelectsto opt in, then Adaptimmunewill be eligible to share 50 percent of profits and losses
from U.S.sales on such products and to receive up to $800 million in ex-U.S. regulatory and sales-based milestone
payments, as well as royalties on ex-U.S. net sales.

The parties can terminate the Agreement in the event of material breach or insolvency of the other party.
Genentech is entitled to terminate the Agreement in its entirety, on a product-by-product basis or collaboration target by
collaboration target basis on provision of 180 days notice.

Development and Research Collaborations

We entered into the GSK Collaborationand License Agreementregardingthe development, manufacture and
commercialization of TCRtherapeutic candidates in May 2014. The collaboration was terminated in October 2022,
followingwhich an amendment to the collaboration agreement was entered into in December 2022 and entry into a
transitionagreement wasannounced in April 2023. The agreement covered the return of the PRAME and NY -ESO
programs to Adaptimmune.
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Per the terms of the 2023 transition agreement, Adaptimmune has received an upfront amount and will receive
milestone-based payments totaling £30 million in relation to thetransfer of the clinical trials for the NY-ESO targeted
programs. Adaptimmune and GSK have collaborated to transition data and materials relating to the PRAME program to
Adaptimmune. Inadditionthe parties are also collaborating to transferthe NY-ESO program to Adaptimmune including
the transfer of sponsorship forthe ongoing GSK IGNYTE-ESO clinicaltrialandassociated long-term follow-up clinical
trialto Adaptimmune. Transition of sponsorship started in the fourth quarter of 2023 and is anticipated to complete
during the first half of 2024.

We have third-party collaborationsin place with Noile-lmmune and Alpine Immune Sciences in relation to
next-generation T-cell therapies.

Intellectual Property

We seek to protectthe intellectual property and proprietary technology that we believe is important to our
business, including seeking, maintaining, enforcing and defending patent rights for our cell therapies and processes,
whether developed internally or licensed from third parties. Our success will depend on our ability to obtain and
maintain patent and other protection including data/market exclusivity for our cell therapies, manufacturing and platform
technology, preservethe confidentiality of our know-howand trade secrets and operate withoutinfringing the valid and
enforceable patents and proprietary rights of third parties. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual

Property.”

Our policy isto seek to protectour proprietary position generally by filing an initial priority filing at the U.K.
Intellectual Property Office (“UKIPO”)and/orthe U.S. Patent Trademark Office (“USPTO”). This is followed by the
filing of a patent application under the Patent Co-operation Treaty (“PCT”) claiming priority from the initial
application(s) and then application for patent grant in, for example, the U.S., Europe (including major European
territories), Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Indiaand Canada. In each case, we determine the strategy and territories
required after discussion with our patent professionals to ensurethatwe obtain relevant coverage in territories that are
commercially important tous and reflect the scope of cell therapies being developed. We will additionally rely on data
exclusivity, market exclusivity and patent term extensions when available, including as relevant exclusivity through
orphan or pediatric drug designation. We also rely on trade secretsand know-how relating to our underlying platform
technologies, manufacturing processes and pre-clinical candidates.

Product Patent Families

Afami-cel -We own three patentfamilies coveringthe composition of matter of ADP-A2M4 and other related
TCRsandT-celltherapies. The patent application claims are primarily directed to the engineered TCR therapeutic
candidate and in particular the amino acid substitutions required for such engineered TCR therapeutic candidate.
National/regional applications have been filed via the PCT in allcommercially relevantterritoriesand claims have been
granted in Europe and the U.S. and other major jurisdictions. The patents within these families, if the appropriate
maintenance, renewal, annuity, or other governmental fees are paid, will expire in 2037 (worldwide, excluding possible
patent term extensions). National/regional patentapplications havealso been filed via the PCT in relation to the use of
ADP-A2M4 TCR in the treatment of head and neck, lung and ovarian cancers.

Lete-cel — We own a patent family covering the composition of matter of NY-ESO TCRs and T-cell therapies,
with claims directedto engineered NY-ESO TCR therapeutics. Claims have been granted in Europe and the U.S. and
othermajor jurisdictions, and the patents are expected to expire in 2025 (worldwide, excluding possible patent term
extensions). We also own two patent families directed to next-generation technology and methods relating to the use of
NY-ESO TCR therapeutics. We projectthe patents in these families, if issued, will expire in 2039 and 2043 (worldwide,
excluding possible patent term extensions).

ADP-A2M4CD8 — We own a patent family covering the composition of matter of ADP-A2M4CD8 and other
related TCR T-celltherapies. The patentapplication claims are directed to the engineered TCR therapeutic candidate in
combination with the CD8 next-generation technology. We project the patents within this family, if issued, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity, or other governmental fees are paid, to expire in 2039 (worldwide, excluding
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possible patent term extensions). PCT applications havealso beenfiled in relationto the use of A2ZM4CD8 TCR in the
treatment of esophageal and gastric cancers, head and neck, urothelial and ovarian cancers.

PRAME TCRT-cell-We have filed a PCT application covering the composition of matter of the TCR T-cell
therapy family directed to the PRAME target. The patent application claims are primarily directed to the engineered
TCR candidateand in particular to the aminoacid substitutions required for such TCR candidate. National and regional
applications will be filed via the PCT in due course.

CD70 TRUC T cell — We own a patentfamily coveringthe composition of matter of the T celltherapy directed
to CD70. Nationalandregional applications have beenfiled in commercially relevant jurisdictions, and patents within
these families, if issued, are expected to expire in 2041 (worldwide, excluding possible patent term extensions).

Platform Technologies

We own a number of platform technology patents and patent applications which aredirected to certain aspects
of the process that we use to engineer our TCRs and other cell therapies. Some of these are owned jointly with
Immunocore Limited, with whom we have historically hada shared development history. We also own a patent family
covering our TRUC-T cell platform, in which national/regional applications have been filed via the PCT in all
commercially relevantterritories. Patents with claims coveringthe TRuC-T cell platform have been granted in Europe,
the US, and other major jurisdictions, andareexpected to expire in 2036 (worldwide, excluding possible patent term
extensions).

Manufacturing Process Patents and Patent Applications

We have tradesecrets and patentapplications relating to the manufacture of our cell therapies. Forexample, we
have filed patent applications in commercially relevant territories, which claim priority from initial priority patent
applicationsfiled at the USPTO and UKIPO, which are directed to a particular modification to the lentiviral vector
technology. We believethis modification enhances the safety profile of thelentiviral vector technology. This has been
granted in the U.S.andother major jurisdictions. Further patentapplications have beenfiled on the manufacturing and

quality control of our products.
Preclinical and Next-Generation Approaches

We have filed six patent families covering a range of next-generation technology approaches and/or
combination approaches. For one of these patent families, we hold an exclusive, worldwide, royalty free, sublicensable
license from Drs. Stefan Endres and Sebastian Kobold atthe Klinikum der Universitat Miinchen. We own the remaining

five of these patent families.
Allogeneic iPSC Platform Approaches

We have filed a number of patent applications covering our proprietary iPSC stem cell differentiation
technology which enables thedifferentiation of stem cells into T-cells which can then be administered to patients. The
patent applications are primarily directed tothe various stages required for the differentiation of the iPSC stem cells into
differentcellline typesincluding NK cells, NKT cells, macrophages, dendritic cells and T-cells. The earliest of these
applications havenowbeen filed viathe PCT in commercially relevant territories, and patent protection is projected to
extendto 2040 (worldwide, excluding possible patent term extensions) for these families. Further priority, PCT, and
national/regional patent applications have also been filed covering additional aspects of our allogeneic platform.

Third-Party Intellectual Property Rights
We have a non-exclusive license from ThermoFisher Inc. under certain of its intellectual property rights

coveringits Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology. This technology is used in our manufacturing process to isolate,
activate and expand patient T-cells. We also have a supply agreement which runs until December 31, 2025. See “Risk
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Factors—Risks Related to Our Reliance Upon Third Parties—We rely heavily on ThermoFisherand the technology we
license from them.”

Whether licenses are required under any third-party patents depends on what steps we take going forward in
relation to our manufacturing processes, development processes and development products including our allogeneic
manufacturingand differentiation process. We may needto negotiate a license underany third-party patents or develop
alternative strategies for dealing with any third party patents if licenses are not available on commercially acceptable
terms or at all.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies and
intense competition. Competitors include large pharmaceutical companies with established development and
commercialization programs, biotechnology companies with varying developmentand commercialization capabilities,
and academic centers developing novel technologies and products.

We face competition in all of the following areas:

(@) From otherautologous celltherapies: There are a number of other cell therapies thathave already received
marketingapproval orare currently in clinical trial development. For example, autologous CAR T-cells
modalities on themarket include AbecmaTM, Breyanzi™, CARVYTKI™, Tecartus™, Kymria™, and
Yescarta™. In addition, other autologous cell therapies include TIL therapy (e.g. Iovance’s Lifileucel).

(b) From other TCRT-celltherapies: Third parties and academic institutions are developing cell therapies for
single or multiple cancer and tumor microenvironment targets including personalized neoantigen targets.
These cell therapies are at a variety of preclinical and clinical development stages. Examples
include Immatics’ IMA203 andIMA203CD8 assets that recognize a PRAME pHLA complex, which is
currently being investigated across various solid tumor indications.

(c) From other cell-based immunotherapy approaches: The immune system utilizes a complex range of
differentcelltypesand processes. Other immunotherapy approaches may target different parts of the
immune system including differenttypes of T-cells (for example, gamma delta T-cells), macrophage-based
systems, NK-cell-based products, Marrow-infiltrating lymphocytes (MILs), dendritic-cell based systems.

(d) From otherallogeneic celltherapy approaches: Multiple third parties are currently developing allogeneic
cell therapy approaches. Thesecan be derived from healthy donors (for example Allo-501A from Allogene
Therapeutics), umbilical cord blood, or induced pluripotent stem cells (for example, FT819 being
developed by Fate Therapeutics). In Dec 2022, Atara Bio’s donor-derived Ebvallo™ was granted approval
from the European Commissionforboth adults and children with Epstein-Barr positive post-transplant
lymphoproliferative disorder.

(e) From othertherapeutic product types. In any indication that we address, there may be multiple other
productmodalities thatare already being marketed or in clinical trial development. For example, small
molecule chemotherapy agents, biologics (e.g. peptides, antibodies, antibody-drug conjugates), vaccines,
oncolytic viruses, other cell therapies (for example, gamma delta T-cells, macrophage-based systems, NK-
cell-based products, Marrow-infiltrating lymphocytes, and dendritic-cell therapies). Product approvals and
new clinicaltrials can impact our ability to completeclinical development and obtain information about the
safety and efficacy of our products.

Where we see competition in any indication and a competitor receives marketing approval before our cell
therapy, we will need to demonstrate increased efficacy over the competing product.
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Government Regulation and Product Approvals

Government authorities in the U.S.,at the federal, state and local level, andin other countries and jurisdictions,
includingthe EUand U.K, extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture,
quality control, approval, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution, marketing,
post-approval monitoringand reporting, andimportand export of pharmaceutical products. The processes for obtaining
regulatoryapprovals in the U.S. and in foreign countries and jurisdictions, along with subsequent compliance with
applicable statutesand regulations and other regulatory authorities, require the expenditure of substantial time and
financial resources. Failure to comply with the various federal, state and local level laws and requirements can also result
in severe penalties and restrictions to the business.

FDA Approval Process

In the U.S,, therapeutic products, including drugs, biologics, and medical devices are subject to extensive
regulation by the FDA. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the “FDCA”), and other federal and state statutes
and regulations, govern, amongotherthings, the research, development, testing, manufacture, storage, recordkeeping,
approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, distribution, post-approval monitoringand reporting, sampling, and import
and export of pharmaceutical products, including biological products. Biological products are subject to regulation under
the FDC Act,and are approved for marketingunder provisions ofthe Public Health Service Act (“PHSA”) via a BLA.
The applicationprocess and requirements forapproval of BLAs are generally similar to those fornewdrug applications
(“NDAs”), and biologics are associated with generally similar, if not greater, approvalrisks and costs as drugs. Failure to
comply with applicable U.S. requirements may subjecta companyto a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions,
such as FDA refusal to approve pending NDAs or BLAs, clinical holds, warning or untitled letters, product recalls,
productseizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties, and criminal
prosecution.

Inthe U.S., the developmentof a new biological product and certain changes to an approved biological product
typically involves:

preclinical studies, including laboratory and animal tests,
the submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug application (“IND”’), which mustbecome effective
before human clinical testing may commence, and

e adequate and well-controlled clinicaltrials to establish the safety and effectiveness of the biological product
for each indication for which FDA approval is sought.

Satisfaction of FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takes many years andthe actual time required
may vary substantially based upon the type, complexity, and novelty of the product or disease.

Preclinical Studies

Preclinicalstudies include laboratory evaluation of product biochemistry, formulation and stability, as well as
in vitro and animal studies to assess the potential for toxicity and to establish a rationale for therapeutic use for
supporting subsequentclinical testing. In the United States, certain preclinical trials must comply with the FDA's Good
Laboratory Practice requirements ("GLPs")and the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Animal Welfare Act, as well as
other federal regulations and requirements.

IND Submission

In order to begin clinical testing of an investigational biologic product, the results of the preclinical tests,
togetherwith manufacturing information, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and a proposed clinical
protocol, among other things, are submitted to the FDA as part ofan IND application. An IND application is a request
forauthorization from the FDA to administer aninvestigational productto humans and must become effective before
humanclinical trials may begin. Some long-term preclinical testing, suchas animal tests of reproductiveadverse events
and carcinogenicity, may continueafter the IND is submitted. An IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after

16



receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or questions related to one or more proposed
clinicaltrialsand places the trial on “clinical hold”. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any
outstanding concerns before theclinicaltrial can begin. As a result, submission of an IND may not result in the FDA
allowing clinical trials to commence.

Clinical Studies

The clinical stage of development involves the administration of the investigational product to healthy
volunteers or patients under the supervision of qualified investigators, generally physicians notemployed by or under the
trial sponsor’s control, in accordance with Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”) requirements, which include the requirement
thatallresearchsubjects provide their informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials are
conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedures, subject
selection and exclusion criteria and the parameters to be used to monitor subject safety and assess efficacy. Each
protocol, and any subsequent amendments to the protocol, must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.
Furthermore, each clinical trial mustbe reviewed andapproved by an Investigational Review Board (“IRB”) for each
institution at which the clinical trial will be conductedto ensure that the risks to individua Is participating in the clinical
trialsare minimizedandare reasonable in relationto anticipated benefits. The IRB also approves the informed consent
form thatmust be providedto each clinicaltrial subject or his or her legal representative and must m onitor the clinical
trial until completed. There also are requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and completed
clinical trial results to public registries.

Clinicaltrialsto support BLAs for marketing approval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but
the phases may overlap. In Phase 1, the initial introduction of thebiologic into healthy human subjects or patients, the
product is tested to assess metabolism, pharmacokinetics, pharmacological actions, side effects associated with
increasingdoses, and, if possible, early evidenceon effectiveness. Phase 2 usually involves trials in a limited patient
population to determine the effectiveness of the biologic for a particular indication, dosage tolerance, and optimum
dosage, andto identify common adverse effects and safety risks. If a compound demonstrates evidence of effectiveness
and anacceptable safety profile in Phase 2 evaluations, Phase 3 trials are undertakento obtain theadditional information
about clinical efficacyand safety in a larger number of patients, typically at geographically dispersed clinical trial sites,
to permit the FDAto evaluate the overall benefit-risk profile of the biologic andto provide adequate information for the
labeling of the product.

The FDA may ordera clinicalhold, resulting in the temporary, or permanent, discontinuation of a clinical trial
atanytime, orimpose other sanctions, if it believes that theclinicaltrial either is not being conducted in accordance with
FDA requirements or presents an unacceptable risk to the clinical trial patients. An Investigational Review Board
(“IRB”)mayalsorequire theclinicaltrialat the site to be halted, either temporarily or permanently, for failure to comply
with the IRB’s requirements, or may impose other conditions.

Foreign studies conducted under an IND must meet the same requirements that apply to studies being
conductedin the U.S. Data from a foreign study notconducted underan IND may be submitted in support of a BLA if
the study was conducted in accordance with GCPs and the FDA is able to validate the data. The sponsor of a clinical trial
or the sponsor’s designated responsible party may be required to register certain information aboutthe trial and disclose
certain results on government or independent registry websites, such as clinicaltrials.gov.

In December2022, Congress passed the Food and Drug Omnibus Reform Act (“FDORA”), which includes
provisionsrelatedto diversity in clinicaltrial enroliment. Once the new provisions go into effect, sponsors conducting a
phase three study or another pivotal study must submit a diversity action plan tothe FDA by the time they submit their
study protocol. The FDA maywaivethe requirementto submit a diversity action planif a waiveris necessary due to the
prevalenceorincidence ofthe disease or condition that isthe subject of the trial or the patient population that may use
thedrugordevice, orif implementinga diversity actionplan would be impracticable, oragainstthe public health interest
duringa public healthemergency. The FDA mayapply awaiveron itsown initiativeorat therequest of a sponsor. If a
sponsor requests a waiver, the FDA must grant or deny a waiver within 60 days of receiving such a request.
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BLA Review Process

After completion of the required clinical testing,a BLA is preparedand submitted to the FDA. FDA licensure
or approvalof theBLA isrequired before marketing of the product may begin in the U.S. The BLA must include the
results of all preclinical, clinical, and other testing, compilation of data relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacture,

and controls, as well as proposed labeling for the product.

Underthe PDFUA, the FDA has 60 days from its receipt of a BLAto determine whether the application will be
accepted for filingbased on theagency’s threshold determination that theapplicationis sufficiently complete to permit
substantivereview. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review. Under PDUFA, the
FDA hasagreedto certain performance goals in the review of BLAs. Under Standard Review, applications for new
biologic products are reviewed within 10 months of the date the FDA “filed” the BLA (approximately 60 days after
receipt); under Priority Review, BLAs are reviewed within six months of the date the FDA “filed” the BLA. Priority
Reviewcan be grantedto a BLA if the FDA determines that the proposed biological p roduct has the potential to treat a
serious or life-threatening condition and, if approved, would be a significant improvement in safety or effectiveness
comparedto available therapies. The FDA does not always meet its PDUFA goal dates for Standard and Priority BLAS,
and the review process can be extended by FDA requests for additional information or clarification.

Before approvinga BLA, the FDA will conduct a pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities for the
new productto determinewhether they comply with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) requirements. The
FDA will not approve the application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in
compliance with cGMP requirements and are adequateto assure consistent production of the product within required
specifications. The FDA also may audit data from clinical trials to ensure compliance with GCP requirements.
Additionally, the FDA may refer applications for novel biological products or biological products which presentdifficult
questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel thatincludes physicians and other experts, for
review, evaluationand a recommendationas to whether the application should be approved and under whatconditions, if
any. The FDA s not bound by recommendations ofanadvisory committee, butit considers such recommendations when
making decisions on approval.

Afterthe FDA evaluates the BLA, it issues eitheran approval letter or a Complete Response Letter (“CRL”).
An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing information (“labeling”) for
specific indications. A CRL indicates thatthereview cycle of the application is complete and FDA has determined that
the applicationwill not be approvedin its present form. A CRL generally outlines the deficiencies in the submission and
may identify substantial additional non-clinical or clinical testing, or data, that mustbe developed in order for the FDA
to reconsider the application. If, or when, those deficiencies have been addressed to the FDA’s satisfaction in a
resubmission of the BLA, the FDA will issue an approval letter. The FDA has committed to reviewing such
resubmissions in two or six months depending on the type of information included.

As a condition of BLA approval, the FDA may require a Risk Evaluation And Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”) to
help ensure that the benefits of the biologic outweigh the potential risks. REMS can include medication guides,
communicationplans for healthcare professionals, and elements to assure safe use (“ETASU”). ETASU can include, but
are not limited to, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only under certain
circumstances, special monitoring, and the use of patient registries.

Expedited Development Programs

The FDA is required to facilitate the development, and expedite the review, of certain biologics that are
intended for thetreatment of a serious or life-threatening disease or condition forwhich there is no effective treatment,
which demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition, and/or would provide an
improvement over existing therapies. These expedited programs include Fast Track designation, Breakthrough Therapy
designation, Accelerated Approval, and Priority Review:

e  Pursuantto Section506(b) ofthe FDCA, Fast Track designationis available fordrugandbiological products
thatare intended to treat a serious or life-threatening condition and for which preclinical or clinical data
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demonstratethe potential to address an unmet medical need. Fast Track designation applies to both the
productandthe specific indication for which it is being studied. For biologics, the sponsor can request the
FDA to designatethe product for Fast Track status any time before receivinga BLA approval, but ideally no
laterthanthe pre-BLA meeting. Fast Track designation provides for additional interactions with FDA to
expeditedevelopmentand review of the BLA, and may also allow for rolling submission and review of the
BLA.

e Pursuantto Section506(a) of the FDCA, Breakthrough Therapy designation is available if the product is
intended, aloneorin combinationwith one ormoreotherdrug products, to treat a serious or life-threatening
condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product may demonstrate substantial
improvement over currently approved therapies on one or moreclinically significant endpoints. The benefits
of Breakthrough Therapy designation include the same benefits as Fast Track designation, p lus intensive
guidance from the FDA to ensure an efficient drug development program. Requests for Breakthrough
Therapy designation should ideally be made prior to the End-of-Phase 2 Meeting.

e Accelerated Approvalis available for drug or biological products that treat a serious or life-threatening
conditionand generally providea meaningful advantage over available therapies. In addition, the product
must demonstrate an effecton a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit or on a
clinicalendpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality (“IMM”), which is
reasonably likely to predict aneffect on IMM or other clinical benefit. As a condition of approval, the FDA
may require that a sponsor of a biologic receiving Accelerated Approval perform adequate and well-controlled
confirmatory clinicaltrials in the post-marketing phase. If the FDA concludes that a biologic shown to be
effective can be safely used only if distribution or use is restricted, it may require such post-marketing
restrictionsas it deems necessary to assure safe useof theproduct. In December 2022, the passage of FDORA
madeseveral changes to theFDA’s Accelerated Approval program. Among other things, FDORA provides
the FDA greaterauthority toensure that sponsors begin confirmatory trials promptly, including prior to BLA
approval. FDORA also provides the FDA with additional authority to withdraw approval of a product for
which confirmatory studies are notcompleted orare inadequate to demonstrate a satisfactory benefit/risk
profile.

e Under PDUFA, a BLA that receives Priority Review will have a 6-month goal date for first cycle review,
ratherthanthe 10-month goal date under Standard Review. To qualify for Priority Review, the FDA must
determine that the biologic product has the potential to treat a serious or life-threatening condition and, if
approved, would be a significant improvementin safety or effectiveness compared toavailable therapies. The
decision to grant Priority Review is made by the FDA within 60 days of receipt of the BLA.

Fast Track designation, Breakthrough Therapy designation, Priority Review, and Accelerated Approval
generally do notchange thestandards for approval, butmay expedite the development or approval process. Fast Track
and Breakthrough Therapy designations may be rescinded later in productdevelopment if the product no longer meets
the designation-specific qualifying criteria.

Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy designation

Under Section 506(g) of the FDCA, added as part of the 21st Century Cures Act, Congress created the RMAT
designation to facilitatean efficientdevelopment program for, and expedite review of, a product candidate that meets the

following criteria:

e itqualifiesasan RMAT,which is defined asa celltherapy, therapeutic tissue engineering product, human cell
and tissue product, orany combination product using such therapies or products, with limited exceptions;

e itis intended to treat, modify, reverse, or cure a serious or life-threatening disease or condition; and

e preliminaryclinicalevidence indicates thatthe product has the potential to address unmet medical needs for
such a disease or condition.

A sponsor may request that the FDA designate a drug as a RMAT concurrently with or at any time after
submissionof an IND. The FDA has 60 calendar days to determine whether the drug meets the criteria. A BLA for a
regenerative medicine therapy thathas received RMAT designation may be eligible for Priority Review or Accelerated
Approvalthroughuse of surrogate or intermediate endpoints reasonably likely to predict long-term clinical benefit, or
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reliance upon data obtained from a meaningful number of sites. Benefits of RMAT designation include all the benefits of
Fast Track and Breakthrough Therapy designation, including early interactions with FDA to discuss any potential
surrogate orintermediate endpointsthat could be used to support Accelerated Approval. In addition, a regenerative
medicine therapy with RMAT designation that is granted Accelerated Approval and is subject to post-approval
requirements may, as appropriate, fulfillsuch requirements through the submission of clinical evidence from clinical
trials, patientregistries, or other sources of realworld evidence, such as electronic healthrecords; thecollection of larger
confirmatory data sets; or post-approval monitoring of all patients treated with such therapy prior to its approval. Like
FDA'’s otherexpedited development programs, RMAT designation does not changethe standards forapproval but may
help expedite the development or approval process. The RMAT designation may be rescinded later in product
development if the product no longer meets the designation-specific qualifying criteria.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug or biological products
intendedto treata rare disease or condition. Arare disease or condition is one that affects fewer than 200,000 individual
in the U.S,, orif it affects more than 200,000 individuals in the U.S., there must be no reasonable expectation that the
cost of developingand makinga productavailable in the U.S. for such disease or conditionwill be recovered from sales
of the product. Orphan drug designation mustbe requested before submittinga BLA. Afterthe FDA grants orphan drug
designation, theidentity ofthe biological product and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan
drugdesignation does not conveyany advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval
process.

Orphan drug designation confers several benefits, including certain tax credits for clinical research, a waiver of
the BLA applicationfee, and exemption from certain pediatric study requirements, among others. The key benefit of
orphan drug designation is orphandrugexclusivity, which is a seven-year exclusivemarketing period in the U.S. forthat
product for that indication. Generally, the first BLA applicant with FDA orphan drug designation for a particular
biologicalproductto treat a particular disease thatobtains FDA approval is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity. During
the orphandrugexclusivity period, the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same biological
productforthesamerare disease or condition, with limited exceptions. One exception is if the later application can
demonstrate clinical superiority to the biological product with orphan drug exclusivity. Clinical superiority may be
shown by greater efficacy, greater safety, ora major contribution to patient care.

Orphan drugexclusivity does not preventthe FDA from approving a different drugor biological product for the
same disease or condition, or the same biological product for a different disease or condition.

Pediatric Data and Study Requirements

Underthe Pediatric Research Equity Act (“PREA”), NDAs or BLAs (as well as efficacy supplements) must
contain data to assess the safety and effectiveness of the drug or biological product for the claimed indications in all
relevantpediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and administration foreach pediatric subpopulation for which
thedrugorbiological productis approved as safeand effective. The FDAmay, onitsown initiative or at the request of
the applicant, grantfull or partial waivers, or deferrals, for submission of these assessments. Sponsors must also submit
pediatric study plans (“PSPs”) within sixty days of an end-of-phase 2 meeting, oras may be agreed betweenthe sponsor
and FDA. Those plans must contain anoutline of the proposed pediatric study or studies theapplicantplans to conduct,
including study objectives and design, any deferral or waiver requests, and other information required by regulation. The
applicant, the FDA, and the FDA’s internal pediatric review committee must then review the information submitted,
consult with each other, and agree upona final PSP. The FDA orthe applicantmay requestanamendment tothe plan at
any time.Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA does not apply to any biological product for an indication for
which orphan designation has been granted.

Underthe Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act (“BPCA”), a sponsor may qualify for “pediatric exclusivity”
if it conducts pediatric studies in response to a Written Request issued by FDA. Pediatric exclusivity extends by 6
months theperiod of other regulatory exclusivities, suchas orphandrugexclusivity, so longas those exclusivity periods
will not expire within 9 months of theaward of pediatric exclusivity. For drug products, pediatric exclusivity will also
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extendthe preclusive effect of patents on the FDA’s authority to approve certain competitor applications. Pediatric
exclusivity does notextend patents forbiological products approved under BLAs. To qualify for pediatric exclusivity, a
sponsor mustconductstudies that fairly respond to a Written Request, which outlines in detail the nature and type of
studies that mustbe conducted. The studies need not showthe productto be effective in the pediatric population; so long
astheclinicalstudies are determined to fairly respondto the Written Request, pediatric exclusivity will be awarded. The
FDA may issue a Written Request on its own initiative or at the sponsor’s request. A Written Request can include
multiple studies in both approved and “off-label” indications.

Additional Controls for Biologics

To help reduce the increased risk of the introduction of adventitious agents, the PHSA emphasizes the
importance of manufacturing controls for products whose attributes cannot be precisely defined. The PHSA also
provides authority to the FDA to immediately suspend licenses in situations where there exists a danger to public health,
to prepareorprocure products in the event of shortages and critical public health needs, and to authorize the creationand
enforcement of regulations to preventthe introduction or spread of communicable diseases in the U.S. and between
states.

Aftera BLAIs approved, the productmay also be subject to official lot release as a condition of approval. As
part of themanufacturing process, the manufacturer is required to perform certain tests on each lot of the product before
it is released for distribution. If the productis subjectto official release by the FDA, the manufacturer submits samples
of each lot of product to the FDA together with a release protocol showinga summary of the history of manufacture of
the lot and the results of all of the manufacturer’s tests performed on the lot. The FDA may also perform certain
confirmatory tests on lots of some products, such as viral vaccines, before releasing the lots for distribution by the
manufacturer. In addition, the FDA conducts laboratory researchrelated to theregulatory standards on the safety, purity,
potency, andeffectiveness of biological products. As with drugs, after approval of biologics, manufacturers mustaddress
any safety issuesthat arise, are subject to recalls ora halt in manufacturing, and are subject to periodic inspection after
approval.

Biosimilars

The Biologics Price Competitionand Innovation Act of 2009 (“BPCIA”) created an abbreviated approval
pathway forbiological products shownto be “highly similar” to or “interchangeable” with an FDA-licensed reference
biologicalproduct. Underthe BPCIA, an applicationfora biosimilar product must contain evidence to show that the
biosimilarproductis “highly similar” to anapprovedreference biological product, notwithstanding minor differences in
clinically inactivecomponents andthat there areno clinically meaningful differences betweenthe biological product and
the reference productin terms of safety, purity, and potency. Data to show biosimilarity can include: (1) analytical
studies; (2) animal studies;and (3) a clinical study or studies. The FDA has the discretion not to require each of these
categories of data. Abiosimilarcan be approved by the FDA for some or all of the same conditions of use, strengths,
dosage forms, and routes of administration as the FDA-approved reference product. The FDA will determine that a
biosimilar productis interchangeable with its reference biological product, if the biosimilar product can be expected to
producethe same clinical results as thereference productin any given patient and, for products that are administered
multiple timesto an individual, the biosimilarandthereference biologic may be alternated or switched after one has
been previously administered without increasing safety risks or risks of diminished efficacy relative to exclusive use of
the reference biologic. AWhether products deemed “interchangeable” by the FDA will, in fact, be substituted by
pharmacies is governed by state pharmacy law.

Underthe BPCIA, an applicationfora biosimilar product may not be submitted to the FDA until four years
followingthe date that thereference product was first licensed by the FDA. In addition, the approval of a biosimilar
productmay not be made effective by the FDA until 12 years from the date on which the reference product was first
licensed. During this 12-year period of exclusivity, another company may still market a competing version of the
reference product if the FDA approves a full BLA forthe competing product containing that applicant’s own preclinical
dataanddata fromadequate and well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate the safety, purity and potency of the
product.
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The BPCIlAalso created certain exclusivity periods for biosimilars approvedas interchangeable products. The
first biologic product submitted under the abbreviated approval pathway that is determined to be interchangeable with
the reference producthas exclusivity against a finding of interchangeability for other biosimilar products for the same
conditionof use forthe lesser of (i) one yearafter first commercial marketing of the first interchangeable biosimilar,
(i) 18 monthsafterthefirst interchangeable biosimilar isapproved if there is no patent challenge, (iii) 18 months after
resolution of a lawsuit over the patents of the referencebiologic in favor of the first interchangeable biosimilarapplicant,
or (iv) 42 months after the first interchangeable biosimilarhasbeen approved if a patent lawsuit is ongoing within the
42-month period.

The BPCIAiscomplexandcontinues to be interpretedand implemented by the FDA. In addition, government
proposals have soughtto reduce the 12-year reference productexclusivity period. Other aspects of the BPCIA, some of
which mayimpactthe BPCIA exclusivity provisions, have also been the subject of recent litigation. As a result, the
ultimate impact, implementation, and impact of the BPCIA is subject to significant uncertainty.

Post-Approval Requirements

Approveddrugandbiological products are subject to ongoing regulation by the FDA, including, among other
things, requirements relatingto quality controland quality assurance, record-keeping, reporting of adverse experiences,
periodic reporting, product samplingand distribution, and advertising and promotion of the product. After approval,
most changes to the approved product, suchas adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject to prior FDA
reviewand approval. There also are continuing user fee requirements, under which FDA assesses anannual program fee
foreach product identified in an approved BLA. Biologic manufacturersand their subcontractors are required to register
theirestablishments with the FDA and certain state agencies, andare subjectto periodic unannounced inspections by the
FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP, which impose certain procedural and documentation
requirements upon usand our third-party manufacturers. Changes to the manufacturing process are strictly regulated,
and, dependingon the significance of the change, may require prior FDA approval before being implemented. FDA
regulations also require investigationand correction of any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting requirements
upon usand any third-party manufacturers that we may decide to use. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to
expendtime, money andeffort in the area of productionand quality control to maintain compliance with cGMP and
other aspects of regulatory compliance.

The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained
or if problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a
product, including AEs of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply
with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to theapproved labeling to add new safety information; imposition
of post-marketstudies or clinical studiesto assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other
restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

e  restrictionson the marketing or manufacturing of a product, mandated modification of promotional materials
or issuance of corrective information, issuanceby FDA or other regulatory authorities of safety alerts, Dear
Healthcare Provider letters, press releases or other communications containing warnings or other safety
informationabout the product, or complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls;
fines, warnings or untitled letters or holds on post-approval clinical studies;
refusal of the FDAto approve pendingapplications or supplements toapproved applications, or suspension or
revocation of existing product approvals;
product seizure or detention, or refusal of the FDA to permit the import or export of products; or
injunctions, consent decrees or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA closely regulates the marketing, labeling, advertisingand promotion of biologics. A sponsor may only
makeclaims relating to safety and efficacy, purity and potency thatare approved by the FDAand in accordance with the
provisions of the approved label. The FDA and otheragencies actively enforcethe laws and regulations prohibiting the
promotionof “off-label” uses. Failure to comply with these requirements can result in, among other things, adverse
publicity, untitledand warning letters, corrective advertisingand potential civiland criminal penalties. Physicians may
prescribe legally available products foruses that are notdescribed in the product’s labeling and that differ from those
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tested by us and approved by the FDA. The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of
treatments. The FDA does, however, restrict manufacturer’s communications on the subject of “off-label” use of their
products.

FDA Regulation of Companion Diagnostics

If safe and effective use of a therapeutic product depends on an in vitro diagnostic, the FDA generally will
require approval or clearance of the diagnostic, known as a companion diagnostic, at the same time that the FDA
approves the therapeutic product. The FDA has generally required invitro companion diagnostics intended to select the
patients who will respond to cancer treatment to obtain marketing approval through the pre-market approval (“PMA”)
process forthatdiagnostic simultaneously with approval of the therapeutic. The review of these in vitro companion
diagnostics in conjunction with the review of a cancer therapeutic involves coordination ofreview by the FDA’s Center
for Biologics Evaluation and Research (“CBER”) and by the FDA’s Center for Devices and Radiological Health
(“CDRH”).

The PMA process involves a rigorous premarketreview during which the applicant must prepare and provide
the FDA with reasonable assurance of the device’s safety and effectiveness and information about the device and its
components regarding, among other things, device design, manufacturing and labeling. In addition, PMAs for certain
devices must generally include the results from extensive preclinical and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to
establish the safety and effectiveness of the device for each indication for which FDA approval is sought.

SuccessfulPMA approvalisuncertain, andthe FDAmay ultimately respond to a PMA submission with a not
approvable determinationbased ondeficiencies in the applicationand require additional clinical trial or other data that
may be expensive and time-consuming to generate and that cansubstantially delay approval. If the FDA finds the PMA
application is approvable, the FDA typically issues anapprovable letter requiring the applicant’s agreement to specific
conditions, suchas changes in labeling, or specific additional information, such as submission of final labeling, in order
to secure finalapproval of the PMA. If the FDA concludes that theapplicable criteria have been met, the FDA will issue
a PMAforthe approved indications, which can be more limitedthan those originally soughtby the applicant. The PMA
can includepost-approval conditions that the FDA believes necessary to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the
device, including, among other things, restrictions on labeling, promotion, sale and distribution.

Anti-Kickback, False Claims Laws

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, several other types of stateand federal
laws have beenappliedto restrict certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry in recent years. These laws
include anti-kickback statutes, false claims statutes, and other statutes pertaining to health care fraud and abuse. The
federal healthcare program anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying,
soliciting or receiving remuneration to induce, or in return for, purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for the
purchase, lease ororder ofany healthcare item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid, or other federally
financedhealthcare programs. Violations of theanti-kickback statute are punishable by imprisonment, criminal fines,
civilmonetary penalties, and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs.

Federalfalse claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false
claim for payment to the federal government, or knowingly making, or causingto be made, a false statement to have a
false claim paid. In addition, certain marketing practices, including off-label promotion, may also violate false claims
laws. Additionally, the Healthcare Reform Act amended the federal false claims law such that a violation of the federal
healthcare program anti-kickback statute can serve as a basis for liability under the federal false claims law.

Otherfederal statutes pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse include the civil monetary penalties statute,
which prohibits the offer or payment of remuneration to a Medicaid or Medicare beneficiary that the offeror/payor
knows or should know s likely to influence the beneficiary to order a receive a reimbursable item or service from a
particular supplier,and the healthcare fraud statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully executing or attempting to
executea scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
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representations, or promises any money or property owned by orunder the control of any healthcare benefit program in
connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services.

Pricing and Reimbursement

Salesin the United States of approved biological products are dependent, in large part, on the availability and
extent of reimbursement from third-party payors, including private payor healthcare and insurance programs, health
maintenance organizations, pharmacy benefit management companies, and government programs suchas Medicare and
Medicaid.

Participation in the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, state Medicaid supplemental rebate program(s), and other
governmental pricing programs will include certain price reporting obligations, as well as obligations to report the
average sales price for certain drugs to the Medicare program. Under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, sponsors are
required to pay a rebate to eachstate Medicaid program for our covered outpatientdrugs and biologics that are dispensed
to Medicaid beneficiaries and paid for by a state Medicaid programas a conditionof having federal funds being made
available for our drugs under Medicaid and Part B of the Medicare program.

Medicaid is a joint federaland state program that is administered by the states for low-income and disabled
beneficiaries. Medicaid rebates are based on pricing data reported by sponsors on a monthly and quarterly basis to the
Centersfor Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS"), the federalagency that administers the Medicaid and Medicare
programs. Thesedata includethe average manufacturer price and, in the case of innovator products, the best price for
each drugorbiologic which, in general, represents the lowest price available from the manufacturer to any entity in the
U.S. in any pricing structure, calculated to include all sales and associated rebates, discounts, and other price
concessions. The amountof the rebate is adjusted upward if average manufacturer price increases more than inflation
(measured by referenceto the Consumer Price Index - Urban). Until December 31, 2023, therebate was capped at 100
percent of the average manufacturer price, but effective January 1,2024, thiscapon the rebate has been removed, and
the rebate liability of manufacturers could increase accordingly.

If a sponsor becomes aware that Medicaid reporting for a prior quarter was incorrect, or has changed as a result
of recalculation of the pricing data, the sponsor is obligated to resubmit the corrected data for up to three years after
those data originally were due, which revisions could affectrebate liability for prior quarters. If a sponsor fails to pay the
required rebateamount or report pricing data on a timely basis, the sponsor may be subject to civil monetary penalties
and/or termination of its Medicaid Drug Rebate program agreement, in which case federal payments may not be
available under Medicaid or Medicare Part B for covered outpatientdrugs. The federal Patient Protectionand Affordable
Care Act (“PPACA”) made significant changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program,and CMS subsequently issued a
finalregulation to implementthe changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program under PPACA. CMS has since modified
its Medicaid Drug Rebate programregulations to, among other things, permit reporting mu ltiple best price figures with
regard to value-based purchasing arrangements and provide definitions for “line extension,” “new formulation,” and
related terms with the practical effect of expanding the scope of drug and biological products considered to be line
extensions. In addition to Medicaid we are required to provide rebates to Veteran Affairs/Department of Defense and
340B facilities.

Medicare is a federal program that is administered by the federal governmentthatcovers individuals age 65 and
overorthatare disabled as wellas those with certain health conditions. Medicare Part Aand Part B will apply to our cell
therapies. Medicare Part Awill apply for inpatientcare for Medicare beneficiaries. Medicare Part B generally covers
drugs and biologics that must be administered by physicians or other health care practitioners; are provided in
connection with certain durable medical equipment; or are certain oral anti-cancer drugs and certain oral
immunosuppressive drugs. Medicare Part B pays for suchdrugs and biologics under a payment methodology based on
the average sales price ofthe drugs. Manufacturers are required to report average sales price information to CMS on a
quarterly basis. The manufacturer-submitted information may be used by CMS to calculate Medicare payment rates.
Manufacturers must pay refunds to Medicare for single-source drugs or biological products, or biosimilar biological
products, reimbursed under Medicare Part B and packaged in single-dose containers or single-use packages for units of
discarded drug reimbursed by MedicarePart B in excess of 10 percent oftotal allowed charges under Medicare Part B
forthat drug. Manufacturers that fail to pay refunds could be subjectto civilmonetary penalties. Further, the Inflation
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Reduction Act (“IRA”) hasestablished a Medicare Part B inflation rebate scheme under which, generally speaking,
manufacturers owe rebates if the average sales price of a Part B drug increases faster than the pace of inflation. Failure to
timely pay a Part B inflation rebate is subject to a civil monetary penalty.

The IRAalso created a drug price negotiation program requiring the government to set prices for select high -
expenditure drugs covered under Medicare Parts B andD. Starting in 2023and 2026, the government is authorized to
select Part Dand PartB drugs, respectively, forinclusionin the drug price negotiation program, with established prices
to go into effect for selected Part D drugs in 2026 and for selected Part B drugs in 2028, in each case absent certain
disqualifyingevents. Failure to comply with requirements under the drug price negotiation program is subject to an
excisetax anda civilmonetary penalty. The IRA’s drugprice negotiation program is the subject of ongoing litigation,
and its implementation remains unclear.

Private payor healthcare and insurance providers, health maintenance organizations, and pharmacy benefit
managers in the United States are adopting moreaggressive utilization management techniques and are increasingly
requiringsignificant discounts and rebates from manufacturers asa condition to including products on formulary with
favorable coverage and copayment/coinsurance. These payors may not cover or adequately reimburse for use of our
products or may do so at levels that disadvantage them relative to competitive products.

Moreover, obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement is a time-consumingand costly process. We may be
required to provide scientific andclinical support for the use of any productto eachthird -party payor separately with no
assurance that approval will be obtained, and we may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to
demonstratethe cost-effectiveness of our products. We cannot be certain that our product candidates will be considered
cost-effective by third-party payors. This process could delay the marketacceptance of any product candidates for which

we may receive approval and could have a negative effect on our future revenues and operating results.
Sunshine Act and Transparency Laws

The US Physician Payments Sunshine Act (“Sunshine Act”) requires applicable manufacturers of covered
drugs, devices, biologicals and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the
Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related to
payments or other transfers of valuemadeto physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists
and chiropractors), non-physician healthcare professionals (suchas physician assistants and nurse practitioners, among
others) andteaching hospitals, as wellas ownership and investment interests held by physicians and theirimmediate
family members. The Sunshine Act thus requires tracking of such payments and transfers of value, reporting to the
federal government, and public disclosure of certain data.

A number of states now require pharmaceutical companies to report expenses relating to the marketing and
promotion of pharmaceutical products and to reportgifts and payments to healthcare providers in the states. Government
agencies and private entities may inquire aboutour marketing practices or pursue other enforcement activities based on
the disclosures in those public reports.

Other Federal and State Regulatory Requirements

Various federal, state and local laws, regulations, and recommendations relating to safe working conditions,
laboratory practices, the experimental use of animals, the environment and the purchase, storage, movement, import,
export, use, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances, including radioactive compoundsand infectious
disease agents, used in connectionwith our research are applicable to ouractivities. They include, among others, the U.S.
Atomic Energy Act, the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the National
Environmental Policy Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, and Resources Conservation and Recovery Act, national
restrictions on technology transfer, import, export, and customs regulations, and other present and possible future local,
state, or federal regulation.
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European Union, U.K. and Rest of the World Regulation

Inaddition toregulationsin the U.S., we are subjectto a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions both due to
the location of our facilities and the fact that we are engaging in clinical programs outside of the U.S. and will need to
obtainworldwide regulatory approval for our TCR therapeutic candidates. Inparticular we have clinical trials ongoingin
the United Kingdom and in certain countries in the European Union (“EU”) and are subject to regulations relating to
performance of those clinical trials and manufacture and supply of our cell therapies in those countries. Prior to
supplyingany celltherapyin any country orstartingany clinical trials in any country outside of the U.S. we must obtain
the requisite approvals from regulatory authorities in such countries. The existence of a U.S. regulatory approval does
not guarantee that regulatory approvals will be obtained in other countries in which we wish to conduct clinical trials or
market our celltherapies. In the EU, forexample, a clinical trialapplication mustbe submitted to each country’s national
health authority andanindependentethics committee, much like the FDA and IRB, respectively priorto any clinical trial
being conducted in the relevant country. A marketing authorization application is then submitted to the EMA for
approval by the European Commission. Finally, prior to any commercial supply, a pricing and reimbursement
application is submitted to each relevant country’s national or local health authorities.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and
reimbursementvary from countryto country. In all cases, the clinical trials are conducted in accordance with Good
Clinical Practice (“GCP”) and the applicable regulatory requirements and theethical principles that have their origin in

the Declaration of Helsinki. However, the interpretation of these requirements may well differ from country to country.
Review and Approval of Drug Products Outside of the U.S.

In orderto market any productoutsideof the U.S.,a company must also comply with numerous and varying
regulatory requirements of other countries and jurisdictions regarding quality, sa fety and efficacy and governing, among
otherthings, clinicaltrials, marketing authorization, commercial sales and distribution of products. Whether or not it
obtains FDA approval fora product, the company would need to obtain the necessary approvals by the comparable
foreign regulatory authorities before it cancommence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries or
jurisdictions. The approval process ultimately varies between countries and jurisdictions and can involve additional
producttestingandadditional administrative review periods. Thetime required to obtain approval in other countriesand
jurisdictions mightdiffer from and be longer thanthat required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one
countryor jurisdictiondoes not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory
approval in one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

Procedures Governing Approval of Products in the EU and U.K.

Pursuant to the European Clinical Trials Directive, a system for the approval of clinical trials in the EU has
been implemented through national legislation of the member states. Under this system, an applicant must obtain
approval fromthe competent national authority of a EU member state in which the clinical trial is to be conducted.
Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial after a competent ethics committee has issued a favorable
opinion. A clinical trial application must be accompanied by an investigational medicinal product dossier with
supporting information prescribed by the European Clinical Trials Directive and corresponding national laws of the
member states and further detailed in applicable guidance documents. Similar approval requirements apply in the U.K.
and a clinical trialapplication mustbe madeto the U.K. regulatory authority (“MHRA”) prior to starting any clinical
trial.

To obtainmarketingapproval of a product under EU regulatory systems, anapplicantmust submit a marketing
authorizationapplication, or MAA, eitherunder a centralized or decentralized procedure. The centralized procedure
provides forthegrant of asingle marketingauthorization by the European Commission that is valid for all EU member
states. The centralized procedure is compulsory for specific products, including for medicines produced by certain
biotechnological processes, products designated as orphan medicinal products, advanced therapy medicinal products and
products with a newactive substance indicated for the treatment of certain diseases. For products with a new active
substance indicated for the treatment of other diseases and products that are highly innovative or for which a centralized
process is in the interest of patients, the centralized procedure may be optional.
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Under the centralized procedure, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or the CHMP,
established at the EMA is responsible for conducting the scientific assessment of a product. The CHMP is also
responsible for several post-authorization and maintenance activities, such as the assessment of modifications or
extensions to an existing marketing authorization. Foradvanced therapy medicinal products (“ATMPs”), the scientific
evaluationof MAA s primarily performed by the Committee for Advanced Therapies (‘CAT”). The CAT prepares a
draft opinion of each ATMP subject to a MAA which is sent for final approval to the CHMP.

Underthe centralized procedure in the EU, the maximum timeframe for the evaluationofan MAAis 210 days,
excludingclock stops, when additional information or written or oral explanation is to be provided by the applicant in
response to questions of the CHMP. Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, whena
medicinal product is of major interest from the point of view of public health and in particular from the viewpoint of
therapeutic innovation. In this circumstance, the EMA ensures that theopinion of the CHMP is given within 150 days.
Then, the European Commission grants or refuses the marketing authorization, following a procedure that involves
representatives of the member states. Althoughthe CHMP's opinion is not binding, the Commission's decision to grant
or refuse the marketauthorization is frequently in accordance with the CHMP's assessment exceptin very rare cases. For
marketingapproval in the U.K, an application for marketing a pproval will be made for the MHRA and follows a similar
process to that used in the EU.

Marketingauthorizationis valid for five years in principle and the marketing authorization may be renewed
afterfive years on the basis of a re-evaluation of therisk-benefit balance by the EMA or by the competent authority of
the authorizingmember state orin the U.K. To thisend, the marketing authorization holder must providethe EMA or the
competent authority with a consolidated version of the file in respect of quality, safety and efficacy, including all
variations introduced since the marketing authorization was granted, at least six months before the marketing
authorization ceasesto be valid. Once renewed, the marketing authorizationis valid for an unlimited period, unless the
Commission orthe competentauthority decides, on justified grounds relating to pharmacovigilance, to proceed with one
additional five-year renewal. Any authorizationwhich is not followed by the actual placing of the drugon the EU market
(in case of centralized procedure) or on the market of the authorizing member state within three years afterauthorization
ceases to be valid (the so-called sunset clause).

As a result of Brexit,asof January 1, 2021, marketing authorizations granted on the basis of a centralized
procedure in the EU are only valid in Northern Ireland, but not in Great Britain (England, Scotland and Wales).
However, prior EU authorizations have all been automatically converted into U.K. marketing authorizations effective in
Great Britain. U.K. rules require marketing authorization holders to be established in the U.K. or in the EU/European
Economic Area. EU rules require marketing authorization holders to be established in the EU/European Economic Area
and, in addition, thatcertainactivities be performed in the EU, related for example to pharmacovigilance, batch release
and quality control. Marketing authorization holders may needto take steps to comply with these requirements aimingat
holding both a EU and a U.K. marketing authorization.

With regard to the sunset clause, from the perspective of the U.K, the period of three years during which the
drughasnot been marketed in Great Britain will be restarted fromthedate of conversion to a Great Britain marketing
authorization. Fromthe perspective ofthe EU, in case the drughas been marketed in the U.K, the placing on the U.K.
market before theend of the Brexit transition period will be taken intoaccount. If, afterthe end of the Brexit transition
period, the drugis not placed on any other market of theremaining member states of the EU, the three year period for
the sunset clause will start running from the last date the drugwas placed on the U.K. market before the end of the Brexit
transition period.

Outside the U.S., interactions between biopharmaceutical companies and physicians are also governed by strict
laws, regulations, industry self-regulation codes of conduct and physicians’ codes of professional conduct. The provision
of benefits or advantages to physicians to induce or encourage the prescription, recommendation, endorsement,
purchase, supply, order or use of medicinal products, which is prohibited in the EU, is governed by the national anti-
bribery laws of the EU member states. Violation of these laws could result in substantial fines and imprisonment. Certain
EU memberstates, or industry codes of conduct, require that payments made to physicians be publicly disclosed.
Moreover, agreements with physicians mustoften be the subject of priornotification and approval by the physician’s
employer, his/her competent professional organization, and/or the competent authorities of the individual EU member
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states. Failure tocomply with theserequirements could result in reputational risk, public reprimands, administrative
penalties, fines or imprisonment.

Privacy and Data Protection laws

There are numerous state, federal and foreign laws governing the collection, processing, dissemination, use,
access to, confidentiality and security of personal information, including health-related information. In the U.S.,
numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including data breach notification laws, health information privacy and
security laws that governthe collection, use, disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal information
could apply to ouroperations orthe operations of our partners. Further, certain foreign laws govern the privacy and
security of personaldata, including health-related data. Failure to comply with these laws, where applicable, canresult in
the imposition of significantciviland/or criminal penalties and private litigation. These laws are constantly evolvingand
often require extensive resources to maintain and manage.

Legal Proceedings and Related Matters

From time to time, we may be partyto litigation that arises in the ordinary course of our business. We do not
have any pending litigation that, separately or in the aggregate, would, in the opinionof management, have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Employees and Human Capital Management

As of December 31,2023, we had 449 employees. Of these employees, 348 were in researchand development
(including in manufacturingand operations, and quality controland quality assurance) and 101 were in management and
administrative functions (including business development, finance, intellectual property, information technology and
generaladministration). We have never had a work stoppage and none of our employees are covered by collective
bargaining agreements or require representation by a labor union.

We value ouremployeesandasacompany work hard to employ those individuals that will work with us to
achievethe objectives of the Company and share our values. We engage with ouremployees in multiple ways including
through companywide business meetings, social events and smaller team events. We employindividuals based on their
experienceandability to perform the applicable job and encourage diversity in our workforce whenever possible. We
have an equal opportunities policy which promotes the right of every employee to be treated with dignity and respectand
not to be harassedor bullied on any grounds. We employ individuals from approximately 26 different nationalities
within our U.K. and U.S. offices and are working to encourage diversity within our workforce. We have a Diversity and
Inclusion Council with membership comprising diverse employees fromall levels in the Company and a Diversity and
Inclusion Plan has been created and championedacross the business by theexecutiveteam and presented to the Board.
D&I progress updates are reviewed regularly by the Board Remuneration Committee.

We have a performance-based reward scheme, bonus scheme and share option plan which all employees are
entitled to participate in. These schemes and other employee incentive programs are designed to retain employees. For

2023, the total global attrition rate was approximately 20%.

Other Information

The Company’s primary websiteis www.adaptimmune.com. Information in the investor section and on our
website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any of our other securities filings unless specifically
incorporated herein ortherein by reference. The Company makes available, free of charge, at its corporate website, its
Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, currentreportson Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”),assoonas reasonably practicable a fter they are electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). The SEC maintains an internetsite that contains reports, proxy and information statements and
other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business has significantrisks. You should carefully consider thefollowing riskfactors as well as all other

information contained inthis Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes,
before makingan investmentdecisionregardingour securities. The risksanduncertainties described below are those
material risk factors currently known and specific to us that we believe are relevant to our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we now deem
immaterial may also impair our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risk Factors Summary

The following is a summary of the principal risks that could adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have incurred netlosses every year since inceptionand expectto continueto incur net losses in the future.
If we are unable to obtain additional financing or fundingwe may beunable to complete the development and

commercialization of our cell therapies.

We may never generate revenue from sales of our celltherapies and become profitable and our generation of
revenue depends on our ability to timely progress our cell therapies through development and successful
commercialization.

Risks Related to the Commercialization and Marketing of Our Cell Therapies

We are dependenton successful commercialization of afami-celand lete-cel, which requires FDA approval of
the BLAs and sufficient market acceptance and uptake.

We have never commercializeda product asa companyand our ability to commercialize is dependent on our
ability to increase manufacturing capacity, set up processes and recruit employees required for such
commercialization.

We may not be able to obtain marketing approvals of our cell therapies as broadly as planned or on the
timescales we plan.

We may notbe able to adequately price our celltherapies due to regulatory changes affecting pricing, coverage,
and reimbursements orto otherimpacts suchas inflation, increasing underlying raw material costs, availability
of materials, or increasing third party supply chain costs.

We may notbe able to prepare and develop a network of clinical sites for administration of our cell therapy
product as planned.

We will have a narrow network of sites which may not be assessable to all patients.

Our addressable patient population will be dependent onthe final FDA approved labelwhich may be narrower
than our current assumptions.

We may not be able to realize the projected market demand for our cell therapy products.

We may notbe able to set up and maintain a distributionand logistics network capable of supply and storage of
our cell therapy products to enable timely delivery to clinical sites and patients.
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Sales of ourcelltherapies are dependenton the availability and extent of coverage and reimbursement from
third-party payors, including private payors and government programs such as Medicare and Medicaid.

Product reimbursementand coverage policiesand practices could change due to various factors such as drug
price control measures thathave been or may be enacted or introduced in the U.S. by various federal and state
authorities.

The commercial success of our celltherapies is subject to significant competition from productcandidates that
may be superior to, or more established, or cost effective than, our cell therapies.

If the testingor use of our celltherapies harms people, oris perceivedto harm them even when such harm is
unrelated to our products, we could be subject to costly and damaging product liability claims.

Risks Related to the Development of Our Cell Therapies

Our ability to fund our business and continue to develop our cell therapies is dependent on the data obtained
from our ongoing clinical trials (including the IGNYTE-ESO and SURPASS trials).

Our clinicaltrialsand clinical data for ADP-A2M4CD8 (SURPASS trials) are atanearly stage and future data
may not support continued development of our cell therapies.

Clinical trials are time consuming and expensive, and we may not be able to recruit patients as planned.
External factors such as a resurgence of the COVID-19 or other pandemic or geopolitical instability, for
example the Russian/Ukrainian conflict or Israel/Hamas conflict may also impact ability to perform clinical

trials as planned.

Our cell therapies are novel, and there is an increased risk that we may see unacceptable toxicities.

Risks Related to the Manufacture and Supply of Our Cell Therapies

Manufacture of celltherapies is complex, and we may encounter difficulties manufacturing and supplying our
cell therapies to patients, whether for clinical trials or for commercial purposes.

We have our own manufacturing facility which is the sole source of supply for ourafami-celand ADP-A4CD8
cell therapies.Our ability to manufacture cell therapies is dependent on our ability to operate the facility in
compliance with Good Manufacturing Pra ctice (“GMP”), maintain regulatory approvals for the facility, recruit
and train employees required for manufacture, manufacture celltherapies reliably and reproducibly, and ensure
manufacturing and supply capacity to meet the required demand.

We opened a new manufacturing facility for allogeneic cell therapies during 2022, and our ability to
manufacture allogeneic cell therapies on current timelines is dependent on our ability to obtain regulatory
approval for the facility and develop and scale-up suitable manufacturing processes.

We are reliant on third parties for the manufacture of the vector for afami-cel and lete-cel and for the
manufacture of our lete-cel cell therapy.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

We are subjectto significantregulatory, complianceand legal requirements and will continue to be subject to
these requirements.
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We are subjectto review of our BLAby the FDA, and the outcome of that review may impact the steps we
need to take ahead of obtaining approval for marketingafami-cel and after receiving approval as well as the

costs and resources that may be needed to commercialize afami-cel.

Any commercialization of our cell therapies will also require approval for companion diagnostics, which may
result in additional regulatory, commercialization and other risks. We are reliant on a third party for
development of any companion diagnostic.

We may have post-marketing obligations imposed by the FDA in the context of the review of our BLA and the
commercialization of afami-cel. Any such obligations may increase the costs and resources associated with
launch of afami-cel and the costs of commercializing afami-cel.

Risks Related to Our Reliance Upon Third Parties

We are reliant on third parties for provision of services including manufacturing services and clinical research
services, for the provision of components and materials required for manufacturing, researchand development
and for the performance of our collaborations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We may be forced to litigate to defend our intellectual property rights and we may be subject to patent
infringement proceedings brought against us by third parties.

Our ability to be competitive depends, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary technology including
through patents and through maintaining confidentiality in our trade secrets.

General Business Risks

Our inability to continue to attract and retain qualified personnel may hinder our business.

We expect to face intense competition from third parties and this competition may come from companies with
significantly greater resources and experience than we have.

Information technology systems may fail or suffer cybersecurity incidents includingrelated to data protection
and privacy laws and adversely affect our business and operations.

The market price of our ADSs is subject to volatility.

We are heavily reliant onthird parties for the operation of our business including the manufacture of our cell
therapies and our future supply and commercialization of afami-cel

We have a sole source of supply formany of our celltherapy products and for some of the critical materials
needed to manufacture those products.

Fora more complete discussion of the risks we face as a business, please see the discussion below.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have incurred net losses every year since our inception and expect to continue to incur net losses in the future.

We have generated losses since our inceptionin 2008, during which time we havedevoted substantially all of

our resources to research and development efforts relating to our cell therapies, including engaging in activities to
manufacture and supply our cell therapies for clinical trials, conducting clinical trials of our cell therapies, providing
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generalandadministrative supportforthese operations, enhancing capabilities to support commercialization for ADP -
A2M4 and protecting our intellectual property. For the years ended December 31,2023,2022 and 2021, we incurred net
losses of $113.9million, $165.5 million and $158.1 million respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we had accumulated
losses of $1,023.1 million. We do not have any products approved for sale and have not generated any revenue from
productsupplies or royalties. Based on our current plans, we do not expect to generate product or royalty revenues
unlessand until we obtain marketingapproval for,and commercialize, any of our T-cells or other cell therapies. Even
once we have obtained marketingapproval for our cell therapies, forexample if afami-cel approval is obtained, it will
take a period oftime before any significant revenueis realized and the amount of revenue is heavily dependent on the
success of our commercializationandthe costs of supplies including any post-marketing requirements we are subject to.

We are currently operating in a period of heightened economic, energy supply and material supply
uncertainty as a result of the Russian/Ukrainian conflict and the Israel-Hamas conflict.

The shortand long-term implications of the conflict in Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas conflict are difficult to
predict at this time. We continueto monitor any adverseimpacts on theglobaleconomy, on our business and operations
and on the businesses and operations of our suppliers and other third parties with which we conduct business. For
example, the conflict in Ukraine and Israel has resultedin increased inflation, escalating energy prices and constrained
availability, and thus increasing costs of the raw materials we require in our business. In theevent of prolonged conflict
otherrisksto the business may also increaseincluding adverse effects on macroeconomic conditions, includinginflation;
disruptionsto our globaltechnology infrastructure, including through cyberattack, ransom attack, or cyber-intrusion;
adverse changes in international trade policies and relations; disruptions in global supply chains; and constraints,
volatility, ordisruption in the capital markets, any of which could negatively affectourbusiness and financial condition.

Unstable marketand economicconditions may have a serious adverseimpact on our business and financial
condition

Economic uncertainty in various global markets or the global economy may adversely affectour business. Any
severe or prolonged economic downturn could result in a variety of risks to our business including the inability to raise
additional capital when needed or on acceptable terms. Uncertainty or a prolonged downturn may impact third party
suppliers and service providers resulting in their inability to meet their commitments to us. The global credit and
financial markets have experienced significant volatility and disruptions in the pastyears, especially between 2020 and
2023 due to for example the COVID-19 pandemic and more recently the Ukrainian/Russian conflict (including
restrictions imposed on Russia) and the Israel-Hamas conflict. Going forward there may be significant volatility as a
result of upcoming U.S. presidential elections. This volatility has resulted in increasing political instability, periods of
higher inflation, diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, reduction in economic
growth and increases in unemployment. The full impact of the Ukrainian/Russian conflict and Israel-Hasmas conflict are
unknown and are difficult to predict. There canbe no assurances that further deterioration in credit and financial markets
and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. Forexample, U.S. debt ceilingand budget deficit concerns have
increasedthe possibility of additional credit-rating downgrades and economic slowdowns, or a recession in the United
States. Although U.S. lawmakers passed legislation to raise the federal debt ceiling on multiple occasions, including a
suspension of the federal debtceilingin June 2023, ratings agencies have lowered or threatened to lower the long-term
sovereign credit rating on the United States. The impact of this or any further downgrades to the U.S. government’s
sovereign credit ratingor its perceived creditworthiness could adversely affect the U.S. and global financial markets and
economic conditions. Absent further quantitative easing by the Federal Reserve, these developments could causeinterest
rates and borrowing costs to rise, which may negatively impact our results of operations or financial condition.
Moreover, disagreementover the federal budget may cause the U.S. federal government to shut down for periods of
time.

If we fail to obtain additional financing, we may be unable to complete the development and
commercialization of our cell therapies.

We expect to continue incurring significant losses as we continue with our researchand developmentprograms
and to incur generaland administrative costs associated with our operations. The extent of funding required to develop
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our cell therapiesis difficult to estimate given the novel nature of our celltherapies andtheir un -proven route to market
and we may not haveanticipatedallthe costs requiredto meet our planned objectives. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company had cashand cash equivalents of $144.0 million, marketable securities of $2.9 million, and stockholders’
equity of $39.5million. We expect to usethesefundsto advance and accelerate the clinical development of our cell
therapies, to further develop and enhance our manufacturing capabilities and secure a commercially viable

manufacturing platform forall of our cell therapies, to support commercialization for afami-cel, to support development
of lete-celand tofund working capital, including for other general corporate purposes. We believe thato ur cashand cash
equivalentsand marketable securities will be sufficient to fund our operations, based upon our currently anticipated
research anddevelopment activities and planned capital spending, into early 2026. This belief is based on estimates that
are subject to risks and uncertainties and may change if actual results differ from management’s estimates.

Our expenses may increase significantly in the event of any of the following:

any additional requirement to outsource manufacture of our cell therapies to third parties, oracquire
additional raw materials to supportmanufacture in the eventof any inability to manufactureatour own
facilities;

any requirement to conductadditional or further clinical trials or to treat additional patients to satisfy
the regulatory authorities that a celltherapy is safe or that it is efficacious and can be approved for
marketing or to proceed to the next stage of development;

any post-marketing requirement or additional regulatory requirement imposed in relation to the
commercialization or approval of afami-cel;

any requirement to vary, change or amend our current manufacturing processes;
any requirement to materially vary any ongoing clinical trial protocol;
third party litigation, including patent litigation, being brought against the company;

a requirementto payanythird party upfront, milestone, royalty or other payments in order to continue
to develop or commercialize any of our cell therapies, including our allogeneic cell therapies;

a requirementto create additional infrastructure to support our ongoing operations, including future
commercialization efforts;

any inability to recruit patientstoour clinical trials on a timely basis necessitating the need to open
additional clinical sites or otherwise enable increased recruitment or to extend the duration of such
trials;

fasterthan expected recruitment of patients in our clinical trials necessitating recruitment of additional
resources to ensure cell therapies can be manufactured and provided to patients;

higher initial commercial demand for afami-cel necessitatingan increase in manufacturing capacity
and resources earlier than planned;

any unplanned capital expenditure includingany requirement to increase or enhance manufacturing
capability or invest in additional manufacturing facilities;

changesin the timing on whenwe receive payments from our third party collaborators, in particular
Genentech;
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e business activities and negotiations including agreements with third parties for collaborations,
combinations, mergers oracquisitions which do not execute or finalize on suitable terms or do not

complete as expected; or

e inability of third parties to provide critical supplies on a timely basis necessitating alternative or
additional third party supplies to be put in place.

We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. We have no
committed source of additional capitaland if we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficientamounts or on terms
acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the developmentor commercialization of
our cell therapies or other research and development initiatives. Our license and supply agreements may also be
terminated if we are unable to meet the payment obligations under these agreements. We could be required to seek
collaborators for our cell therapies at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that are less
favorable to usthanmightotherwise be available or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to our cell
therapies in markets where we otherwise would seek to pursue development or commercialization ourselves.

Our current cash projections include relianceonthe ability to obtain certain tax credits and the operation of certain
tax regimes within the U.K. Should these cease to be available or be reduced, this could impact our ongoing

requirement for investment and the timeframes within which additional investment is required.

As a company that carries out extensive researchand development activities, we benefit from the U.K. research
and development tax credit regime for smalland medium sized companies, whereby our principal research subsidiary
company, Adaptimmune Limited, isable to surrender the trading losses that arise from its research and development
activitiesfora payable tax credit of up to approximately 33.4% of eligible research and development expenditures,
decreasingto 18.6% after April 1, 2023. Qualifying expenditures largely comprise employment costs for research staff,
consumables and certain internal overhead costs incurred as part of research projects. Subcontracted research
expenditures areeligible fora cash rebate of up to approximately 21.7%, decreasing to 12.1% after April 1,2023. The
majority of our pipeline research, clinical trials management and manufacturing development activities, all of which are
being carried out by Adaptimmune Limited, are eligible for inclusion within these tax credit cash rebate claims.

We may notbe able to continue to claim research and developmenttax credits (R&D taxcredits) or the amount
we can claim may reduce in the futureaswe expand our business because we may no longer qualifyasan SME (small or
medium-sized enterprise) orasa result of announced changes to the U.K. R&D tax credit regime lowering the amount of
tax credits SMEs canclaim. In orderto qualifyasan SME for R&D tax credits, we must continue to be acompany with
fewerthan500employees and also have eitheranannual turnover not exceeding €100 million or a balance sheet not
exceeding €86 million. Once we no longer qualify for SME R&D tax credits, it is likely we would qualify for the U.K.
research and development expenditure credit scheme (the “RDEC Scheme”) which is claimable by large companies. The
cash credit rate forthe RDEC Scheme priorto April 1, 2023 was approximately 15% of qualifying expenditure. The
types of qualifyingexpenditure are restricted under the RDEC Scheme. The U.K. government has introduced some
changesto the U.K. research and development credit rules. These changes may give rise to a reduction in our U.K.
research and development credit claims in the future.

OnJuly 18,2023, the U.K. Government released draft legislation onproposed changes to the U.K. researchand
development regimes which was subsequently enacted on February 22, 2024. These changes include combining the
current SME R&D Tax Credit Schemeand RDEC Schemes with a single 20% gross rate applying to all claims with an
exception for R&D Intensive SMEs. For entities which qualify as R&D Intensive SMEs, a higher effective cash tax
benefit of 27%will be available. The legislationalsoincludes changesto other rules and types of qualifying expenditure,
such asthe treatment of subcontracted and overseas costs. These changes may give rise to an increase in our U.K.
research and development credit claims in the future if the Company qualifies as an R&D Intensive SME.
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Wemay also benefit in the future from the U.K.’s “patent box” regime, which would allow certain profits
attributable to revenues from patented products tobe taxed at a rate of 10%. As we havemany different patents covering
our products, future upfront fees, milestone fees, product revenues, and royalties could be taxed at this favorably lowtax
rate. When taken in combination with theenhanced relief available on ourresearch and development expenditures, we
expect a long-term lower rate of corporation taxto apply to us. If, however, there are unexpected adverse changes to the
U.K. research and development tax credit regime or the “patent box” regime, or we are unable to qualify for such
advantageoustax legislation, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Our ability to generate revenue from sales of our cell therapies and become profitable depends on our ability to
progress our cell therapies through development.

We have no celltherapies approved for commercial sale, have notgenerated any revenue from sales of our cell
therapies, and donotanticipate generatingany revenue from sales of our cell therapies until sometime after we receive
regulatory approval, if at all, for the commercial sale of a cell therapy. We may never become profitable.

Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends on many factors, including:

e progressing our cell therapies through preclinical development and clinical development without
substantial delays;

o demonstrating a favorable benefit (efficacy parameters): risk (safety) profile for our cell therapies;
e obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing authorizations for our cell therapies;

o developingsustainable and scalable manufacturingandsupply processes for our cell therapies to support
commercial supply;

e obtaining marketacceptance, pricingand reimbursement of our cell therapies as viable treatment options;
e the costs of commercializing any cell therapy including any post-marketing approval obligations;

e theindicationsany celltherapyisapprovedin, the patient population treatable with any cell therapy and
the speed with which we are able to launch a cell therapy and commercialize that cell therapy with
treatment centers; and

Risks Related to the Commercialization and Marketing of Our Cell Therapies

We are dependenton successful commercialization of afami-celand lete-cel, and there is no guarantee that we will
achieve approval or be able to generate sufficient revenue from commercialization

We are aimingto launchafami-cel in the third quarter of 2024, subject to FDA review and approval of our
BLA. We are currently planning for the BLA filing of lete-cel. There is no guarantee that we will be able to obtain
marketingauthorization foreither celltherapy orthatapprovals will be obtained in accordance with current timelines.

We have received approval fromthe FDA to file a BLAforafami-cel. The BLAfilingis being reviewed by the
FDA. The FDA could refuse tograntmarketingapproval for afami-cel. In addition, should that review identify any
additional requirementsforinformationor further work, the date on which we receive marketing approval, could be
significantly delayed pending provision of that information, conduct ofany further work and further review by the FDA
of the additional informationand data from work. There is no guarantee that we will obtain marketingauthorization for
afami-celwithin the currently anticipated timelines of the third quarter of 2024, or thatthe marketing authorization will
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not imposefurther oradditional requirementsassociated with the commercialization of afami-cel. Forexample, the FDA
may require a REMS or may require additional assays or tests to be conducted.

We may not be able to obtain marketing approvals of our cell therapies as broadly as planned or on the timescales we
plan.

The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the U.S. and in countries outside of the U.S., is
expensive, may take many years and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type,
complexity and novelty of the cell therapies involved. For example, clinical trials may be required in pediatric
populations before any marketing approval can be obtained, which can be time consuming and costly. Changes in
marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or
regulations, or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or
rejection ofanapplication. The FDA andforeign regulatory authorities also have substantial discretion in the drug and
biologicsapproval process. The numberand types of preclinical programs and clinical trials that will be required for
regulatoryapproval varies depending on the celltherapy, the disease or condition that the cell therapy is designed to
address,andtheregulations applicable to any particular cell therapy. Approval policies, regulations or the type and
amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change duringthe course of a celltherapy’s clinical development
and may vary among jurisdictions, and there may be varying interpretations of data obtained from preclinical programs
or clinical trials, either of which may cause delays or limitations in the approval or the decision not to approve an

application.

In addition, approval of our cell therapies could be delayed or refused for many reasons, including the
following:

e the FDA orcomparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of
our or our collaborators’ clinical trials;

e we orourcollaborators may be unable to demonstrateto the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities that our T-cells have a beneficial benefit/risk profile for any of their proposed
indications;

o the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities for approval;

e the FDA orcomparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from
preclinical programs or clinical trials;

o thedatacollected fromclinical trials of our celltherapies may not be sufficient to the satisfaction of the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to support the submissionofa BLA or other comparable
submission in foreign jurisdictions or to obtain regulatory approval in the U.S. or elsewhere;

e ourmanufacturing processes or facilities or those of the third-party manufacturers we use may not be
adequate to support approval of our cell therapies;

e the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may
significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval

e requirement for additional clinical trials ahead of the grant of any regulatory approval;
o requirement for further development or characterization of processes. Forexample, the potency of our cell
therapies will need to be assessed by a potency assay and although we believe that our assay will be

satisfactory to assess potency, theregulatory a uthorities may disagree which will necessitate development
of a further assay or process;

36



o third parties we rely on being unable to meet regulatory requirements or provide information or
documentationto support regulatory applications or questions from regulatory authorities. For example, we
rely on a third party vector manufacturer who will be required to provide certain information to enable us
to file the BLA;

e accessto anapproved companiondiagnostic to support thelaunchofany celltherapy. Commercialization
of ourcelltherapies will require approval forand access to a companion diagnostic. We are reliant on a
third party for development of our companion diagnostic assay and there is no certainty that development
will be possible in the timelines we require or thatend regulatory approval will be available in the timelines
we require; and

e datafromclinicaltrials sponsored by third party competitors for similar cell therapy products which might
impacta regulators view of thesafety or efficacy profile or our cell therapies or the grant of marketing
approvals to competitors ahead of any applicationwe makeformarketing approval which may preclude
ourability to obtain marketingapproval in the same indication unless we can show increased efficacy.

Our estimates of the patientpopulation that may be treated by our cell therapies includingafami-celisbased on
estimates informed by published information. This information may notbe accurate in relationto our cell therapies and
ourestimates of potential patient populations could therefore be much higher or lower than those that are actually
available or possible for commercialization. Inaddition, these estimates are based on assumptions about the number of
eligible patients which have the peptide and HLA type targeted by the applicable cell therapy. Different patient
populations will present different peptides according to their specific HLA type. HLA types vary across the patient
population and, due to this variability, any therapy will initially only be suitable for treatment of patients expressing the
particular HLA type presenting the relevant peptide.

We have submitteda BLA for afami-cel, but the review and approval of this BLA may not occur on the anticipated
timelines, and we cannot be certain that the FDA will grant final marketing approval.

We have submitted a BLA forafami-celwhich isbeing reviewed by the FDA. The FDA could refuse to grant
marketing approval forafami-cel. In addition, should that review identify any additional requirements forinformation or
furtherwork, the date on which we receive marketing approval, could be significantly delayed pending provision of that
information, conduct of any further work and further review by the FDA of the additional information and data from
work. There is no guarantee that we will obtain marketing authorization for afami-cel within the currently anticipated
timelines of August 2024, or that the marketing authorization will not impose further or additional requirements
associated with the commercialization of afamicel.

Approval of this BLA can be delayed or denied by the FDA for several reasons, including but not limited to
those outlined above. In particular, the FDA may conclude that the data submitted in support ofthe BLA are insufficient
to demonstrate a favorable benefit/risk profile in the proposed patient population without the submission of additional
informationor data, which could require theconduct of additional clinical studies and the resubmission of the BLA.

Inaddition the BLA approval may provide a product label with reduced scope to the label currently anticipated.
This will impact the number of patients that we can treat with afami-cel.

Development of a commercially available cell therapy process is difficult, and we may be unable to develop the
process on currently anticipated timescales or at all.

Developinga commercially viable processisa difficult and uncertain task, and there are risks associated with
scalingto the level required foradvanced clinical trials or commercialization, including, among others, requirements to
characterize the manufacturing process, increased costs, potential problems with process scale-out, process
reproducibility, stability issues, lot consistency, loss of product, and timely availability of reagents or raw materials or
contractmanufacturing services or facilities. Afailure to develop sucha commercially viable process within anticipated
timescales may prevent or delay progression of our T-cell therapies into pivotal clinical trials and ultimately
commercialization. This failure to developa timely process may result from, for example, inability to scale-up within
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required timelines, inability to put in place the required processes and control measures fora commercial process,
inability to timely develop systems forautomation of the process or failure of third parties (including vector suppliers) to
put in place adequate facilities or processes to enable commercial manufacture. In addition, we may ultimately be unable
to reduce the expenses associated with our cell therapies to levels that will allow us to achieve a profitable return on
investment. Reduction of the costs associated with manufacture requires significantfinancial investmentwhich may not
be available to us.

Following grant of marketing authorization we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations, which may result in
significant additional expenseas wellas significant penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or
experience unanticipated problems with our cell therapies.

If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority approves our cell therapies, the manufacturing
processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverseevent reporting, storage, advertising, promaotion, import, export and
recordkeeping for our cell therapies will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These
requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registrationand listing, as
well as continued compliancewith cGMPs and cGCPs forany clinicaltrials thatwe conduct post-approval. In addition
regulatory authorities may imposeadditional restrictions or require amendments to our product label after marketing
approvalin the eventof additional adverse events with our celltherapy or of other adverse events seen with similar cell
therapy products.

We and our contract manufacturers will be subjectto periodic unannounced inspections by the FDAto monitor
and ensure compliance with cGMPs. We must also comply with requirements concerning advertisingand promotion for
any celltherapies for which we obtain marketing approval. Promotional communications with respect to prescription
drugs, includingbiologics, are subjectto a variety of legaland regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the
informationin the product’s approved labeling. Thus, we will not be able to promote any cell therapies we develop for
indications or uses for which they are not approved.

We may not be able to develop or obtain approval for the analytical assays and companion diagnostics required for
commercialization of our cell therapies including afami-cel.

Administration of our celltherapies requires the use of an immuno-chemistry or other screeningassay in which
patients are screened for the presence of the cancer peptide targeted by our cell therapies. For example, in our
SPEARHEAD trial patientsarescreened for the presenceof MAGE-A4. This assay requires the identification of suitable
antibodies which can be used to identify the presence of the relevant target cancer peptide. Our patients are also screened
for their HLA-type as only patients with certain HLA-types can receive afami-cel.

If safe and effective use of a biologic productdepends on an in vitrodiagnostic, suchasa test to detect patients
with a particular cancer peptide, thenthe FDA generally requires approval or clearance of the diagnostic, known as a
companion diagnostic, concurrently with approval of the therapeutic product. To date, the FDA has generally required in
vitro companion diagnostics that are intended for use in selection of patients who will respond to cancer treatment to
obtaina pre-market approval, or PMA, which can take up toseveral years, forthatdiagnostic approval or clearance to
occur simultaneously with approval of the biologic product.

We expect that, forall our cell therapies, the FDA and similar regulatory authorities outside of the U.S. will
require the development and regulatory approval of a companiondiagnostic assay as a condition to approval. We also
expect that the FDA may require PMA supplemental approvals for use of that same companion diagnostic as a condition
of approval of additional celltherapies. We do not have experience or capabilities in developing or commercializing
these companion diagnostics and plan to rely in large part on third parties to perform these functions.

Ifwe or our collaborators, orany third parties that we engage to assist us, are unable to successfully develop
companion diagnostic assays for use with any celltherapy, or are unable to obtain regulatory approval or experience
delaysin eitherdevelopmentorobtaining regulatory approval, we may be unable to identify patients with the specific
profile targeted by the relevantcelltherapy forenrollment in our clinicaltrials. In addition, delay in development and
approval of any companiondiagnostic may also impact our ability to obtain a marketing approval for the therapeutic
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product and to commercialize the therapeutic product. For example, delays in the development of a companion
diagnostic for detection of the MAGE-A4 antigen in synovial sarcomaand MRCLS indications may result in delays to
any marketing approval for afami-cel and lete-cel in those indications. Accordingly, further investmentmay be required
to further develop or obtain the required regulatory approval for the relevant companion diagnostic assay, which would
delay orsubstantially impactour ability or our collaborators’ ability to conduct further clinicaltrials or obtain regulatory
approval.

Afami-celrequiresa companion diagnostic assay to be approved for both the MAGE-A4 antigenand the HLA-
type required by patients. Although regulatory filings are in progress for both assays, the FDA maynot approve the use
of these diagnostic assays which could delay the launch of afami-cel.

Obtainingand maintaining regulatory approval of our cell therapies in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be
successful in obtaining regulatory approval of our cell therapies in other jurisdictions.

We or our collaborators may submit marketing authorization applications in multiple countries. Regulatory
authorities in different countries have different requirements for approval of cell therapies with which we must comply
priorto marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory
requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs forusand could delay or prevent the introduction of
our cell therapies in certain countries. For example, in certain jurisdictions additional clinical trials in different patient
populations may be required. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or
receive applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market
potential of our cell therapies will be harmed.

The market opportunities for cell therapies may be limited to those patients who have failed prior treatments.

Initial approval of new cancer therapies may be limited to what is referred to as third -line use. Third-line
treatmentis the third type of treatmentfollowing initial, or first-line, treatment and second-line treatment, which is given
when first-line treatment does not work or ceases working. However, cancer therapies may be used from the point at
which cancerisdetected in its early stages (first-line) onward. Whenever the first-line therapy fails or the process is
unsuccessful, second-line therapy may be administered, such as additional rounds of chemotherapy, radiation and
antibody drugs or a combination of these treatments. If second-line therapies fail, patients are generally given the
opportunity to receive third-line therapies, which tend to be more novel therapies. Our current clinical trials generally
require that patients have received chemotherapy prior to enroliment and are primarily directed to third -line use.
Dependingupon the outcome of current trials, we or our collaborators may conduct future clinical trials using cell
therapies for first-line therapy, but clinical trials might not be approved or if approved such trials might not lead to
regulatoryapproval. If our cell therapies only receive third-line or second-line approval, the patient population into
which we or our collaborators can supply our cell therapies will be significantly reduced, which may limit commercial
opportunities.

Inaddition, our patient populationmay be derived from thosewho have previously failed checkpoint therapy,
which mayresult in tumor resistance mechanisms which also impart resistance to our cell therapies and hence may
reduce the effectiveness of our cell therapies.

We currently have a limited marketing and sales organization and as an organization have no experience in
marketing products.

As an organization, we have never marketed or supplied commercial pharmaceutical or biologic products or
therapies. We will need to transition froma company with a research and development focus to a company capable of
supporting commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition.

We are recruitinga salesand field force and will need to hire and develop the sales function and associated
support network if we are to supply cell therapies, including afami-cel on a commercial basis. As our cell therapies
proceed through clinical programs, we intendto develop an in-house marketing organizationand sales force, which will
require significant capital expenditures, management resources, and time. We will have to compete with other
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pharmaceutical and biotechnology companiesto recruit, hire, train, and retain suitably skilled and experienced marketing
and sales personnel. This process may result in additional delays in bringing our cell therapies to market or in certain
cases require us to enterinto alliances with third parties in order to do so. However, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to establish or maintain such collaborative arrangements, or even if we are able to do so, thatthey will result
in effective sales forces. Any revenuewe receive will depend upontheefforts of such third parties, which may not be
successful. We may havelittle orno control over the marketingand sales efforts of such third parties, and our revenue
from cell therapy sales may be lower than if we had commercialized our cell therapies ourselves.

For afami-cel we are using certainthird partiestosupplement the internal commercial facing teams. We are
also usinga third party distributor to supply afami-celand third parties to provide some of the systems required to supply
a cell therapy. We are relianton those third parties to provide the services we require in accordance with our planned
timelines. If any critical third party supplier fails to provide the services as required that may result in a delay to the
commercialization of afami-cel. Any inability on our part to develop in-house sales and commercial distribution

capabilities or to establish and maintain relationships with third -party collaborators that cansuccessfully commercialize
any celltherapyin the U.S. orelsewhere will havea materially adverseeffect onourbusiness andresults of operations.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againstus, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit
commercialization of our cell therapies.

We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical testing of our cell therapies and our
ongoing manufacture of cell therapies and will face an even greater risk upon any commercialization, including
commercialization of afami-cel. For example, we may besued if any of our celltherapies causes or is perceived to cause
injury oris foundto be otherwise unsuitable during clinical testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product
liability claims mayinclude allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers
inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability ora breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state
consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur
substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our cell therapies. Even a successful defense would
require significantfinancialand management resources and, regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability
claims may result in:

o decreased demand for our cell therapies;

e injury to our reputation;

o withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

e initiation of investigations by regulators;

e costs to defend the related litigation;

e a diversion of management’s time and our resources;

e substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

e product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

e loss of revenue;

e exhaustion of any available insurance and our capital resources;

¢ the inability to commercialize our cell therapies; and

e adecline in our share price.

40



Our inability to obtain sufficient productliability insuranceatanacceptable price to protect against potential
productliability claims could also prevent or inhibit the commercialization of our cell therapies. We currently hold
£15.0 million in clinical trialinsurance coverage in the aggregate per year, with a per trial limit of £5.0 million. We also
hold products and services liability insurance capped at £5.0 million in the aggregate and public liability insurance
capped at £5.0 million per occurrence. These levels may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We
will need to increase our insurance coverage as we expand the scope of our clinical trials and ahead of
commercialization of afami-cel. We may notbe able to maintain insurance coverage ata reasonable cost orin an amount

adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.

Evenifwe or our collaborators obtain regulatoryapproval of our cell therapies, they may not gain marketacceptance
among physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and others in the medical community.

The use of engineered T-cells and cell therapies more generally as a potential cancer treatment is a recent
development and may not become broadly accepted by physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and

others in the medical community. Additional factors will influence whether our cell therapies are accepted in the market,
including:

e theclinical indications for which our cell therapies are approved;

e physicians, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and patients considering the cell therapies as a safe and
effective treatment;

e the potential and perceived advantages of our cell therapies over alternative treatments;

e the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

e product labeling or prescribing information requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities;
¢ limitations or warnings contained in the labeling approved by the FDA,;

e the timing of market introduction of our cell therapies as well as competitive products;

e the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments;

o theavailability of coverage, adequate reimbursementand pricing by third-party payors and government
authorities;

o thewillingness of patientsto pay for cell therapies on an out-of-pocket basis in the absence of coverage by
third-party payors and government authorities;

¢ relative convenienceand ease of administration as compared to alternative treatments and competitive
therapies; and

o the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts.

In addition, although we are not utilizing embryonic stem cells or replication competent vectors in our
manufacturing process, adverse publicity due to the ethicaland social controversies surrounding the therapeutic use of
such technologies, and reported side effects from any clinical trials using these technologies or the failure of such trials
to demonstrate that these therapies are safe and effective may limit market acceptance of cell therapies. If our cell
therapies are approved but fail to achieve marketacceptance among physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment
centers or others in the medical community, we will not be able to generate significant revenue.
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Even if our cell therapies achieve market acceptance, we may notbe able to maintain that market acceptance
overtime if newproducts ortechnologies are introduced thatare more favorably received than our cell therapies, are
more cost effective or render our cell therapies obsolete.

Coverage, price flexibility,and reimbursement may be limited or unavailable in certain market segments for cell
therapies.

Successful sales of cell therapies, if approved, depend on the availability of coverage and adequate
reimbursementfrom third-party payors. In addition, because cell therapies representnew approaches to the treatment of
cancer, we cannot accurately estimate the potential revenue from cell therapies. Patients who are provided medical
treatmentfortheir conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with
theirtreatment. Obtaining coverage andadequate reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors is critical to new product acceptance.

Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance
organizations, decidewhich drugs and treatments they will cover and the amount of reimbursement. Reimbursement by
a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the third-party payor’s
determination that use of a product is:

e a covered benefit under its health plan;
o safe, effective and medically necessary;
e appropriate for the specific patient;

e cost-effective; and

e neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval of a celltherapy from a governmentor other third -party payor
is a time-consumingand costly process which could require us to provide to the payor supporting scientific, clinical and
cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products. Even if we obtain coverage for a given cell therapy, the resulting
reimbursementpaymentrates mightnotbe adequate for usto achieve or sustain profitability or may require co payments
that patients find unacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to use cell therapies unless coverage is provided and
reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of the cell therapy.

Inthe U.S., no uniformpolicy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors.
Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the
coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific
and clinical support forthe use of our cell therapies to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and
adequate reimbursement will be obtained.

In some foreign countries, particularly those in the EU, the pricing of biologics is subject to governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities cantake considerable time after obtaining
marketing approval of a cell therapy. In addition, market acceptance and sales of our cell therapies will depend
significantly onthe availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third -party payors for the cell therapies
and may be affected by existing and future health care reform measures.

There have been, and likely will continueto be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, national and
state levelsdirected at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare,
includingthe Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) or provisions of the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”). Such regulatory
changes may bring prescriptiondrug pricing reform or healthcare affordability programs that, for example, seek to lower
prescription drug costs by allowing governmental healthcare programs to negotiate prices with drug companies, put an
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inflationcap on drug prices, and lower out-of-pocket expenses for recipients of governmental healthcare programs. We
cannotpredictthe initiatives that may be adopted in the future. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance
companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare
and/or impose price controls may adversely affect:

e the demand for cell therapies, if we or our collaborators obtain regulatory approval;

e ourorourcollaborators’ ability to set a price that is fair for our cell therapies;

e ourorourcollaborators’ ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;
e the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and

e the availability of capital.

Any reductionin reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction
in payments from payors, which may adversely affect our future profitability.

Our cell therapies for which we intend to seek approval as biologic products may face competition sooner than
anticipated.

The enactment of the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, created an
abbreviated pathway for the approval of biosimilarandinterchangeable biological products. The abbreviated regulatory
pathway establishes legal authority for the FDA to review and approve biosimilar biologics, including the possible
designation ofa biosimilar as “interchangeable” based on its similarity to an existing reference product. Under the
BPCIA, an application fora biosimilar productcannot be approved by the FDA until 12 years after the original branded
productor “reference” is approved under a BLA. On March 6, 2015, the FDA approved the first biosimilar product
underthe BPCIA. However, the law is complex and is still being interpreted and implemented by the FDA and as a
result, its ultimate impact, implementation and meaning are subject to uncertainty. While it is uncertain when such
processes intended to implement BPCIA may be fully adopted by the FDA, any such processes could have a material
adverse effect on the future commercial prospects for our biological products.

There is a risk that the FDA will not consider each of our cell therapies to be entitled to 12-year reference
productexclusivity, potentially creating the opportunity for biosimilar competition sooner than anticipated. Additionally,
this period of regulatory exclusivity does notapply to companies pursuing regulatory approval via their own full BLA,
ratherthanviathe abbreviated biosimilar pathway. Moreover, theextent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be
substituted forany one of our reference products in a way that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non -
biologicaldrugproductsisnot yet clear,andwill depend ona number of marketplace and regulatory factors that are still
developing.

Foreign countries also have abbreviated regulatory pathways for biosimilars and hence even where the FDA

doesnot approve a biosimilarbiologic, a biosimilar could be approved usinganabbreviated regulatory pathway in other
markets where our cell therapies are approved and marketed.
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Risks Related to the Development of Our Cell Therapies

We are heavily reliant on the data obtained from our ongoing ADP-A2M4CD8 clinical trials.

Our ability to obtain additional financing is dependenton the data from our ADP-A2M4CDS8 (“SURPASS” and
“SURPASS-3") clinical trials among other factors. Data from any ofthese trials mightnot be sufficient to enable us to
furtherdevelop ADP-A2M4CD8or other celltherapies within the pipeline. If we do not see sufficiently positive data in
any of these clinicaltrials orif we see an adverse side effect profile preventing continuation of any clinical trials, we
may not be able to obtain theadditional financing required to fund our anticipated business operations. Thisin turn may
necessitate delays in planned activities, including the commercialization of afami-cel in synovial sarcoma, the
development of lete-cel and our ability to progress other cell therapies into and through clinical development.

Our cell therapy products requiresignificantadditional clinical testing before we can seek regulatory approval and
begin commercialization.

Our cell therapies may not achieve regulatory approval or proceed tothe nextstage of development. We have
filed ourfirst BLA forafami-celandthe FDA s currently reviewing that BLA. We do not know if the FDA will grant
approval forafami-cel orwhetheradditional activities, if any, will be required to be performed prior to such approval
beinggranted orafter suchapproval beinggranted. All of our other cell therapies require further development before a
BLA can be filed with any regulatory authority to permit commercialization. Results seen in early clinical trials, for
example, with our ADP-A2M4CD8 cell therapy candidate may not be predictive of the data we will obtain in our later
phase clinical trials. Negative resultsin any celltherapy clinical program may also impact our ability to continue with
clinicaldevelopment of other similar cell thera pies. Although each celltherapy may target a different cancer peptide or
protein, the underlying technology platformand other aspects of our clinical programs are the same or substantially
similarformany of our cell therapies. Accordingly, a failure ordelayin any one program may affect theability to obtain
regulatory approval to continue or conduct clinical programs for other cell therapies.

The data produced inour ongoing clinical trials is at an early stage, and future data may not support continued
progression of any of our therapies through development.

The patient response data thathas been reported in our SURPASS and SURPASS-3 trials represents data from
smallnumbers of patients within each study atthe applicable dosing level. Assuch, the data is initial data, and there is
no assurancethatany responses will persist, thatwe will see responses in any other patients or that such patients will not
suffersevere adverse eventswhichmayresult in a delay or halt to any clinical trial. Further data may be required in
orderto progress celltherapies to the nextstage of development. Negative results in one clinical trial may also impact
ability to proceed with development in other clinical trials given the commontechnology platform and similarity of other
aspects of our clinical programs.

Like otherbiologic products, we expect there may be greater variability in results for cell therapies which are
administered ona patient-by-patient basis than for “off-the-shelf”” products, like many other biologics. There is typically
an extremely high rate of attrition from thefailure of any products proceeding through clinical trials. Cell therapies in
later stages of clinical trials mayfail to show the desired safety and efficacy profile despite having progressed through
preclinical programsandinitial clinicaltrials. Anumber of companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered
significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or unacceptable safety issues, notwithstanding
promising results in earlier trials. Most biologic candidates that begin clinical trials are never approved by regulatory
authorities for commercialization. We may therefore be unsuccessful in demonstrating the required efficacy and safety

profile from the performance of any of our clinical programs.

We are aware that certain patients donot respondto our celltherapies and that other patients may relapse or
cease to presentthe peptide beingtargeted by such cell therapies. The percentage of the patient population in which
these events may occur is unknown, but the inability of patients to respondand the possibility of relapse may impact our
ability to conduct clinicaltrials, to obtain regulatory approvals, if at all, and to successfully commercialize any cell

therapies.
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We plan to provide further data updates as and when the applicable data is believed to be sufficiently
mature. Given the nature of T-celltherapies andthe time taken to observe patient responses to our cell therapies, we
cannotprovide any assurance that further data updates will be provided frequently or that such data updates will be
available at any particular time.

We may not be able to commence additional clinical trials for cell therapies on the timeframes we expect.

Progression of new celltherapies into clinical trials is inherently risky and dependent onthe results obtained in
preclinical programs, the results of other clinical programs and any other activities which may impact our ability to
commenceclinicaltrials, forexample, availability of manufacturing process and components. If any issues are identified
duringany celltherapy development, we may experience significant delays in development of pipeline candidates
includingour PRAME and CD70programs and in existing clinical programs including our SURPASS and SURPASS-3
programs. This mayalso impact our ability to achieve certain financial milestones and the expected timeframes to
market any of our cell therapies.

The FDA orotherregulatory authorities may notapprove any IND (or equivalent application) for any of our
future celltherapies, or for newindications for our cell therapies already in clinical trials, or may require amendments to
existing protocols (including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or other similar pandemics). For example, we
amended the protocols for our clinical trials in response to reported serious adverse events (“SAEs”) of prolonged
serious pancytopenia in ourclinicaltrials. Such amendments and updates may delay our clinical trials, may require
changes orresubmissionof our INDs, or may result in or be related to a halt in our planned or contemplated clinical
trials.

We conduct clinical trials at sites in the U.K. and European Union. This requires gaining the approval of
country specific review bodies for GMO application and Clinical Trial Application (“CTA”). As this is not a harmonized
process, the requirements can vary considerably, and delays can be incurred at a country level. For example, the
informationrequired in relationto manufacturing processes or assays may differ between countries and may require
additional testing to be conducted in order for approval to be obtained.

T-cell therapy is a novel approach to cancer treatment that creates significant increased risk in terms of side -effect
profile.

Developmentof a pharmaceutical or biologic therapy or product has inherent risks based on differences in
patientpopulation andresponsestotherapy andtreatment. The mechanism of action and impact on other systems and
tissues within the humanbody following administration of our cell therapies is complex and not completely understood,
which means that we cannot predict the long-term effects of treatment with any of our cell therapies (whether by us or a
collaborator). In addition, it is not possible for any pre-clinical safety package to completely identify all potential safety
risks. Forexample, there is a risk that thetarget (or similar) peptide to which any T-cell is directed may be present in
both patients’ cancer cells and other non-cancer cellsandtissues. Cross-reactivity orallo-reactivity (binding to peptides
presented on other HLA types) could also occur where the affinity-enhanced engineered TCR contained within any cell
therapy including our T-cells binds to peptides presented by HLAs other thanthe HLA type for which the relevant TCR
was developed. Should any of these cross-reactivities occur, patients may suffera range of side effects associated with
the T-cellbindingto both the cancer cells and/or other cellsand tissues and such side effects could cause patient death.
The extentof these side effects will depend on which cells and tissues are affected as well as the degree to which the
target (or similar) peptide is expressed in these cells and tissues.

Any unacceptable toxicities arising in ongoing clinical programs could result in suspension or termination of
those clinical programs. Themore serious adverse events (“SAEs”) that arereported the greater the risk of suspension of
termination of clinical programs, evenwhere the SAEs are unrelated to each other or to our cell therapies. Our patients
undergo lymphodepletion priorto receiving our cell therapies which leaves them immuno-compromised for a period of
time afterthe lymphodepletion and increases their risk of contracting other unrelated diseases or pathogens including
COVID-19. The treatmentregimenused in our protocols, in particular the use of chemotherapy, also carries an inherent
risk of cytopenia (including pancytopenia), where blood cell levels reduce to lower than normal. If blood cell levels do
not recover sufficiently the patientmay suffer serious adverse events, which may even be life threatening. There have
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been multiple events of pancytopenia as well as SAEs similar to those reported across our clinical trials; these are
multifactorialin etiologies and could result in regulatory authorities imposinga hold on one or more clinical programs
whilst the events are investigated further. Serious adverse events seen with otherimmunotherapy products, such as the
severe cytokine release syndrome (“CRS”) and neurotoxicity events observed with CD19 -directed CAR T-cell
treatments, mayalsooccuratany stage of the clinical program. Further, following infusion of any of our T-cells, there
may be atransientinflammatory reaction of the disease to the treatment. Symptoms in any given subject would be
dependent on the location and other characteristics of their tumor. For example, subjects with lung tumors may
experiencedyspnea. Cardiac toxicities may be observed in patients with pre-existing cardiac or pericardial masses.
These inflammatory reactions and related symptoms may be mild and self-limited, but can be severe, potentially life-
threatening and require medical intervention.

Any side effectsmayalsoresult in the needto perform additional trials, which will delay regulatory approval
forsuch celltherapiesandrequire additional resources and financial investment to bring the relevant cell therapy to
market.

Use of celltherapies in combinationwith other third party products or therapies may increase or exacerbate side
effects thathave been seenwith our cell therapies alone or may result in newside effects thathave not previously been
identified with our celltherapies alone. Any undesirable side effects seen in combination trials may affect our ability to
continue with and obtain regulatory approval for the combination therapy, but may also impact our ability to continue

with and obtain regulatory approval for our cell therapies alone.
Summary information on adverse events (“AEs”) seen in relation to each of our cell therapies are provided below
Afami-cel:

e AsofDecember27,2023,156 patients received at least one dose of transduced cells of afami-cel
across multiple studies. 138 (88.5%) patients experienced adverse events. Adverse events occurring in
>10% of subjects considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to afami-cel include CRS,
pyrexia, neutropenia/neutrophil count decreased, fatigue, leukopenia/WBC decreased, sinus
tachycardia/tachycardia, lymphopenia/ lymphocyte count decreased, nausea, hypotension rash,
thrombocytopenia/platelet count decreased, chills, febrile neutropenia, anaemia/RBC decreased,
decreased appetite and headache.

e Seriousadverse event(SAES), considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to afami-cel
were reported for 38 (24.4%) subjects under the program. These events include empyema, sepsis,
cytokine release syndrome, pleural effusion, pneumothorax, pulmonary embolism, pyrexia, anemia,
aplastic anemia, pancytopenia, cerebrovascularaccident, encephalopathy, neurotoxicity, arrhythmia,
alanineaminotransferase increased, aspartate aminotransferaseincreased, bloodalkaline phosphatase
increased, plateletcountdecreased, lymphoproliferative disorder, deep vein thrombosis, superior vena
cavaocclusion,acute kidney injury, arthralgia, pulmonary hemorrhage, adrenal insufficiency, white
blood cellcount decreasedand rash. Two of these subjects have had treatmentrelated fatal SAES: one
patientexperienced pancytopenia/aplastic anemia andthe other experienceda cerebrovascular accident
(stroke).

e Fivesubjectsexperiencedlongterm follow up events. The events were thrombocytopenia/Platelet
count decreased, sepsis, bacteraemia, Covid-19, hyperthyroidism, and myelodysplastic syndrome.

ADP-A2M4CD8:

e AsofNovember22,2023, in the SURPASS study, there have been 46 patients treated with ADP-
A2M4CD8 monotherapy. The adverse events occurring in >10% of patients treated with ADP-
A2M4CD8monotherapy (n=46) and considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to
ADP-A2M4CD8 include CRS, neutropenia/neutrophil countdecreased, fatigue, anemia/red blood cell
count decreased, thrombocytopenia/platelet count decreased, immune effector cell-associated
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neurotoxicity syndrome (ICANS), pleural effusion, pyrexia, rash, dyspnea, hypoxia, leukopenia/ white
blood cellcount decreased, sinus tachycardia/tachycardia, decreased appetite, febrile neutropenia, and
lymphopenia/ lymphocyte count decreased.

e SAEs, consideredby investigatorsto be at least possibly related to ADP-A2M4CD8 monotherapy,
were reported for23 (50.0%) patients in the study. These eventsinclude CRS, ICANS, drug reaction
with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS Syndrome), rash, hypoxia, dyspnea, plueral
effusion, device related infection, pneumonia, sepsis, anemia, pancytopenia, pyrexia, myocarditis,
small intestinal obstruction, infusion related reaction, blood creatinine increased, tumor lysis
syndrome, and myositis. Three of these patients had treatment-related fatal SAEs (pancytopenia, CRS,
and myositis).Inaddition, there havebeen 10 patients treated with nivolumab in combination with
ADP-A2M4CD8. Nine out of 10 subjects had AEs related to T-cell infusion, including CRS, rash,
pyrexia, fatigue, C-reactive protein increased, decreased appetite, febrile neutropenia, headache,
hypotension, ICANS, infusion related reaction, lymphopenia/lymphocyte count decreased, sinus
tachycardia/tachycardia, stomatitis and thrombocytopenia/platelet count decreased. Febrile
neutropenia, fatigue, and hypotension were the only AEs related to T-cell infusion and nivolumab.

e Inthe SURPASS-2 study (ADP-0055-002), there have been 3 patients treated with ADP-A2M4CD8
monotherapy. The adverse events considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to ADP-
A2M4CD8 include rash, sciatica, CRS, pyrexia and respiratory failure. CRS was the only SAE
considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to ADP-A2M4CD8 monotherapy.

e Acrossall ADP-A2M4CDS8 trials, 32 total patients treated with ADP-A2M4CD8 monotherapy
continue in longterm follow up as atdateof data cut-off. No related AE/SAEs have been reported.

Lete-cel:

e AsoflJanuary 27,2023,198patients out of 199 patients experienced treatment emergent adverse
events. Adverse events (AESs) occurring in >10% of subjects considered by investigators to be at least
possibly relatedto Lete-cel include cytokine release syndrome (CRS),neutropenia/neutrophil count
decreased, leukopenia/white blood cell decreased, thrombocytopenia/platelet count decreased,
anaemia/redblood cell count decreased, pyrexia, rash/rash maculo-papular, fatigue, diarrhea, nausea,
febrile neutropenia, hypophosphatemia, alanine aminotransferase increased, tachycardia, dyspnoea,
decreased appetite, aspartate aminotransferase increased, lymphopenia/lymphocyte count decreased,
hypotension, hypokalaemia, alopecia, chills, hypocalcemia, headache, hyponatremia,
hypoalbuminemia, cough, vomiting, hypomagnesaemia, pruritus, blood alkaline phosphatase
increased.

e Seriousadverse event (SAEs), considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to lete-cel,
were reported for 92 (46%) subjects under the program. These events include CRS, febrile
neutropenia, neutropenia/neutrophil count decreased, pyrexia, rash/rash maculo-papular,
thrombocytopenia/platelet count decreased, anemia/RBC decreased, dyspnea, hypotension,
pancytopenia, unspecified GVHD - other (lung, bone marrow, not specified), pleural effusion, acute
GVHD —other (lung, bone marrow, not specified), device related infection, diarrhoea, nausea,
bacteraemia, bloodbilirubin increased , bone marrow failure, cardiac arrest, dermatitis exfoliative
generalized,Guillain-Barre syndrome, hemorrhage intracranial, hyponatremia, hypoxia, immune
effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome (ICANS), leukopenia/white blood cell decreased,
neutropenic sepsis, pericardial effusion, pneumonitis, staphylococcal infection, and tumor pain.

o AsofJanuary 27,2023, 0ne hundred and eighty-two patients treated with lete-cel were in long term
follow-up (LTFU)phase. In90 safety population, potential Grade>3 delayed AEs includes pulmonary
alveolarhemorrhage, BK virus infection, febrile neutropenia, herpes zoster, Guillain-Barre syndrome,
peripheral motor neuropathy, and peripheral sensory neuropathy.
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We may encounter substantial delays in our clinicaltrials or may notbe able to conduct our trials on the timelines we

expect.

Any delay in our clinicaltrials will impactourability to obtain clinical data from those trials and our ability to
progress our business alonganticipated timelines and to raise capital. Delays in clinical trials canalsoincrease the costs
incurred in performingthoseclinicaltrials or necessitate a need to initiate additional clinical trial sites. Our ability to
progress our clinical trials is dependent on a number of factors including:

Finding clinical sites prepared to carry out the relevant clinical trials, screening of patients by the
clinical sites, recruitment of patients both in terms of number and type of patients and general
performance of the relevant clinical site.

The ability of ourclinical sites to recruit patients on the timelines we expect. It can be difficult for
clinicalsitesto find patients thatexpress both the required HLA-type (if required) and required antigen
type and whichalso meetthe inclusion criteria for our clinicaltrials. In addition, duringthe COVID-19
pandemic, resources atclinicalsitesare being prioritized towards treatment of COVID-19 and as a
result there may be a delay in their ability to progress our clinicaltrials, recruit and enroll patients into
clinical trials or to start new clinical trials.

The patient population in which any required peptide antigen is presented. The patient populationmay
be lower thanexpected whichwill increase thetimescales required to findand recruit patients into the
applicable clinicaltrial. Screeningofa large number of patients is required to identify HLA and tumor

antigen positive patients for all of our clinical trials with our engineered T-cells.

Our ability to select, initiate and activate clinical sites on the timelines we expect. Selection and
activation of clinical trial sites can take a longperiod oftime andincludes requirements to assess the
clinicaltrialsite, obtain IRBapproval of clinical trial protocols, negotiate and execute clinical trial
agreements and educate study staff to enable them to carry out the clinical trial.

Any requirement to change clinical trial design as the clinical trial progresses. It is also difficult to
predict whether changes may be required to any clinical trial design asour clinicaltrials progress. The
need to make changes to any clinical trial design can result in delays to the performance of thatclinical
trialwhilst any changesare approved by the FDA or other relevant authority and implemented at

applicable clinical trial sites.

Any competition for patientsatour clinical sites. Many of our clinical trial sites have multiple clinical
trialsongoingwhich compete for patients in any specific indication. We may have to wait before
treating patients while patients complete existing clinical trials or receive other treatment therapies for
theircancer. Moreover, because our cell therapies represent a departure from more commonly used
methods for cancer treatment, potential patients and their physicians may opt to use conventional
therapies, suchas chemotherapy and hematopoietic cell transplantation, rather than enrollment in any
of ourcurrent or futureclinicaltrials. This may also meanwe cannotrecruit patients at a suitable time
in their disease progression.

Any change in the standard of care for patients. Where standard of care for patients changes clinical
sitesmay no longer be preparedto continue with any clinical trial or require amendments to agreed
protocols forclinicaltrials. Such circumstances can lead to the suspension of the relevant clinical trial
ata site, inability to recruit further patients at that clinical site ora requirement to amend the protocol,
all of which will delay or potentially halt progression of a cell therapy through clinical trials.

Any country-specific requirement. In certain countries, additional data, studies or documentation may
be required ahead of any clinical trial starting. For example, comparability studies may be required in
relation to any changes in manufacturing process and the extent of these comparability studies can
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vary betweendifferentcountries. This can result in delays to the start of any clinical trials in those
countries and leadto increased researchand development being required ahead of the start of those
clinical trials.

e Theseverity of thediseasewe are tryingto treatand the type of patient we are trying to recruit. For
many of our clinicaltrials patients have received numerous prior therapies and have few or no other
remaining treatmentoptions. Given the latestage of their disease the patients also tend to be very ill
and hencerequire treatmentquickly and have the potential for increased SAEs following treatment.
Dependingon the protocol it can be difficult to find patients that meet the inclusion requirements for
our clinical trials and can wait for manufacture of our cell therapy products.

e Theclinicaltrial protocol design andin particular the inclusion and exclusion requirements applicable
to the clinical trial.

e Patientreferral practices. Itiscommon for investigators or physicians not to refer patients to other
investigators or physicians either within their own clinicalsites or to other clinical sites. This increases
the number of clinicalsites which have to be initiated in orderto recruit patients to our clinical trials.

e Availability of reimbursement from insurance companies. The availability of reimbursement for
patients to participate in clinical trials can impact on their ability to enroll in our clinical trials.

Even if we are able to enrolla sufficient number of patients in our clinical trials, delays in patient enrolliment
may resultin,and haveresulted in, increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials,
which could preventcompletion of these trialsand adversely affect our ability to advance the development of our cell
therapies.

Certain of ourclinicaltrials includedose escalation studies in which the dose of cell therapies administered to
patientsis varied orinitial studies in which the pre-treatment regimen may be varied, for example, a regimen with and
without fludarabine. The outcome of such dose escalation orinitial studies willinform the clinical study going forward.
However, theneedto carry out dose escalation or other initial studies may result in delays in data from such clinical
programs while the most suitable dose or regimen is assessed. For example, the trial design for our cell therapy trials
includes dose escalationand therefore efficacy data may not be obtained from initial patients treated in such studies
during the dose escalation phase.

Our cell therapies represent a novel approach to cancer treatment that could result in heightened regulatory scrutiny
and delays in clinical development.

Use of any of our cell therapies to treata patient involves genetically engineering a patient’s T-cells. This is a
noveltreatmentapproachthat carries inherent development risks including the following, any of which can result in
delays to our ability to develop our cell therapies:

e  Furtherdevelopment, characterization andevaluation may be requiredat any point in the development of
any celltherapywhere clinical or preclinical data suggestany potential safety risk for patients. The need to
develop furtherassays, orto modify in any way the protocols related to our cell therapies to improve safety
or effectiveness, may delay theclinical program, regulatory approval or commercialization, if approved at
all, of any cell therapy.

e End users and medical personnel require a substantial amount of education and training in their
administration of cell therapies either to engage in clinical trials and recruit patients or ultimately to
provide cell therapies to patients once our cell therapies have been approved.

¢ Regulatorsmaybe more risk averse orrequire substantial dialogue and education as part of the normal
regulatoryapproval process for each stage of development of any cell therapy. Many regulators have

49



additional requirementsor processes relating to celltherapy products which need to be addressed during
development. To date, only a limited number of gene therapy products have beenapproved in the U.S. and
EU. Consequently, it isdifficult to predict and evaluate what additional regulatory hurdles may apply to the
development of our cell therapies and whether additional investment, time or resources will be required to
overcome any such hurdles.

¢ Regulatory requirements governing gene and cell therapy products have changed frequently and may
continue to change in the future.

¢ Random gene insertion associated with retrovirus-mediated genetically modified products, known as
insertional oncogenesis, could lead to lymphoma, leukemia or other cancers, or other aberrantly
functioning cells. Insertional oncogenesis was seen in early genetherapy studies conducted outside of the
U.S. in 2003 although these studies utilized a murine gamma-retroviral vector rather than a lentiviral
vector.

e Although our viral vectors are not able to replicate, there may be a risk with the use of retroviral or
lentiviral vectorsthatthey could undergo recombinationandlead to new or reactivated pathogenic strains
of virus or other infectious diseases.

e Thereisthe potential for delayed adverse events following exposure to gene therapy products due to
persistent biological activity ofthe genetic material or other components of products used to carry the
genetic material. In part for this reason, the FDA recommends a 15-year follow-up observation period for

all surviving patients who receive treatment using gene therapies in clinical trials.

e Clinicaltrials using genetically modified cells may be subjectto additional or further regulatory processes,
forexample, by the NTH Office of Biotechnology Activities’ Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee, or
RAC orthe need to apply fora specific applications relating to the use of Genetically Modified Organism
application in the EU. These additional processes may delay or impede the initiation of a clinical trial.

e Increasedrisk to patient safety caused by the need to lymphodeplete patients prior to administration of our
cell therapies including in circumstances in which there is a heightened safety risk or in which medical
resources could be prioritized elsewhere, for example, during a pandemic such as COVID-19.

o Negativeresultsseenin third party clinical trials utilizing gene therapy products may result in regulators
halting development of our celltherapies or in requiring additional data or requirements prior to our cell
therapies progressing to the next stage of development. Forexample, regulators could require changestobe
made to our clinical trial protocols or increase requirements for dose escalation studies as part of our
clinical trial protocols.

Our clinical trials may fail to demonstrate adequately the safety and efficacy of any cell therapies which would
prevent or delay regulatory approval and commercialization.

Thereis a risk in any clinical trialthatside effects from cell therapies will require a hold on, or termination of,
clinical programs or further adjustmentsto clinical programs in order to progress any celltherapy. Our celltherapy must
demonstratean acceptable benefit/risk profile in its intended patient populationand for its intended use. The benefit/risk
profile required for productlicensurewill vary depending on these factorsand may include not only the ability to show
tumorshrinkage, but also adequate duration of response, a delay in the progression of the disease and/or an improvement
in survival. Forexample, responserates fromthe use of our cell therapies may not be sufficient to obtain regulatory
approval unless we show an adequate duration of response.

The regulatory authorities (including the FDA) may issue a hold on our clinical trials as a result of safety
informationand data obtained in third party clinical trials or in relation to third party products. Any such hold will
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require addressing by us and will inevitably delay progression of the clinical trials concerned, if such clinical trials
progress at all.

Inaddition, evenif such trials are successfully completed, the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities may not
interpret the results as we do. Accordingly, more trials may be required before we can submit any cell therapy for
regulatoryapproval oradditional data may be requiredin orderto obtain fullapproval. To the extent that the results of
thetrialsare not satisfactory to the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities for support of a marketing authorization
application, we may be required to expendsignificant resources, which may not be available to us, to conduct additional
trialsand development in supportof potential approval of our cell therapies. We cannot predict whether any of our cell
therapies will satisfy regulatory requirements at all or for indications in which such cell therapies are currently being

evaluated as part of any clinical programs.

We have limited experience conducting later stageclinical trials which may cause a delay in any clinical program
and in the obtaining of regulatory approvals.

Although we have recruited a teamthathas significant experience with clinical trials, as a company we have
limited experience in conducting clinical trials throughto regulatory approval. In part because of this lack of experience,
we cannotbe certain that planned clinical trials will begin or be completed on time, if at all. Large-scale trials would
require significantadditional financialand management resources, and reliance on third-party clinical investigators,
contractresearchorganizations,or CROs, or consultants. Relying on third-party clinical investigators, consultants or
CROs may force us to encounter delays that are outside of our control.

Clinical trials are expensive, time-consuming and difficult to implement.

Clinicaltrials, depending on the stage, can becostlyaswellasdifficult to implement and define, particularly
with technologies that are not tried and tested, such as our cell therapies. These factors can lead to a longer clinical
development timeline and regulatory approval process, including a requirement to conduct further or more complex
clinicaltrials in orderto obtain regulatory approval. Regulatory authorities may disagree with the design of any clinical
program, and designinganacceptable program could lead to increased timeframes for obtaining of approvals, if any. In
addition, progression of clinical trials depends on the ability to recruit suitable patients to those trials and delay in
recruiting will impact the timeframes of such clinical trials and as a result the timeframes for obtaining regulatory
approval, if any, for the relevant cell therapy.

In particular, eligible patients may need to bescreened for thetarget peptide and HLA type, which may reduce
the number of patients who can be recruited forany clinical program. The ability to administer cell therapies to patients
in accordancewith set protocols fortheclinical trialsandthe results obtained depends on patient participation for the
duration of the clinical trial, which many of these patients are unable to do because of their late-stagecancerand limited

life expectancy.

Validation of our cell therapies requires access to human samples which we may be unableto obtain or, if they can be
obtained, that the terms under which they are provided will be favorable to us.

Certain ofthe steps involved in validatingand carrying out safety testing in relationto our cell therapies require
access to humansamples (e.g., tissues samples or cell samples) from third parties. Such samples may be obtained from
universities or research institutions and will often be provided subjectto certain terms and conditions. We may not be
able to obtain samples in sufficient quantities to enable preclinical testing in sufficient quantities for planned activities.
In addition, the terms under which such samples are available may notbe acceptable to us or may restrict our use of any
generated results or require us to make payments to the third parties.

Our cell therapies and theirapplication are not fully scientifically understood and are still undergoing validation and
investigation.

Our cell therapies and their potential associated risks are still under investigation. Our cell therapies may not
work in the way that we currently anticipate and affinity modification of the receptors within T-cells or other cellular
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therapies may not produce the anticipated enhancements in activity. Forexample, thereis a potential risk that, given that
the TCR chainsin our T-cells are produced separately and thenassembled within patient T-cells into full TCRs, the TCR
chainsfrom both transduced and naturally occurring T-cells could be assembled into an unintended end TCR due to
mispairingof TCR chains, which could create unknown recognition and cross-reactivity problems within patients.
Although this phenomenon has notbeen reported in humans, it remains a theoretical risk for our celltherapies and other
similar cell therapiesandis still beingstudied and investigated. This could delay regulatory approval, if any, for the
relevantcelltherapy. To the extent that any mispairing is identified, either in our or our competitors’ clinical trials,
additional investment may be requiredin orderto modify relevantcelltherapiesand to further assess and validate the
risk of such mispairingto patients. Following modification of therelevant cell therapy, such modified cell therapy may
not remain suitable for patient treatment and may not eliminate the risk of mispairing of TCR chains and regulatory
approval may not be obtained ona timely basisoratallin relation to such modified celltherapy. The occurrence of such
events would significantly harm our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to identify and validate additional target peptides or isolateand develop affinity-enhanced TCRs
or other cell therapy candidates that are suitable for validation and further development.

The success of our cell therapies depends on boththeidentification of target peptides presented on cancer cells,
which can be bound by our celltherapy products, andisolationand affinity enhancement of receptors including TCRs,
which can be usedto treatpatients if regulatory approvalis obtained. Any failure toidentifyand validate further target
peptides will reduce the number of potential cell therapies that we can successfully develop, which in turn will reduce
the commercial opportunities available to usandincreaseour reliance onourexisting cell therapies. Delays in our ability
to identify and develop target peptides and cell therapies, including as caused by lack of financing, COVID-19 orsimilar
pandemics, may also impact our ability to progress development of programsand obtain additional fundsto support our
business.

We may notdevelop new cell therapy candidates for which the safety and efficacy profiles enable progression
to and through preclinical testingand intoclinical development. Failure to identify further candidates for progression
into preclinicaltestingand clinical programs will significantly impact our pipeline of celltherapiesandalso increase our
reliance on the cell therapies currently in clinical development. If resources become limited or if we fail to identify
suitable target peptides, receptors including TCRs or affinity-enhanced receptors, our ability to submit INDs for further
cell therapies may be delayed or never realized, which would have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Developmentofan “off-the-shelf” cell therapy takes a considerable amount of time and such development may not be
successful.

We have a platform process whichmay enable us to treatpatientpopulations with an “off-the-shelf” product.
However, our research program may not be successful, might not be carried out within the timescales currently
anticipated, or even if successful might not result in a cell therapy that can be used to treat patients or achieve a
profitable return oninvestment. In particularthe various cell lines developed during this process will need to be properly
characterized and produced in accordance with regulatory requirements and this development process can take a
significantamount of timeand resource to ensure thatany process or cell lines can be used for the production of clinical
stage andultimately commercial stage products. It is not knownat this time whether the cell therapy candidates resulting
from the process will have a similar profile of activity to our existing cell therapy products or whether such cell therapy
candidates will be safe to administer to patients. Delays may occurat any part o fthe process, including obtaining results
duringdevelopmentthat necessitate a requirement to repeator modify steps in the process. The regulatory requirements
foran off-the-shelf product are not known and regulators could require significant additional development steps, which
in turn could delay our ability to enter clinical development with our off-the-shelf cell therapies.
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Risks Related to the Manufacture and Supply of Our Cell Therapies

Manufacturingand supplyofcell therapies iscomplex, and if we encounter any difficulties in manufacture or supply
of cell therapies our abilityto providesupply of our cell therapies for clinical trials or for commercial purposes could
be delayed or stopped.

The process of manufacturing and administering cell therapies is complex and highly regulated. The
manufacture of celltherapies requires the harvesting of white blood cells from the patient, isolating certain T-cells from
these white blood cells, combining patient T-cells with our lentiviral delivery vector through a process known as
transduction, expanding the transduced T-cells to obtain the desired dose, and ultimately infusing the modified T-cells
back intothe patient. Asa result of thecomplexities, our manufacturing and supply costs are likely to be higher than
those at moretraditional manufacturing processes and the manufacturing process is less reliable and more difficult to
reproduce.

Delays or failures in the manufacture of cell therapies (whether by us, any collaborator or our third party
contract manufacturers) can result in a patient being unable to receive their cell therapy or a requirement to re -
manufacture which itself then causes delays in manufacture for other patients. Any delay or failure or inability to
manufacture ona timely basis can adversely affecta patient’s outcomes and delay the timelines for our clinical trials.
With a commercial product delays or failure to manufacture could additionally lead to claims by patients for
reimbursement or damages. Such delays or failure or inability to manufacture can result from:

o afailure inthe manufacturing process itself forexample, by anerrorin manufacturing process (whether by
usor ourthird party contractmanufacturing organization), equipmentor reagent failure, failure in any step
of the manufacturing process, failure to maintain a GMP environment, failure in quality systems applicable
to manufacture, sterility failures, contamination during process;

e a lack of reliability or reproducibility in the manufacturing process itself leading to variability in end
manufacture of celltherapy. Should the process be unreliable, the relevant regulatory agency (such as the
FDA in the U.S.) may place a hold on aclinicaltrialorrequestfurther information on the process which
could in turn result in delays to the clinical trials;

e variations in patientstarting material or apheresis product resultingin less productthan expected or product
which is not viable, or which cannot be used to successfully manufacture a cell therapy;

e productloss or failure due to logistical issues including issues associated with the differences between
patients’ white blood cells or characteristics, interruptions to process, contamination, failure to supply
patientapheresis material within required timescales (forexample, as a result of animport or export hold-
up) or supplier error;

¢ inability to haveenough manufacturing slots to manufacture celltherapies for patients as and when those
patients require manufacture;

¢ inability to procure components, consumables, ingredients, or starting materials, or to manufacture starting
materials (including at our U.K. vector facility), as a result of supply chain issues;

e loss of orclose-down of any manufacturing facility used in the manufacture of our cell therapies. For
example, we will be manufacturingafami-celatour Navy Yard manufacturing facility. Should there be a
contamination event at thefacility resultingin the close-down of that facility, it would not be possible to
find alternative manufacturing capability forafami-cel within the timescales required for patient supply
including forcommercial supply. TheNavy Yard is also used for manufacture of ADP-A2M4CD8 for the
SURPASS trials and any loss of capacity or closure will impact ability to supply cell therapies for the
SURPASS and SURPASS-3 trials. In addition, as with many pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities, the
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facility will have periods of time within which it cannot be used for manufacture of patient product to
enable routine checks to be performed on the facility;

loss or contamination of patient starting material, requiring the starting material to be obtained again from
the patient or themanufacturing process to be re-started. In thecontext of commercial supply, this could
result in cancellation of order for the commercial cell therapy or a claim from the patient;

a requirementto modify or make changes to any manufacturing process. Such changes may additionally
require comparability testingwhich then may reduce the amount of manufacturing slots available for
manufacture of our cell therapies. Delays in our ability to make the required modifications or perform any
required comparability testing within currently anticipated timeframes or that such modifications or
comparability testing, whenmade, will obtain regulatory approval or that the new processes or modified
processes will successfully be transferredto thethird party contractsuppliers within currently anticipated
timeframes can also impact timelines for manufacture;

reductionor loss of the staff resources required to manufacture our cell therapies at our facilities or those of
our CMOs;

allocation of the resources, materials, and services of any collaborator or our third party contract
manufacturers away from our cell therapy programs;

reductionin available workforce to perform manufacturing processes, forexample, asa result ofa COVID-
19 outbreak or workforce exhibiting potential COVID-19 symptoms, and pending receipt of test results for
COVID-19 infection;

increased country-specific requirements. Forexample, our current manufacturing site is in the U.S. and this
means that for patients outside ofthe U.S. there is a need to transfer patient-specific apheresis material
from clinicalsites in Europe to the manufacturerin the U.S., for the patient product to be converted into
ourend celltherapy product, for that product to be released for use in Europeand thenforthat celltherapy
productto be transported back to the site in Europe for administration to the patient. The supply and

manufacturing chain required to achieve this is very complexand could be subject to failures at any point

inability to engage with third party manufacturers within the timelines required to support planned
activities. For example, we are using a series of third party contract manufacturing organizations to
manufacture the vectorand celltherapy for lete-cel. It takes time to set upand finalize manufacturing with
a new vendor and there is no guarantee that we will be able to achieve that within currently planned
timelines or that once set-up the manufacturing process will provide comparable to that used in prior
clinical trials; and

changes in the manufacturing and supply process. As our cell therapies progress through preclinical
programs and clinical trials towards approval and commercialization, it is expected thatvarious aspects of
the manufacturingand administration process will be altered in an effort to optimize processesand results.
We have already identified some improvements to our manufacturing and administration processes, but
these changes may not achievethe intended objectives, may notbe transferable to third parties orable to be
used at larger scales and could cause our cell therapies to perform differently or affect the results of
planned clinicaltrials or other future clinicaltrials. Any changes to the manufacturing process may require
amendments to be madeto regulatory applications or comparability teststobe conducted which can further
delay timeframes. If cell therapies manufactured under the new process have a worse safety or efficacy
profile thanthepriorinvestigational product or the processis less reproducible than the previous process,
we may needto re-evaluate the use of that manufacturing process, which could significantly delay or even
result in the halting of our clinical trials.
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We have insurance to cover certain business interruption events which is capped at £10 million in the U.K. and $5
million in the U.S. We will need to obtain additional productliability insurancein the contextof thecommercial supply
of afami-cel. However, because our level of insuranceis capped, it may be insufficientto fully compensate us if any of
these events were to occur in the future.

Our manufacturing process needsto complywith regulations, and any failure to comply with relevant regulations
could resultindelaysinortermination of our clinical programs and suspension or withdrawal of any regulatory
approvals.

In orderto commercially produce our products, we will need to comply with the FDA’s and other regulatory
authorities’ cGMP requirements at our Navy Yard facility, vector facility and third party contract manufacturing
facilities. We may encounter difficulties in achieving quality control and quality assurance and may experience shortages
in qualified personnel. We and our third party contract manufacturers are subject to inspections by the FDA and
comparable agencies in other jurisdictions to confirm compliance with applicable regulatory requirements once the
process has beenapproved. Any failure to follow cGMP or other regulatory requirements, reliably manufacture product
or delay, interruption or other issues thatarise in the manufacture, fill-finish, packaging, or storage of our cell therapies
asa result of a failure of our facilities or the facilities or operations of third parties to comply with regulatory
requirements or pass any regulatory authority inspection could significantly impair our ability to develop and
commercialize our celltherapies, including leading to significant delays in the availability of our cell therapies for our
clinicaltrials or the termination of or suspension of a clinicaltrial, orthe delay or prevention of a filing or approval of
marketing authorization applications for our cell therapies. Significant non-compliance could also result in the
imposition of sanctions, includingwarning letters, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of regulatory authorities to
grant marketingapprovals for our cell therapies, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation,
seizures or recalls of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could damage our
reputation and our business.

Given we now manufacture celltherapiesatourown U.S. manufacturing facility and our allogeneic facility in
the U.K., and lentiviral vectors at a dedicated U.K. vector facility, regulatory authorities might raise non-compliance
issues or require us to make changes to the way in which we operate our facilities. This may result in a delay in our
ability to manufacture cell therapies at our own facility or in our ability to supply vector material for use in the
manufacturing process. Inaddition, any celltherapy or vector produced in any of our facilities might not be able to meet
regulatory requirements andwe may be unable to recruit and maintain sufficient staff to enable manufacture of products
within required timescales. Resourcing of cellmanufacturing facilities is increasingly competitive, which may restrict
the number of available skilled operators which can be recruited at our manufacturing facilities. Any failure to meet
regulatory requirements or produce cell therapies and vector according to regulatory requirements could result in delays
to ourclinical programs, potential side effects and even fatalities to patients and may result in withdrawal of regulatory
approval for our manufacturing facility.

As part of our BLA review process for afami-cel, our Navy Yard manufacturing facility will be inspected for
compliance with regulatory requirements. Should the facility fail to pass such inspectionand changes be required to the
facility or manufacturing process, there will be a delay in the approval of marketing authorization for afami-cel.

We have our own manufacturing capabilities which may result in increased costs being incurred by us.

During 2017, we opened a manufacturing facility for our T-cell products within our Navy Yard facility in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and have started manufacturing T-cells foruse in our clinicaltrials. Regulatory authorities, in
particularthe FDA, might not continueto approve our ability to manufacture T-cells or other cell therapies at the Navy
Yard facility. We opened a manufacturing facility in the U.K. for our off-the-shelf cell therapies in 2022 and
manufacture of celltherapies at that facility will require the obtaining of regulatory approval and maintenance of the
regulatory approval once obtained.
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Our ability to successfully manufacture our own cell therapies at our facilities within a reasonable period of
time and within currently projected costs is dependent on a number of factors including:

e our ability to recruit the required employees at a suitable level and experience and within required
timescales and to maintain employment of such required employees;

e ourability to obtain regulatory approval for the facility and for the manufacture of cell therapies at the
facility and to satisfy regulatory authorities on an ongoing basis;

e ourability to manufacture celltherapies reliably and reproducibly and to timescales sufficient to support
required patient administration;

e ourability to manufacture cell therapies in compliance with the applicable regulatory requirements,
including requirements applicable in the U.S., U.K. and EU;

e ourability to developinternal quality controls and processes sufficientto enable manufacture and supply of
cell therapies at our facilities;

e ourability to establish comparability with currently used manufacturing processes and for such
comparability data to be accepted by the appropriate regulatory authorities; and

e ourability to be able to fundthe ongoing development including equipment requirements necessary for
successful manufacture of cell therapies at our facilities.

Any delay or failure in manufacture at our facility could result in delays to the supply of cell therapies for our
clinical programs or for commercial supply. Should any of our third party manufacturers also cease to be able to or be
unable to supply cell therapiesata timewhere our own manufacturing facility is unable to produce celltherapies for use
in ourclinical programsorisunable to produce cell therapies at the required level, then we will be unable to support
such clinical programs until alternative manufacturing capability is secured.

Our autologous celltherapy products are patient-specificand we need to ensure that the correct product is
administered to the correct patient.

Administration of celltherapies is patient-specific. The process requires careful handling of patient-specific
products and fail-safetracking to ensure that thetracking process is without errorand that patient samples are tracked
from patient removal, through manufacturing and re-administrationto the same patient. While such mechanisms are in
place, should the tracking process fail, whether at our own facility, a third party facility or at any point in the
manufacturingandsupply process, a patientcould receiveanother patient’s T-cells resulting in significant toxicity and
potentially patient fatality. We will need to invest in enhancedsystems, such as bar coding, to further ensure fail safe
tracking. Thereisalwaysarisk of a failure in any such system. Inability to develop or adopt an acceptable fail-safe
trackingmethodology and handling regime may delay or prevent us from receiving regulatory approval and/or result in
significant toxicity and potentially patient fatality if a patient receives another patient’s T-cells. This risk may be
increased where celltherapies are used in clinical programs that we do not control or sponsor and, should an error be
madein the administration of our cell therapies in such clinical programs, this could affect the steps required in our own
clinical programs and manufacturing process requiring the addition of further tracking mechanisms to ensure fail-safe
tracking. The tracking systems required to further ensure safe patient administration may also require increased
administration to satisfy other regulatory requirements, for example, data protection requirements in Europe. The need to
ensure tracking systems are adequate and to comply with these additional regulatory requirements may result in delay to
the start of trials or the need to obtain additional regulatory licenses or consents prior to starting such trials.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation

Regulatory authorities may impose a hold on our clinical trials.

A clinicaltrialmay be suspended or terminated by us ora collaborator, IRBs for the institutions in which such
trials are being conducted, the Data Monitoring Committee for such trial, or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities
due to a number of factors, including failure to conductthe clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or
ourclinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities
resulting in the imposition ofa clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a
benefit fromusinga celltherapy, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate
fundingto continue theclinicaltrial. I we or our collaborators experience termination of, or delays in the completion of,
any clinicaltrial of our celltherapies, the commercial prospects for our cell therapies will be harmed, and our ability to
generateproduct revenuewill be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs,
slow our product development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate
revenue.

The FDA regulatory process can be difficult to predict, in particular whether for example, accelerated approval
processes are available or further unanticipated clinical trials are required will depend on the data obtained in our

ongoing clinical trials.

The regulatoryapproval process and the amount oftime it takes us to obtain regulatory approvals for our cell
therapies will dependon the data that are obtained in our ongoingclinical trialsand in one or more future registration or
pivotalclinicaltrials. We may attempt to seek approval on a perindication basis forour cell therapies on the basis of a
single pivotaltrial oron the basis of data from a Phase 2 trial. While the FDA requires in most cases two adequate and
well-controlled pivotal clinical trials to demonstrate the efficacy of a product candidate, a single trial with other
confirmatory evidence may besufficient wherethe trialis a large multicenter trial demonstrating internal consistency
and a statistically very persuasive finding of a clinically meaningful effect on mortality, irreversible morbidity or
prevention ofa disease with a potentially serious outcome and confirmation of the result in a second trial would be
practically orethically difficult. Depending on the data we obtain, the FDA or otherregulatory authorities may require
additional clinicaltrialsto be carried out or further patients tobe treated prior to the granting of any regulatoryapproval
formarketingof ourcell therapies. It is difficult for us to predict with such a novel technology exactly what will be
required by the regulatory authorities in order to take our cell therapies to market or the timeframes under which the

relevant regulatory approvals can be obtained.

Obtainingand maintaining regulatory approval of our cell therapiesin one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be
successful in obtaining regulatory approval of our cell therapies in other jurisdictions.

Obtainingand maintaining regulatory approval of our celltherapies in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that
we orourcollaborators will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or
delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may havea negativeeffect on the regulatory approval process
in others. Forexample, evenif the FDA grants marketing approval of a celltherapy, comparable regulatory authorities in
foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the cell therapy in those
countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review
periods different from, and greater than, those in the U.S., including additional preclinical programs or clinical trials as
clinicaltrials conducted in one jurisdiction may notbe accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many
jurisdictions outside the U.S., a cell therapy must be approved for reim bursement before it can be approved for sale in
that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we or our collaborators intend to charge for our cell therapies is also

subject to approval.

We may be unable to obtain breakthrough or similar designations for our cell therapies or maintain the benefits
associated with such designations.

In 2012, the FDA established a Breakthrough Therapy designation which is intended to expedite the
development and review of products that treat serious or life-threatening diseases when “preliminary clinical evidence
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indicates thatthe drugmay demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically
significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development.” The designation of a
cell therapy as a Breakthrough Therapy provides potential benefits thatinclude more frequent meetings with the FDA to
discussthe developmentplanforthe celltherapy andensure collection of appropriate data needed to support approval,
more frequent written correspondence from the FDA about things suchas the design of the proposed clinical trials and
use of biomarkers; intensive guidance on an efficient drug development program, beginning as early as Phase 1;
organizational commitment involving senior managers; and eligibility for rolling review and Priority Review.

We have obtained RMAT designation (Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy designation) from the FDA
forafami-cel for the treatmentof synovial sarcoma. We have also obtained RMAT designationfor ADP-A2M4CD8 for
the treatment of ovarian cancer. We may apply for similar status oraccelerated programs in other countries and for other
of ourproductsand indications. However, given the novel nature of our cell therapies, it is difficult for us to predict
whetherthe FDA orother regulatory authorities willapprove such requests or what further clinical or other data may be
required to support anapplication for such accelerated approval procedures. It is possible that the FDA could rescind our
RMAT orotherdesignations, if the agency determines that our cell therapies no longer meet the qualifying criteria.

Breakthrough Therapy and RMAT designations do notchange the standards for product approval, and products
with such designations do not always obtain marketing approval or timely marketing approval. Additionally, other
treatments from competing companies may obtain the designations and impactour ability to develop and commercialize
our cell therapy, which may adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of operation.

We may alsoseek Accelerated Approvalunderthe FDA’s Fast Track And Accelerated Approval programs, the
FDA may approve a drug or biologic for a serious or life-threatening iliness that provides meaningful therapeutic benefit
to patients over existing treatments based upon a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit,
or on a clinicalendpoint thatcan be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to
predictan effecton irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or
prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. For drugs and biologics granted
Accelerated Approval such as afami-cel, post-marketing confirmatory trials have been required to describe the
anticipatedeffect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit. These confirmatory trials must be
completedwith due diligence. Moreover, the FDA may withdrawapproval of our cell therapy or indication approved
under the accelerated approval pathway if, for example:

o thetrial ortrials required to verify the predicted clinical benefit of our cell therapy fail to verify such
benefit or do not demonstrate sufficient clinical benefit to justify the risks associated with the drug;

e otherevidencedemonstrates thatour celltherapy is not shownto be safe or effective under the conditions
of use;

o we fail to conduct any required post approval trial of our cell therapy with due diligence; or

o we disseminate false or misleading promotional materials relating to the relevant cell therapy.

The FDA’s Accelerated Approval program has comeunder increased scrutiny in recentyears from both intemal
and external stakeholders have raised concerns that confirmatory trials have not been completed or have not
demonstrated intended effect. Recentlegislation(FDORA)has increasedthe FDA’s authority to impose more stringent
requirements on thetiming and conduct of confirmatory trials, and on the FDA’s ability to expedite the withdrawal from
approval of a biological productwhen confirmatory trials have not been completed or do not show intended effect.

In Europe, the EMAhas implemented the so-called Priority Medicines ("PRIME") scheme in order support the
development and accelerate theapproval of complex innovative medicinal products addressingan unmet medical need.
The PRIME status enables early dialogue with the relevant EM A scientific committees and, possibly, some payers; and
thusreinforcesthe EMA's scientific and regulatory support. It also opens accelerated assessment of the marketing
authorizationapplication (150 days instead of 210 days). The PRIME scheme, which is decided by the EMA, isreserved
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formedicinal products thatmay benefit from accelerated assessment, i.e. medicines of major interest from a public
health perspective, in particular from a therapeutic innovation perspective.

In 2020, theEMA granted access to the PRIMEscheme to afami-cel for the treatment of certain patients with
synovial sarcoma. We may apply for PRIME status for other of our cell therapy products. There can be noassurance that

any application will be successful in obtaining PRIME status.

We will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which may resultin significant
additional expenseas well as significant penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience

unanticipated problems with our cell therapies.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our cell therapies will require surveillance to monitor the safety
and efficacy ofthecelltherapy. The FDAmay also require a REMS in orderto approve our cell therapies, which could
entail requirements fora medication guide, physician communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use,
such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools.

Later discovery of previously unknown problems with our cell therapies, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, orwith our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to
comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things:

e restrictionson ourability to conduct clinical trials, including full or partial clinical holds on ongoing or
planned trials;

e restrictions on such products’ manufacturing processes;
e restrictions on the marketing of a product;

e  restrictions on product distribution;

e requirements to conduct post-marketing clinical trials;
e untitled or warning letters;

e withdrawal of the products from the market;

o refusalto approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
o recall of products;

o fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenue;
e suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals;

o refusalto permit the import or export of our products;

e product seizure;

e injunctions;

e imposition of civil penalties; or

e criminal prosecution.
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The FDA’s and otherregulatory authorities’ policies may change, and additional government regulations may
be enactedthat could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our celltherapies. We cannot predict the likelihood,
natureorextent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the
U.S. or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new
requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval
that we may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Inaddition, if followingany pivotal clinicaltrial we were able to obtain accelerated approval of any of our cell
therapies, for example afami-cel, the FDA will require usto conducta confirmatorytrialortrials to verify the predicted
clinical benefit and additional safety studies. The results from the confirmatory trial or trials maynotsupport the clinical
benefit, which would result in the approval being withdrawn.

We may seek a conditional marketing authorizationin Europe for some or all of our current cell therapies, but we
may not be able to obtain or maintain such authorization.

As part of its marketing authorization process, the EMA may grant marketing authorizations for certain
categories of medicinal products on the basis of less complete data thanis normally required, when doing so may meet
unmetmedical needs of patients and serve the interestof public health. Insuch cases, it is possible forthe Committee for
Medicinal Products for Human Use, or CHMP, to recommend the granting of a marketing authorization, subject to
certain specific obligations to be reviewed annually, which is referred to asa conditional marketing authorization. This
may apply tomedicinal products forhuman use thatfallunder thecentralized procedure (EMA's scientific assessment
and European Commission's approval), including those that aim at the treatment, the prevention, or the medical
diagnosis of seriously debilitating diseases or life-threatening diseases and those designated as orphan medicinal
products.

A conditional marketing authorization may be granted when the CHMP finds that, although comprehensive
clinicaldatareferringto the safety and efficacy of the medicinal product have not been supplied, all the following
requirements are met:

o the benefit/risk profile of the medicinal product is positive;
o itis likely that the applicant will be in a position to provide the comprehensive clinical data;
e unmet medical needs will be fulfilled; and

o the benefit to public health of the immediate availability on the market of the medicinal product concerned
outweighs the risk inherent in the fact that additional data is still required.

The granting of a conditional marketing authorization is restricted to situations in which only the clinical part of
the applicationis not yet fully complete. Incomplete preclinical or quality data may only be acceptedif duly justifiedand
only in the case of a product intended to be used in emergency situations in response to public-health threats.
Conditional marketing authorizations are valid for one year, on a renewable basis. The holder will be required to
complete ongoingtrials orto conductnewtrials with a viewto confirming that the benefit-risk balance is positive. In
addition, specific obligations may be imposed in relation to the collection of pharmacovigilance data.
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Grantinga conditional marketing authorizationallows medicines to reach patients with unmet medical needs
earlierthan might otherwise be the case and will ensure that additional data on a product are generated, submitted,
assessedand actedupon. Although we may seek a conditional marketing authorization for one or more of our cell
therapies, the CHMP may ultimately not agree that the requirements for such conditional marketing authorization have
been satisfied. Thiswould delay the commercialization of our cell therapies as we would have to wait fora complete
data package before submitting the marketing authorization application.

We may not be able to obtain or maintain orphan drug exclusivity for our cell therapies.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, includingthe U.S.and Europe, may designate drugs or biologics
forrelatively small patientpopulations as orphandrugs. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in or
shorten theduration of the regulatory review and approval process, but it can lead to financial incentives, such as
opportunities for grant funding toward clinical trial costs, tax advantages in-lieu of R&D tax credits and user-fee
waivers.

Generally, if a productwith an orphandrugdesignation subsequently receives the first marketing approval for
the indication for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to a period of marketing exclusivity, which
precludestheEMA orthe FDA from approving another marketing authorization application for the same drug for that
time period. The applicable period isseven yearsin the U.S.and tenyearsin Europe. The European exclusivity period
can be reducedto six years if a drugno longer meets the criteria for orphan drug designation or if the drug is sufficiently
profitable so that market exclusivity isno longer justified. Orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA determines
that therequest for designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of
the drugto meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. In addition, a competitor could avoid our orphan
drugexclusivity, if its products is shown to be clinically superior. In Europe, the orphan exclusivity may be lost vis-a-vis
another drugin casesthemanufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug to meet patient needs or if that
otherproduct is proved to be clinically superior to the approved orphan product. Generally, the clinical superiority
standards inthe U.S.and in Europeare similar,and a product is clinically superior if it shows greater efficacy, greater
safety, or makes a major contribution to patient care.

As a result of Brexit,asof January 1, 2021, incentives relatedto anorphan designation granted in the EU are
limited to the EUand Ireland, butnot GreatBritain (England, Wales and Scotland). The competent authority in the U.K.
(MHRA) will reviewapplications for orphan designationat the time of a marketingauthorization, and has announced
that it will offerincentivesin the form of market exclusivity and full or partial refunds for marketing authorization fees
to encourage the development of medicines in rare diseases.

There can be noassurance that any of our cell therapies will be eligible fororphandrugdesignation in the U.S.
or in other jurisdictions or that it will obtain orphandrugexclusivity upon approval or that we will not lose orphan drug
designation for afami-cel. Inability to obtain orphan drug designation for a specific cell therapy or loss of such
designation forafami-celin the future would prevent any ability to take advantage of the financial benefits associated
with orphandrugdesignationandwould preclude us from obtaining marketing exclusivity upon approval, if any. Evenif
we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from
competition because different drugs can be approved for the same condition.

The FDA’s interpretation of the scope of orphan drug exclusivity has been the subject of recent litigation in the
Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Inthe Catalyst case, the appellate court concludedthat the FDA has impermissibly
narrowed the scopeof orphan exclusivity to the approved indication or use, rather thanthebroader disease or condition
which was the basis of the orphan drug designation. The FDA hasannouncedthat it will continue to follow its existing
regulations, notwithstanding the court decision. However, it is possible thatadditional litigation may arise, and there is
considerable uncertainty about the scope of any orphan drug exclusivity that our products may be awarded.

Any failure by us to comply with existing regulations could harm our reputation and operating results.

The production of cell therapies is highly regulated and subject to constant inspection. The regulatory
environmentmay also change from timeto time. Any failure to comply with regulatory requirements, whether in the
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U.S. or in other countries in which our celltherapies are supplied, may result in investigation by regulatory authorities,
suspension of regulatory authorizations and, as a result, suspension of clinical programs or ability to supply any of our
cell therapies and potentially significant fines or other penalties beingimposed in relationto any breach. Any failure may
also harmourreputation and impact our ability going forward to obtain regulatory approvals for other cell therapies or
require us to undertake additional organizational changes to minimizethe risk of further breach. A failure to comply may
apply to any partof our business, forexample, to the processes used for manufacture of our cell therapies (including the
reliability of the process) or to the processes used for treatment of patients (including tracking of patient product and
supply of patient-specific product).

Our research and development activities utilize hazardous, radioactive and biological materials. Should such
materials causeinjury or be used other than in accordancewith applicable laws and regulations, we may be liable for
damages.

We use hazardous andbiological reagents and materials in our research and development at our U.K. site. We
have obtained theappropriate certification or ensured thatsuch certification has beenobtained as required for the use of
these reagents but our use is subjectto compliance with applicable laws and there is a risk that should any third party or
employee sufferinjury ordamage from radioactive, hazardous or biological reagents that we may incur liability or
obligations to compensate such third parties or employees. We have employer’s liability insurance capped at
£10.0 million per occurrence and public liability insurance capped at £5.0 million per occurrence; however, these
amounts may be insufficient to compensate us if these events actually occur in the future.

We are subject to the U.K. Bribery Act, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-corruption laws, as
well as export control laws, customs laws, sanctions laws and other laws governing our operations. If we fail to
comply with these laws, we could be subject to civil or criminal penalties, other remedial measures, and legal
expenses, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operations are subject to anti-corruption laws, including the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, or Bribery Act, the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, and other anti-corruption laws that apply in countries where we do
business. The Bribery Act, the FCPA and these other laws generally prohibit usand our employees and intermediaries
from bribing, beingbribed or making other prohibited payments to government officials or other persons to obtain or
retain business or gain some other business advantage. Under the Bribery Act, we may also be liable for failing to
prevent a person associated with us from committinga bribery offense. We and our commercial partners may operate in
a number of jurisdictions that pose a high risk of potential Bribery Act or FCPA violations, and we participate in
collaborations and relationships with third parties whose actions, if non-compliant, could potentially subject us to
liability underthe Bribery Act, FCPA or localanti-corruption laws. In addition, we cannot predict the nature, scope or
effect of future regulatory requirements to which our international operations might be subject or the manner in which
existing laws might be administered or interpreted.

We are also subject to other laws and regulations governing our international operations, including regulations
administered by the governments of the U.K. and the U.S., and authorities in the EU, including applicable export control
regulations, economic sanctions on countries and persons, anti-money laundering laws, customs requirements and

currency exchange regulations, collectively referred to as the Trade Control laws.

However, there is no assurance that we will be completely effective in ensuring our compliance with all
applicable anti-corruption laws, including the Bribery Act, the FCPA or other legal requirements, including Trade
Control laws. If we are not in compliance with the Bribery Act, the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws or Trade
Control laws, we may be subject to criminal and civil penalties, disgorgement and other sanctions and remedial
measures, and legal expenses, which could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operationsand liquidity. Likewise, any investigation ofany potential violations of the Bribery Act, the FCPA, otheranti-
corruptionlaws or Trade Control laws by U.K., U.S. or other authorities could also have an adverse impact on our

reputation, our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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If we are found inviolation of federal or state “fraud and abuse” or other health care laws, we may be required to
pay a penalty and/or be suspended from participation in federal or state health care programs, which may adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we obtain marketingapproval for our products in the U.S., if at all, we will be subject to various federal and
state health care “fraud and abuse” and other health care laws. Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors
play a primary role in the recommendationand use of pharmaceutical products that are granted marketing approval.
Accordingly, arrangements with third-party payors, existing or potential customers and referral sources are subject to
broadly applicable fraudandabuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, and these laws and regulations may
constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which manufacturers market, selland

distribute the products for which they obtain marketing approval.

Such restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following the
Anti-Kickback Statute, the Healthcare Reform Act, the False Claims Act, or FCA, federal criminal laws that prohibit
executinga scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;
the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA).

Public reporting under the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, or Sunshine provisions, and other similar state
laws, hasresulted in increased scrutiny of the financial relationships between biopharmaceutical companies, teaching
hospitals, physicians and other health care providers. Such scrutiny may negatively impact our ability to engage with
physicians and other health care providers on matters of importanceto us. In addition, government agencies and private
entities may inquire aboutour marketing practices or pursue other enforcement activities based on the disclosures in
those public reports. Ifthe data reflected in our reports are found tobe in violation ofany of the Sunshine provisions or
any other U.S. federal, state or local laws or regulations that may apply, or if we otherwise fail to comply with the
Sunshine provisions or similar requirements of state or local regulators, we may be subject to significant civil, and
administrative penalties, damages or fines.

Violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations may result in
penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring of operations, the
exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs and imprisonment. Furthermore, efforts to ensure
that business activities and business arrangements comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations can be costly
formanufacturers of branded prescription products. Additionally, if we are found in violation of one or more of these
laws our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

The U.K.’s withdrawal from the EU may adverselyimpact our and our collaborators’ ability to obtain regulatory
approvalsofourdrug candidates inthe U.K. and EU and may require us to incur additional expenses to develop,
manufacture and commercialize our drug candidates in the U.K. and EU.

We are headquartered in the U.K. The U.K. formally exited the EU, commonly referred to as Brexit,on January 31,
2020. Underthe terms of itsdeparture, the U.K. entered a transition period, or the Transition Period, during which it
continuedto followall EU rules, which ended on December 31,2020. On December 30, 2020, the U.K. and EU signed
the EU-U.K. Trade and Cooperation Agreement (“TCA”), which includes an agreement on free trade between the two
parties and has been provisionally applicable since January 1, 2021.

Since January 1,2021 the U.K. has operated under a separate regulatory regime to the European Union. European
Union laws regarding medicinal products only apply in respect ofthe U.K. to Northern Ireland (as set outin the Protocol
on Ireland/Northern Ireland). The EU laws that have beentransposed into U.K. lawthrough secondary legislation remain
applicable. While the U.K. has indicated a general intention that new law regarding thedevelopment, manufacture and
commercialization of medicinal products in the U.K. will align closely with EU lawthere are limited detailed proposals
forfuture regulation of medicinal products. The TCA includes specific provisions concerning medicinal products, which
include the mutual recognition of Good Manufacturing Practice, or GMP, inspections of manufacturing facilities for
medicinal productsand GMP documents issued (such mutual recognition can be rejected by either party in certain
circumstances), butdoes notforesee wholesale mutual recognition of U.K. and EU pharmaceutical regulations including
in relation to batchtestingand pharmacovigilance, which remain subjectto further negotiation. Therefore, there remains
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politicaland economic uncertainty regarding to what extentthe regulation of medicinal products will differ between the
U.K. and the EU in the future.

Since a significantproportion of theregulatory framework in the U.K. applicable to our business and our drug
candidates is derived from European Union directives and regulations, the withdrawal has and could continue to
materially impact the regulatory regime with respect to the development, manufacture, importation, approval and
commercializationof our celltherapiesin the U.K. or the European Union. Great Britain is no longer covered by the
European Union’s procedures for the grantof marketing authorizations (Northern Ireland is covered by the centralized
authorization procedure and can be covered under the decentralized or mutual recognition procedures). A separate
marketing authorization will be required to market drugs in Great Britain. It is currently unclear whether the Medicines
and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency in the U.K.is sufficiently prepared to handle the increased volume of
marketingauthorizationapplications that it is likely to receive. Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any
marketing approvals, as a result of Brexit or otherwise, would prevent us and our collaborators or delay us in
commercializingany of our products in the U.K. and/or the EU and may restrict our ability to generate revenue and
achieve sustainable profitability.

Following Brexit, there is no pre-marketing authorization orphan designation in Great Britain, instead an
application for orphandesignationismade at the same time as an application for marketing authorization. Orphan
designation in the U.K. (or Great Britain, depending on whether there isa prior centralized marketing authorization in
the EEA) following Brexit based onthe prevalence of the condition in Great Britain as opposed to the current position
where prevalence in the EU isthe determinant. It is therefore possible that conditions that are currently designated as
orphan conditions in the U.K., or Great Britain, will no longer be and that conditions are not currently designated as
orphan conditions in the European Union will be designated as such in the U.K., or Great Britain.

There is a degree of uncertainty regarding the overall impact that Brexit will have in the long-term on the
development, manufacturing and commercialization of pharmaceutical products, including the process to obtain
regulatoryapprovalin the U.K. fordrug candidates and theaward of exclusivities that are normally part of the European
Union legal framework (for instance Supplementary Protection Certificates, Pediatric Extensions or Orphan exclusivity).
Any divergence between the regulatory environments in place in the European Union and the U.K. could lead to
increased costs and delays in bringing drug candidates to market.

Because certain regulatory authorizations within the EU canonly be held by entities located in the EU, we have set
up an EU subsidiary, Adaptimmune B.V.. This subsidiary currently holds orphan designation for our ADP-A2M4
product. We have also set up a third party to actasa qualified personto release productforuse inthe EUand ensure we
can continue totreat patients in our EU clinicaltrials. Additional resources and requirements may be required to enable
usto continueto hold requiredauthorizations including marketing authorization in the EU and to commercialize our cell
therapies in the EU.

In addition, we may be required to pay taxes or duties or be subjected to other hurdles in connection with the
importation of ourdrug candidates intothe European Union, or we may incur expenses in establishinga manufacturing
facility in the EU to circumvent such hurdles, all of which may make our doing business in the EU and the EEA more
difficult. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to restrict or delay efforts to seek regulatory approval in the
U.K. or the EU forourdrugcandidates, orincursignificant additional expenses to operate our business, which could
significantly and materially harm or delay our ability to generate revenues or achieve profitability of our business.

As a result of Brexit, other European countries may seek to conduct referenda with respect to their continuing
membership with the European Union. Given these possibilities and others we may not anticipate, as wellas the absence
of comparable precedent, it isunclear what financial, regulatory and legal implications the withdrawal of the U.K. from
the European Union willhave in the long-term and how such withdrawal will affectus, and the full extent to which our
business could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Reliance Upon Third Parties

We rely on Genentech Inc. inrelation to the performance of collaboration agreements between us for the further
development of ‘off-the-shelf’ cell therapies.
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Developmentof allogeneic T-celltherapies and our ability to commercialize those allogeneic T-cell therapies
may depend heavily on the performance of Genentech under the ongoing collaboration (the “Genentech Collaboration”)
and payments made by our collaborators to us in relation to such development. In particular:

e Researchfunding, development or sales milestones or productroyalties or any other sums might not
become due or payable to usatanytimeoron the timeframes currently expected under the Genentech

Collaboration.

e Ourcollaboratorshave a right to terminate programs under the Genentech Collaboration and the
agreements in whole or in part on provisionof prior written notice. Termination may impact not only
ourrequirementforadditional investment or capital but also the timeframes within which current
research and development programs (including clinical programs) can be performed or whether we can
continue to perform those research and development programs at all. Termination may also impact our
ability to access and use certain collaborator technology within our own allogeneic platform and
products arising from that platform.

e Anyresearchordevelopment planagreed upon in our collaborations may be delayed (includingas a
result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic) or may be unsuccessful or fail to result in therapies
that are feasible for further development or commercialization.

e Thetimingforcommercialization of any products under the Genentech Collaboration is currently
unknown and will depend on the targets selected , the type of allogeneic T-cell therapy being
developedand the timing of performance of obligations under the relevant collaboration agreement.

e Changes to the development plans or agreement may impact the timing and extent of milestone
payments, the amount of research funding received, the nature of the relationship with our
collaborators or the scope of the collaboration.

e Delay in performance of responsibilitiesunderany research or development plan could impact our
ability to progress T-cell therapies through research and development, including where Genentech Inc.
delays the performance of any of its responsibilities.

e Genentech has the ability to influence or control certain decisions relating to the development of
therapies covered by the Genentech Collaboration. This ability could result in delays to the research
and development programs covered by the collaboration or changes to the scope of those programs,

including the disease indications relevant to such clinical programs.
We rely heavily on ThermoFisher and the technology that we license from them.

The ability to use the ThermoFisher Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology toisolate, activateandexpand T-cells
is importantto ourongoingability to offer T-cells. In December 2012, we entered into a series of license and sub-license
agreements with Life Technologies Corporation (now part of ThermoFisher Scientific Inc. (“Thermofisher”)), such
agreements havingbeenamendedas of November 2019. Theseagreements provide us with a field -based non-exclusive
license under certain intellectual property rights owned or controlled by ThermoFisher in relation to the methods of use
of the ThermoFisher Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology to isolate, activateand expand T-cells and enable transfection
of the T-cellswith any TCR genes to manufacture our TCR products and use and sell those TCR products to treat
cancer, infectious diseaseand/or autoimmune disease. We also have a field-based non-exclusive sub-license under
certain other patents which cover themethod of use of the Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 and are controlled by ThermoFisher
undera head-license from the University of Michigan, the United States Navy and the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute.

In June 2016, we entered into a supply agreement with ThermoFisher for the supply of the Dynabeads®

CD3/CD28technology. Thesupply agreement runs until December 31,2025. ThermoFisher has the right to terminate
the abovedescribed agreements for material breach orinsolvency. On termination of the licenseagreements, the supply
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agreementwill also automatically terminate. If ThermoFisher terminates the non-exclusive license, sub-license and
supply agreements or otherwise refuses or is unable to supply the Dynabeads® product, we will have to seek an
alternative source ofthe beads ordevelopanalternative process methodology to enable supply of our cell therapies.
Should ThermoFisher change its process or make changes to its product, we may have to validate those changes to
ensure there is no impact to our cell therapies. Suchvalidation, including any comparability testing, will take additional
time and resources.

We rely onthird parties to manufactureand supplyour cell therapies and to develop next-generation cell therapies,
and we may have to rely on third parties to produce and process our cell therapies, if approved.

We rely on a limited number of third-party manufacturers and third party service providers for clinical trial
productsupplies and services ateach stage of the manufacturing process, and as a result we are exposedto the following
risks:

e We may be unable to contract with manufacturers oncommercially acceptable terms or at all because the
number of potential manufacturers is limited and the FDA, EMA and other comparable foreign regulators
must approve any replacement manufacturer, which would require new testing and compliance inspections.
Inaddition,a new manufacturer would have to be educated in, and develop substantially equivalent
processes for, production of our cell therapies after receipt of any applicable regulatory approval.

e We may not be able to obtain lentiviral delivery manufacturing slots with third party contract
manufacturers within the timescales we require for supply of lentiviral delivery vector or to obtain agreed

dates for such manufacturing slots sufficiently in advance of the requirement for supply.

e  Our third-party manufacturers might be unable to timely formulate and manufacture our cell therapies or
producethe quantity and quality required to meet our clinical trial and commercial needs or to provide
commercially viable product onthe timelines we require orat all, which may necessitate a change in third-
party manufacturers ora requirement to further develop internal capabilities, all of which may result in
delays to clinical trials or to commercialization plans.

e  With any newmanufacturing process or new CMO we will need to transfer the manufacturing process or
new processto that CMO. Any delay in the development and transfer of these new processes to the third -
party contract supplier or inability of the third-party contract supplier to replicate or carry out the
transferred process at theappropriate leveland quality orin a reproducible fashion will result in delays in
ourability to progress clinical programs, further develop our cell therapies and obtain marketing approval
forour cell therapies.

e Introductionofnewraw material orintermediate material manufacturers, suchas CMOs for vectors, may
require comparability testing to be carried outto show thatthe manufacturing process and end material is
comparable to the currently used manufacturing process and/or material. Any inability to show
comparability ordelay in comparability testing may result in delaystothe supply of theaffected materials
and as a result delays to clinical trials.

e Contractmanufacturers may not beable to execute our manufacturing procedures appropriately, or we may
be unable to transfer our manufacturing processes to contract manufacturers successfully or without
additionaltimeand cost. Even where CMOs fail to manufacture our cell therapies successfully, it may not

be possible to achieve re-manufacture quickly or without expending resources or additional costs.

e  Our future contract manufacturers may not perform as agreed, may be acquired by competitors or may not
remain in the contract manufacturing business for the time required to supply our clinical trials or to
successfully produce, store and distribute our cell therapies. In addition, contract manufacturers may not
manufacture within agreed timescales for manufacture and/or may cancel pre-agreed manufacturing slots,
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which would result in delays in manufacturing and could require us to find replacement manufacturers
which may not be available to us on favorable terms or at all.

o Manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA, EMA, and other
comparable foreign regulators and corresponding state agencies to ensure strict compliance with cGMP and
othergovernment regulations and corresponding foreign standards. Although we do not have day-to-day
control over third-party manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards, we are
responsible for ensuring compliance with such regulations and standards.

¢ Wemay notown, ormay have to share, the intellectual property rights to any improvements made by our
third-party manufacturers in the manufacturing process for our cell therapies. Our third party manufacturers
may useprocesses which infringe or potentially infringe third party intellectual property rights which may
resultin inability to use such processes going forward, an increase in the pricing of such processes or a
need to change a different process.

e  Our third party manufacturers may fail to perform testingand analysis services accurately, in a manner that
can be interpreted oron atimely basis. Thiscould delay or prevent release of our cell therapies and as a
result delay clinical trials and patient treatment.

e  Our third-party manufacturers could breach or terminate their agreement with us.

e  Our third-party manufacturers may cease tobe able to do business with us (whether forinsolvency or other
reasons, including takeover, merger or acquisition) at a time when we are unable to source such
manufacture elsewhere or at our own manufacturing facility.

e Increased costs, unexpected delays, equipment failures, lack of reproducibility, labor shortages, natural
disasters, power failures and numerous other factors which are outside of our control or which may be
imposedby our CMOs. For example, movingto commercial phase manufacture usually incurs increased
costand qualification requirementsatour CMOs. Such costs may beprohibitive, or such activities may not
be able to be performed within appropriate timelines.

e Our collaborators or third party contract manufacturers may allocate their resources, materials, and services
away from our celltherapy programs, for example, to utilize suchassets onthe research, development and
manufacture of COVID-19 vaccines or therapies.

Certain ofthe components required for manufacturing of our cell therapies comefrom sole source or limited source
suppliers.

Certain raw materials or precursor materials used in the manufactureand supply of our celltherapies may come
from sole source or limited source suppliers. For example, there are currently a limited number of third party
manufacturers within the U.S. thatcan supply us with our lentiviral delivery vector and ThermoFisher is currently the
only supplier of the Dynabeads® CD3/CD28technology. Should such suppliers be unable to supply or manufacture such
raw materials or precursor materials either at all or within required timescales we may be unable to supply our cell
therapies or such supply may be significantly delayed. Inability to obtain such raw materials or precursor materials may
also necessitate changes in the manufacturing process used for supply of our cell therapies. Such changes to the
manufacturing process may need to be developed internally or by a third party and may also require additional
regulatoryapprovalsto be obtained before they canbe used for the manufacture and supply of our cell therapies for
clinical trials.

Inaddition, we are focusing manufacture of our cell therapies in a few manufacturing sites, namely our Navy
Yard facility for certainautologous cell therapies and our new U.K. facility forallogeneic cell therapies and with a third
party contractmanufacturer for lete-cel. Should any facility be unable to manufacture our cell therapies for any reason,
including natural disaster, contamination or forany regulatory reason, we may be unable to supply celltherapies for our
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clinicaltrials unless we can procure manufacture froma third party manufacturer. There isno assurance that we will be
able to procure manufacture from a third party manufacturer or that such manufacture will be provided within the
timescales we require oratanacceptable price. Any change in manufacturer usedto produce our cell therapies requires
notification to regulatory authorities which canbe time consuming. There is no assurance thatregulatory authorities will
agree that any change in manufacturer is acceptable or that the processesused at such manufacturer are comparable to
the processes previously used and additional evidence of comparability may be required.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials.

We depend upon independent investigators and collaborators, such as universities, medical institutions, CROs
and strategic partners to conduct our preclinical programs and sponsored clinical trials under agreements with us. We
expect to haveto negotiate budgets and contracts with CROs and trial sites (either directly or through a third party
consultant), which may result in delays to our developmenttimelines and increased costs. We rely heavily onthese third
partiesoverthe course of ourclinicaltrials, and we do not have day-to-day control of their activities. Nevertheless, we
are responsible for ensuring that each of our trials is conducted in accordance with applicable protocols and legal,
regulatoryand scientific standards, and our reliance onthird parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities.

We and thesethird parties are required to comply with cGCPs, which are regulations and guidelines enforced
by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for cell therapies in clinical development. Regulatory
authorities enforce these cGCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If
we orany of these third parties fail to comply with applicable cGCP regulations and guidelines (including as a result of
the outbreak of COVID-19), the clinical data generated in our clinicaltrials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our
marketing authorizationapplications. Moreover, our business may be implicated if any of these third parties violates
federal or state fraud and abuse or false claims laws and regulations or healthcare privacy and security laws.

Any third parties conducting our clinicaltrials are not and will not be ouremployees and, except for remedies
available to usunder our agreements with suchthird parties which could be limited, we cannot control whether or not
they devote sufficienttime and resources to ourongoing clinical trials and preclinical programs. Thesethird parties may
also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, forwhom they may also be conducting
clinicaltrials or otherdrugorbiologic development activities, which could affect their performance on our behalf. If
these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines
(includingasa result of the outbreak of COVID-19), if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the
clinical datathey obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements
or forotherreasons, ourclinicaltrials maybe extended, delayed or terminated and we may not be able to complete
development of, obtain regulatory approval of, or successfully commercialize our cell therapies. As a result, our
financial results and thecommercial prospects for our celltherapies would be harmed, our costs could increase and our
ability to generate revenue could be delayed.

Switchingoraddingthird parties to conductour clinical trials involves substantial cost and requires extensive
management timeand focus. Inaddition, there is a natural transition period whena newthird party commences work. As
a result, delays may occur, which can materially impactour ability to meet our timelines for bringing our cell therapies
to market, if at all.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We may be forced to litigateto enforceor defend our intellectual property rights, and/or the intellectual property
rights of our licensors.

We may be forcedto litigate to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights against infringement and
unauthorized use by competitors, and to protect our trade secrets. In so doing, we may placeour intellectual property at
risk of beinginvalidated, held unenforceable, narrowed in scope or otherwise limited. Further, an adverse result in any
litigation ordefense proceedings may increase the risk of non-issuance of pending applications. In addition, if any
licensor fails to enforce or defendits intellectual property rights, this may adversely affect our ability to develop and
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commercialize our T-cellsandto prevent competitors from making, using, and selling competing products. Any such
litigation could be very costly and could distract our management from focusing on operating our business. The
existence and/or outcome ofany such litigation could ham our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Furthermore, because of thesubstantialamount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property
litigation, there isa risk thatsome of our confidentialand proprietary information could be compromised by disclosure
duringthistype of litigation. In addition, therecould be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or
other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it

could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our ADSs.

We may alsobe forcedto defend our intellectual property rights in opposition proceedings in front of patent
officesin orderto obtain or continueto hold granted patent rights. Our inability to successfully defend our patents and
patent applications in opposition proceedings may result in a reduction in the scope of protection offered by such patents
or patentapplications or alternatively the patents or patent applications may be revoked. Anonymous third party
oppositions havebeenlodged against certain of our European patents. None of these oppositions relate to any cases
which claim any of our clinical candidates.

We may not be able to protect our proprietary technology in the marketplace or the cost of doing so may be
prohibitive or excessive.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain patents, protect our trade secrets and operate without
infringing on the proprietary rights of others. We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection (i.e., know-
how), and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual property of our celltherapies. However, patent protection
may not be available for some of the cell therapies or technology we are developing. If we must spend significant time
and money protecting or enforcing our patents, designingaround patents held by others or licensing, potentially for large
fees, patents or other proprietary rights held by others, our business results of operations and financial condition may be

harmed.

Proceedings to enforce our patentrights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our
efforts andattention from other aspects of our business. Enforcement of patents may also be cost prohibitive and we may
be unable to prevent competitors from entering the market with products that are similar to or the same as our cell
therapies.

Inaddition, patents have a limited lifespan. In most countries, includingthe U.S., the standard expiration of a
patent is 20 years from the effective filing date. VVarious extensions of patent term may be available in particular
countries; however, in all circumstances thelife of a patent, andthe protection it affords, has a limited term. If patent
term extensionis not available, our competitors may beable to takeadvantage of our investment in development and
clinicaltrials by referencing our clinicaland non-clinical data, and thenmay be able to launch their product earlier than
might otherwise be the case.

We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary know-howand technological advances, especially where we
do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We rely, in
part, on confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored
researchers and otheradvisors to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information. These agreements may not
effectively preventdisclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of
unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. Proceedings to enforcetrade secrets canbe costprohibitive and we

may be unable to prevent our competitors using our trade secrets.
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If third parties claim that our activities or products infringe upon their intellectual property, our operations could be
adversely affected.

There is a substantial amount of litigation, both within and outside the U.S., involving patents and other
intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical industry. If we or our third party suppliers were found to infringe upon
a patentorotherintellectual property right, or if we failed to obtainor renewa license under a patent or other intellectual
propertyright from athird party, orif a third party thatwe were licensing technologies fromwas foundto infringe upon
a patentorotherintellectual property rights of another third party, we may berequiredto pay damages, including triple
damages if the infringement is found to be willful, suspend the manufacture of certain of our cell therapies or reengineer
or rebrand our cell therapies, if feasible, orwe maybe unable to enter certain new product markets. Any such claims
could also be expensive and time- consuming to defend and divert management’s attention and resources.

Licenses may be required fromthird partiesin relationto any of cell therapies developed or commercialized by us.

We may identify third-party intellectual property rights that are required to enable the further development,
commercialization, manufacture or development of our cell therapies or other cell therapies, including our allogeneic cell
therapies. Licenses to such intellectual property rights may or may not be available on commercial terms that are
acceptable to us. Asa result we may incur additional license fees for such intellectual property rights, or the cost and
expenses to identify analternative route for commercialization, that does not require the relevant third-party intellectual
propertyrights, orthe costand diversion of resources required to challenge any such third party intellectual property
rights.

Where we license certain technology from a third party, the prosecution, maintenance and defense of the patent
rights licensed from such third party may be controlled by the third party which may impact the scope of patent

protection which will be obtained or enforced.

Where we license patent rights or technology from a third-party, control of such third party patent rights may
vest in the licensor, particularly where the license is non-exclusive or field restricted. This may meanthat we are notable
to controloraffectthe scopeof theclaims of any relevantthird-party patent or have control over any enforcement of
such a patent. Where a licensor brings an enforcement action, this could negatively impact our business or result in
additional restrictions being imposed on the license we have and the scope of such license or result in invalidation or
limitation ofthe scopeof thelicensed patent. In addition, should we wish to enforce the relevant patent rights against a
third person, we may be reliant onconsent from therelevant licensor or the cooperation of the licensor. The licensor may
refuse to bring such action and leave us unable to restrict competitor entry into the market.

Issued patents protecting our T-cells or other cell therapies couldbe found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in
court or at the USPTO.

If we or one of ourcollaborators initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent protecting
one of ourcelltherapies, thedefendant could counterclaim that the patent protecting our cell therapy, as applicable, is
invalid and/or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the U.S., defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or
unenforceability are commonplace, and there are numerous grounds upon which a third party can assert invalidity or
unenforceability of a patent. Third parties may alsoraise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United States
or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post grant review, and
equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in
revocation oramendment to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our cell therapies.

General Business Risks
We depend upon our key personnel and our ability to attract and retain employees.
We are heavily dependenton theongoingemployment and involvement of certainkey employees in particular,

Adrian Rawcliffe, our Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Helen Tayton-Martin, our Chief Business and Strategy Officer;
William Bertrand, our Chief Operating Officer; John Lunger, our Chief Patient Supply Officer; Dr. Joanna Brewer, our
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Chief Scientific Officer; Dr. Elliot Norry, our Chief Medical Officer; and Gavin Wood, our Chief Financial Officer. We
do not hold key-man insurance for our senior managers.

Our business is dependent on our ability to recruit experienced and suitably trained employees or consultants,
and to retain such employees on a long-term basis. Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our
management, scientific and development teams may terminate their employment with us on short notice which could
result in usbeingunable to conduct our business in accordance with currenttimelinesand priorities. Although we have
employment agreements with allof our employees in the U.K., these employment agreements provide for a mutual
nine months’ noticeperiodin the caseof Dr. Tayton-Martin, Mr. Wood and Dr. Brewer; mutual three months’ or two
months’ notice periods in the case of senior managers and mutual one-month notice periods for all other employees. In
the U.S., the employment agreements provide for at-willemploymentexcept that, under theiremployment agreements,
Mr. Rawcliffe, Mr. Bertrand, Mr. Lunger and Dr. Norry must provide 60 days’ written notice and our senior vice-
presidents must provide 30 days’ written notice. This means that any of our employees in the U.S., except for Mr.
Rawcliffe, Mr. Bertrand, Mr. Lunger, Dr. Norry and our senior vice-presidents, could leave our employment at any time,
with or without notice. In November 2022, we announced a headcount reduction and de-prioritization of non-core
programs to extend our cash runway. Any headcount reduction may impact our ability to retain other experienced
members of staffwhich could in turn impact our ability to progress our developmentprograms onthe timelines currently
expected.

We may engage in strategic transactions that could impact our liquidity, increase our expenses and present
significant distractions to our management.

From time to time, we may consider strategic transactions, suchas acquisitions of companies, asset purchases
and out-licensingor in-licensing of products, drug candidates or technologies. Any such transaction will result in an
impact on resource requirements and expenditure and may pose significant integration challenges or disrupt our
management or business. For example, these transactions may entail numerous operational and financial risks, including
exposure to additional liabilities, incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances or equity to pay for transactions,
changes in ourmanagement, increases in our costs and expenses beyond those expected, difficulty in integrating the new
company or assets and impacts to relationships with third parties.

We will need to grow the size and capabilities of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing
this growth.

As of December 31,2023, we had 449 employees. As our development and commercialization plans and
strategies develop, we will need to adda significant number of additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing,
financial,and other personnel. Future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on members of management,
including:

¢ identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining, and motivating additional employees;
e managingourinternal developmentefforts effectively, includingthe clinical and FDA review process for

our cell therapies, while complying with our contractual obligations to contractorsand other third parties;
and

e improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems, and procedures.

Our management may alsohaveto diverta disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day
activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing growth activities and the resourcing of

replacement employees in the event employees leave.
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We expect toface intense competition, which may be from companies with greater resources and experience than we
have.

The phamaceutical industry, and the immuno-oncology industry specifically, is highly competitive and subject
to rapid developments in treatment options. Competitors include large global pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology
companies, specialty immune-therapy companies and universities and research organizations, whether alone or in
collaborationwith other entities. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and other
resources, suchas larger researchand development staff and may also be able to progress clinical candidates through
clinical studies quickerthanwe are able to. Mergers and acquisitions within the pharmaceutical and biotechnology
industry can also result in resources being concentrated within our competitors. Our competitors may also have better
developed commercialization capabilities and already established sales forces and manufacturing capability.

Within in any particular cancer indication we may face competition from other cell therapy companies, from
personalized medicineapproaches, from other modalities of treatment, alternative drug products or therapies or from

pre-existing treatment regimens used to treat patients with that cancer indication.

Our internal information technology systems, or those of our partners, third-party CROs or other contractors or
consultants, may fail or suffer cybersecurity incidents, including related to data protection and privacy laws and

adversely affect our business and operations.

In the ordinary course of business, we collect, store, use, transmit, disclose and otherwise process proprietary,
confidentialandsensitive data (including personal data such as health-related data), intellectual property and trade
secrets. We may process such informationon our internal networks or rely uponthird-party service providers, partners,
CROsand other contractor and consultants, and technologies, to operate critical business systems to process such
informationin a variety of contexts (including, without limitation, third-party providers of cloud-based infrastructure,
personnelemailand other functions). Despite the implementation of security policies and procedures, the computer
systemsonwhich such information is processed or stored may be subject to cybersecurity threats. Our third-party
providers mayalsobe subject to cybersecurity threats which they donotdetecton a timely basisand which may in turn
impact our business.

We may notbe able to anticipate all types of security threats, and we may notbe able to implement preventive
measures effectiveagainst all such security threats. Inthe event of a cybersecurity attack, breach loss or compromise of
critical or sensitive information, including personal information, and could give rise to legal liability and regulatory
action under data protectionand privacy laws such as the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) and releva nt
member state law in the European Union, the California Consumer Privacy Act and the California Privacy Rights Act
(“CCPA”), and other domestic state and federal privacy laws that have been or may be passedsuchas HIPAA, and such
laws may result in liability through privateactions and enforcement or could greatly increase our cost of providing our
productsandservices oreven prevent us from offering certain services in jurisdictions in which we operate. Moreover,
because we maintain sensitive company data on our computer networks, including our intellectual property and
proprietary business information, any such security breach may compromise information stored on our networks and
may result in significantdata losses or theft of our intellectual property or proprietary business information. Our current
cybersecurity liability insurance, and any such insurance that we may obftain in the future, may not cover the damages we
would sustain based onany breach of our computer security protocols or other cybersecurity attack. To the extent that
any disruption or security breach results in a loss of ordamage toour data orapplications or other data or applications
relatingto ourtechnology or productcandidates, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information,
our reputation could be harmed and we could incur significant liabilities and the further development, clinical
evaluation, or commercialization of our product candidates could be disrupted.

We are exposed to risks related to currency exchange rates.
We conducta significant portion of our operations within the U.K.in both U.S. dollars and pounds sterling and
ourarrangements with GSK are denominated in pounds sterling. Changes in currency exchange rates havehadand could

have asignificanteffect on our operating results. Exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollarand local currencies
create risk in severalways, includingthe following: weakening of the pound sterlingmay increase the cost of overseas
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research and development expenses and other costs outsidethe U.K.; strengthening of the U.S. dollar may decrease the
value of any future revenues denominated in other currencies. Effects of exchange rates on transactions and cash
deposits held in a currency other than the functional currency of a subsidiary can distort our financial results; and
commercial pricing and profit margins are affected by currency fluctuations.

Risks Related to Ownership of our American Depositary Shares (ADSs)

The market price and trading volume of our ADSs may be volatile.

Many factors may have a material adverse effecton themarket price of the ADSs, including but not limited to:

the commencement, enroliment or results of our planned clinical trials;
the loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel;

announcements of the failure to obtain regulatory approvals or receipt of a complete response letter from
the FDA;

announcements of undesirable restricted labeling indications or patient populations, or changes ordelays in
regulatory review processes;

announcements of therapeutic innovations or new products by us or our competitors;

adverseactions takenby regulatory agencies with respectto our clinical trials, manufacturing supply chain
or sales and marketing activities;

changes or developments in laws or regulations applicable to T-cells;

any adverse changes to our relationship with licensors, manufacturers or suppliers;

the failure of our testing and clinical trials;

unanticipated safety concerns;

the failure to retain our existing, or obtain new, collaboration partners;

announcements concerning our competitors or the pharmaceutical industry in general;

the achievement of expected product sales and profitability;

the failure to obtain reimbursements for T-cells, if approved for marketing, or price reductions;
manufacture, supply or distribution shortages;

acquisitions or mergers and business deals announced by our competitors;

the progress of competing treatment options and products or advent of new products which could impact
the uptake or commercial value of our cell therapies;

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

our cash position;
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e changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

e potential acquisitions;

e thetrading volume of ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“ Nasdaq™);

e sales of our ADSs by us, our executive officers and directors or our shareholders in the future;

e generaleconomic and market conditions and overall fluctuations in the U.S. equity markets including as
resulting from the COVID-19 outbreak and economic effects of such outbreak; and

e changes in accounting principles.

In addition, the stock market in general, and Nasdaq and biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have oftenbeen unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our ADSs,
regardless of ouractual operating performance. Further, a decline in the financial markets and related factors beyondour
controlmay cause theprice of our ADSs to decline rapidly and unexpectedly. In the past, securities class action litigation
has often beeninstituted against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation
could result in substantial costs and could divert our management and other resources.

If we are no longer able to meet the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, our ADSs may
be delisted.

The Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”), on which our ADSs are listed and traded, has listing
requirements thatinclude a $1.00 minimum closing bid price requirement. We previously received a deficiency letter
from Nasdagon August 31,2023, as our ADSs had traded below $1.00 for 30 consecutive days. We subsequently
received a letter from Nasdaq on February 16,2024 confirming thatwe had regained compliance with their minimum
bid price requirement for continued listingon The Nasdaqg Global Select Market. However, thereis no guarantee that we
will not fall out of compliance again. If we were to fall out of compliance and remain out of compliance, Nasdaq may
elect, subjectto any potential additional cure periods, to initiate a process that could delist our ADSs from trading on
Nasdag. Should sucha delisting occur, it would adversely impact the liquidity and price of our ADSs and would impede
our ability to raise capital.

Substantial future salesof our ADSs inthe publicmarket, or the perception that these sales could occur, could cause
the price of the ADSs to decline and dilute shareholders.

Substantial future sales of our ADSs in the public market, or the perception that these sales could occur, could
cause themarket price of the ADSsto decline. Salesofa substantial number of our ADSs in the public market could
occuratanytime. In addition, we have registeredanaggregate of 365,181,309 ordinary shares that we may issue under
ourequity compensation plansand, as a result, they can be freely sold in the public marketupon issuance and following
conversion into ADSs, but subject to volume limitations applicable to affiliates under Rule 144. Additionally, the
majority of ordinary shares that may be issued under our equity compensation plans also remain subject to vesting in
tranches overa four-year period. Asof December 31,2023, an aggregate of 111,671,247 options over our ordinary
shareshad vested and become exercisable. If a large number of our ADSs are sold in the public market after they
become eligible forsale, the sales could reduce the trading price of our ADSsand impede our ability to raise capital in
the future.

We incur increased costs as a result of beinga public companywhose ADSs are publicly traded in the U.S. and our
management must devote substantial time to public company compliance and other compliance requirements.

As a U.S. public company whose ADSs trade on Nasdaq, we have incurred and will continue to incur
significant legal, accounting, insurance and other expenses. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the
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Exchange Act, which requires,amongother things, that we file with the SEC annual, quarterly and current reports with
respect to our business and financial condition and must comply with the Nasdaq listing requirements and other
applicable securities rulesand regulations. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as wellas rules subsequently adopted by
the SEC and the Nasdaq toimplement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosureand financial controls and changes
in corporate governance practices.

We expect the rules and regulations applicable to public companies to substantially increase our legal and
financial compliance costs andto make some activities more time-consuming and costly. Our insurance costs have
increased, particularly for directors and officers liability insurance, and we may be required to incur further substantial
increased costs to maintain the sameorsimilar coverage or be forced to acceptreduced coverage in future. To the extent
these requirements divertthe attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could have
a material adverse effect onourbusiness, financial condition andresults of operations. The increased costs will increase
ournetlossand may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or increase the requirement for future
financing. These laws and regulations could also make it more difficult and expensive for us to attract and retain
qualified persons to serveon our board of directors, our board committees orasour executive officers. Furthermore, if
we are unable to satisfy our obligations asa public company, we could be subjectto delisting of the ADSs from Nasdag,
fines, sanctions and other regulatory action and potentially civil litigation.

Raising additional capital maycause dilutionto our existing shareholders, restrict our operations or require us to
relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidate.

We may seekadditional capital through a combination of public and privateequity offerings, debt financings,
strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the
sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include
liquidationor other preferences thatadversely affect your rightsas a shareholder. The incurrence of indebtedness would
result in increased fixed payment obligations and could involvecertain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our
ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights and other
operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise additional funds
through strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish
valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms unfavorable to us.

We may be classified as a passive foreign investment company in any taxable year and U.S. holders of our ADSs
could be subject to adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences.

The rules governing passive foreign investment companies, or PFICs, canhave adverse effects for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. The tests for determining PFIC status for a taxable year depend upon therelative values of certain
categories ofassets and therelative amounts of certain kinds of income. The determination of whether we are a PFIC
depends on the particular facts and circumstances (such as the valuation of our assets, including goodwill and other
intangible assets) and may also be affected by the application of the PFIC rules, which are subject to differing
interpretations. In addition, it is not entirely clear how to apply the income test to a company like us, which for any
particulartaxable year may havegross income that is either entirely passive or thatsignificantly exceeds any active gross
income, butthe overall losses of which from research and development activities exceed the overall amount of its gross
income forthatyear. Based on our estimated gross income, theaverage value of our assets, including goodwill and the
natureof ouractive business, although notfree from doubt, we do notbelieve thatthe Company was classifiedasa PFIC
forU.S. federalincome tax purposes forthe U.S. taxable yearended December 31, 2023. There can be no assurance,
however, thatwe will not be considered to bea PFIC forthis taxable year or any particular year in the future because
PFIC status is factual in nature, depends upon factors notwholly within our control, generally cannot be determined until
the close of the taxable year in question and is determined annually.

Ifwearea PFIC, U.S. holders of our ADSswould be subjectto adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences,
such asineligibility forany preferred taxrates on capital gains or on actual or deemed dividends, interest charges on
certain taxes treated as deferred, and additional reporting requirements under U.S. federal income tax laws and
regulations. A U.S. holder of our ADSs may be able to mitigate some of the adverse U.S. federal income tax
consequences described above with respect to owningthe ADSs if we are classified asa PFIC, provided that such U.S.
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investoris eligible to make, and validly makes, a “mark-to-market” election. In certain circumstances a U.S. Holder can
makea “qualified electing fund” electionto mitigate some of theadverse tax consequences described with respect to an
ownership interestin a PFIC by including in income its share of the PFIC’s income ona current basis. However, we do
not currently intend to prepare or provide theinformation thatwould enable a U.S. Holder to make a qualified electing
fund election.

Investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding our PFIC status for any taxable year and the potential
application of the PFIC rules to an investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares.

If a United States personistreatedas owningat least 10% of the value or voting power of our shares, such holder
may be subject to adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences.

Ifa U.S. holderis treatedas owning, directly, indirectly or constructively, at least 10% of the value or voting power
of ourshares, such U.S. holdermaybe treatedasa “United States sharcholder” with respect to each “controlled foreign
corporation” (“CFC”)in our group. As of the closing of the strategic business combination between Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc and TCR2 Therapeutics Inc.onJunel, 2023, our group includes a directly held U.S. subsidiary that is
100% owned by Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, resulting in a subsidiary CFC within our group.

A United States shareholder of a CFC may be required to annually report and include in its U.S. taxable income its
pro rata share of “Subpart F income,” “global intangible low-taxed income” and investments in U.S. property by CFCs,
regardless of whether we make any distributions. An individual that isa United States shareholder with respectto a CFC
generally would notbe allowed certain tax deductions or foreign tax credits that would be allowed to a United States
shareholderthatisa U.S. corporation. Failure to comply with CFC reporting obligations may subject a United States
shareholder to significant monetary penalties.

We cannot provideany assurance that we will furnish to any United States shareholder information that may be
necessary to comply with the reportingandtaxpaying obligations applicable under the controlled foreign corporation
rules of the Code. U.S. holders should consult their tax advisers regarding the potential application of these rules to their
investment in our ordinary shares or ADSs.

If we fail to establish and maintain proper intemal controls, our abilityto produce accurate financial statements or
comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

We must maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in order to accurately and timely report our
results of operationsand financial condition. The rules governing the standards that must be met for our management to
assess our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are complex and
require significantdocumentation, testingand possible remediation. These stringent standards require that our audit

committee be advised and regularly updated on management’s review of internal control over financial reporting.

Our compliance with applicable provisions of Section 404 requires that we incur substantial accounting
expenses and expend significant management attention and time on compliance-related issues as we implement
additional corporate governance practices and comply with reporting requirements. I f we fail to staff ouraccountingand
finance function adequately, if key employees within ouraccountingand finance function leave, or if we failto maintain
internal control over financial reporting adequate to meet the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our business and
reputation may be harmed. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the applicable requirements of Section 404 in a
timely manner, we may be subject to sanctions or investigations by regulatory authorities, including the SEC and
Nasdag. Furthermore, if we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective or if our
independentregistered public accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that
are deemedto be material weaknesses, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports, themarket price of our ADSs could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by
the SEC, Nasdagor other regulatory authorities. Failure to implement or maintain effective internal control systems
required of U.S. public companies could also restrict ouraccess to the capital markets. The occurrence of any of the
foregoing would also require additional financial and management resources.
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U.S. investors may havedifficulty enforcing civil liabilities against our company, our directors, officers and members
of senior management.

We are incorporated underthe laws of Englandand Wales. The rights of holders of our ordinary shares and,
therefore, certain of the rights of holders of ADSs, are governed by English law, including the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006, and by our articles of association. These rights differ in certain respects from the rights of
shareholders in typical U.S. corporations organized in, for example, Delaware. Some of our directors, officers and
members of senior managementreside outsidethe U.S.,anda substantial portion of our assets and all or a substantial
portion of the assets of such personsare located outside the U.S. As a result, it may be difficult for you to serve legal
processon usorourdirectors and executive officers orhaveany ofthemappear in a U.S. court. The U.S. and the U.K.
do not currently have a treaty providing for the recognition and enforcement of judgments, other than arbitration awards,
in civil and commercial matters. The enforceability in the U.K. of any judgment of a U.S. federal or state court will
dependon theparticular facts of the case as wellasthe laws and any treaties in effect at the time, including conflicts of
laws principles (such asthose bearing on the question of whethera U.K. court would recognize the basis on which a U.S.
court had purported to exercise jurisdiction overa defendant). In this context, there is doubt as to the enforceability in
the U.K., in originalactions orin actions forenforcement of judgments of U.S. courts, of civil liabilities based solely on
the federal securities laws of the U.S.. In addition, awards for punitive damages in actions brought in the U.S. or
elsewhere may be unenforceable in the U.K. An award for monetary damages under the U.S. securities laws would
likely be considered punitive if it did not seek to compensatethe claimant for loss or damage suffered and was intended
to punish the defendant.

Provisionsinthe U.K. City Code on Takeoversand Mergersthatmay have anti-takeover effects do not apply to us.

The U.K. City Code on Takeovers and Mergers, orthe Takeover Code, applies to an offer for, among other
things, a public company whose registered office is in the U.K. if the company is considered by the Panel on Takeovers
and Mergers, orthe Takeover Panel, to have its place of central management and control in the United Kingdom (or the
ChannelIslands orthe Isle of Man). This is known as the “residency test.” Thetest for centralmanagement and control
underthe Takeover Code is differentfrom that used by the U.K. tax authorities. Under the Takeover Code, the Takeover
Panelwill determine whether we have our place of central managementand control in the United Kingdom by looking at
various factors, including the structure of our Board, the functions of the directors and where they are resident.

InJuly 2018, the Takeover Panel confirmed that, based on our currentcircumstances, we are not subject to the
Takeover Code. As a result, our shareholders are notentitled to the benefit of certain takeover offer protections provided
under the Takeover Code. We believe that this position is unlikely to change at any time in the near future but, in
accordancewith good practice, we will reviewthe situation on a regular basis and consult with the Takeover Panel if
there is any change in our circumstances which may have a bearing on whether the Takeover Panel would determine our
place of central management and control to be in the United Kingdom.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

We have processes in place toregularly assess, manageand identify potential risks from cybersecurity threats.
Our cybersecurity policies and processes are integrated into our overall risk management program. To protect our
information systems from cybersecurity threats, we use various security tools and processes that are designed to help
identify and investigate any security incidents in a timely manner. When any risk or threat is identified we have a
designated group of individuals including representatives from our information security team, finance team, compliance
teamsand legalteamswho are involved in the assessment of the risk based on probability and potential impact to key
business systems and processes. Risks thatare consideredto have a high impact to our business are incorporated into our
enterprise risk management program. The tracking of these risks and the processes we have in place to address
cybersecurity threatsare and trackedas part of our overall risk management program overseen by the Audit Committee
of our board of directors.
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We collaborate with third parties to assess the effectiveness of our cybersecurity prevention and response
systemsand processes. These include cybersecurity assessors, consultants, and other external cybersecurity experts to
assist in the identification, verification, and validation of cybersecurity risks, as well as to support associated mitigation
plans when necessary.

As part of our overall risk management system, we train our staff on the safeguards we havein place to mitigate
cybersecurity threats and ensure employees are able to identify potential attempts to breach our security and how to
report and deal with any potential threats.

We have not identified any cybersecurity threats that have materially affected our ability to conduct our
business orour financial standing. Refer to therisk factor captioned "Our internal information technology systems, or
those of our partners, third-party CROs or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer cybersecurity incidents,
including related to data protection and privacy laws and adversely affect our business and operations" in Part I, Item
1A. "Risk Factors" foradditional description of cybersecurity risks and potential related im pacts on our Company.

Governance

Our board of directors oversees our risk management process, including as it pertains to cybersecurity risks.
The Audit Committee of the board oversees our risk managementprogram on behalf of the Board of Directors, which
focuses onthe most significant risks. Audit Committee meetings includediscussions of any specific risk areas which are
significantly increasing or which are of particular concern.

We have introduced corporate policies and training on these policies for all of our staff. Our Information
Managementteam, andin particular our information security team together with the corporate compliance team are
responsible for ensuring compliance with these corporate policies. Our Chief Operating Officer oversees our policies and
is primarily responsible to assess and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats, with assistance from third party
experts as appropriate.

Item 2. Properties

The following table summarizes the facilities we lease as of December 31,2023, including the location and size
of the facilities, and their primary use.

Location Approximate Square Feet Primary Usage Lease Expiration Dates
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, United 67,140 Corporate headquarters , Research, October 2041
Kingdom Development, Process

Development, Manufacturing,
Administration

Abingdon, Oxfordshire, United 46,017 Manufacturing, Process October 2041
Kingdom Development, Research

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, United 47,700 Manufacturing, Process October 2031
States Development, Research

Cambridge, Massachusetts, United 22,890 Research, Development, Process June 2025
States Development

As of December 31, 2023, all of the above sites were utilized by the Company. During January 2023, the
Company served notice to terminatethe lease of one of its facilities in Abingdon, Oxfordshire of 11,657 square feet
effective on May 31, 2023.
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We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our near-term needs, but we expect to need additional
space as we growand expand our operations. We believe that suitable additional or alternative office, laboratory, and
manufacturing space will be available as required in the future on commercially reasonable terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

As of December 31, 2023, we were not a party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART II

Item 5. Marketfor Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

General Market Information

Our ADSs havebeenlisted on The Nasdag Global Select Market since May 6, 2015 and are traded under the
symbol “ADAP”. Each ADS represents six ordinary shares.

Holders

As of March4,2024, there were approximately 27 holders of record of our ordinary shares, par value £0.001
pershare,andapproximately 16 holders of record of our ADSs. The closingsale price per ADS on Nasdag on December
31,2023 was $0.793.

Equity Compensation Plans

For information about our equity compensation plans, see Part 111, Item 11, below
Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not sell any unregistered securities during the year ended December 31, 2023.
Company Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the year ended December 31, 2023.
Stock Performance Graph

Notwithstanding any statement to the contraryin anyof our previous or future filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, the following information relating to the price performance of our ADSs shall not be deemed
“filed " withthe Securities and Exchange Commission or “soliciting material” under the Exchange Act andshall not be
incorporated by reference into any such filings.

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our ADSs with that of the Nasdaq
Biotech Index and the Nasdag Composite Index for the period that our ADSs were publicly traded, which commenced
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on May 6,2015. We selected the Nasdag Biotech Index because our ADSstradeon The Nasdaq Global Select Market
and we believe this indicates our relative performanceagainst a group consisting of more similarly situated companies.

Performance of Adaptimmune ADS price ($) as a multiplier of IPO pricing, compared to the relative
performance of the NASDAQ Biotech index and Nasdaq Composite over the same period
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Item 6. [Reserved]
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should readthefollowing discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in
conjunctionwith our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to thosestatements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report. In additionto our historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains
forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations. Our actual resultsand the timing
of events could differ materially fromthose discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute tothese differences include those discussed below and elsewhere inthis Annual Report, particularly in Part |,
Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company transitioning in 2024 to a commercial-stage cell therapy
company. We are a leader in the developmentof T-cell therapies for solid tumors and areanticipating our first marketing
approvalin 2024. Our first product, afami-cel is specific to synovial sarcoma and will be the first product in our sarcoma
productfranchise. Lete-cel, which we are targetingfora BLAfilingin 2026, will be the second product in the franchise
and targets both synovial sarcomaand myxoid round cell liposarcoma (MRCLS), significantly expanding the treatable
patient population.

Synovialsarcomaand MRCLS are 2 of more than fifty types of softtissue cancers, with approximately 13,000
new soft tissue sarcomacases in the U.S. eachyear. Synovial sarcomaaccounts for approximately 5-10% of these cases,
with MRCLS accounting for another approximately 5-10% of softtissue sarcomas. Synovial sarcoma impacts younger
people with one third of patients diagnosed under the age of 30. There is believed to be a20%5 year overall survival for
synovial sarcomapatients. MRCLS impacts middle-aged adults and is frequently diagnosed between ages 35-55. It has
an 8%, 5 year disease specific survival rate. We believe that afami-cel in synovial sarcoma and lete-cel in synovial
sarcoma and MRCLS can make a huge difference to people impacted by these cancers.

80



All of ourproducts and clinical candidates utilize engineered T-cells designedto find and destroy cancer cells
in patients. The T-cellsare engineered to recognize particular antigens expressed by the cancer cells and to activate a
person’s immune system to fight the cancer they have. Our current products and clinical candidates are personalized
treatment options where we take a person’s white blood cells, modify them to express the engineered T-cells and then
return those engineered T-cells to the patient.

Afami-cel and Commercialisation

We filed a Biologics License Application (BLA) in December 2023 for afami-cel, a cell therapy that provides a
treatmentoption for people with synovial sarcoma. We announced FDA acceptance of the BLA forafami-cel, which has
priority review, on January, 31 2024. The BLA has a Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA) target action date of
August4,2024. We are currently preparing for the launch of afami-cel for around the PDUFA date. We will launch at
select authorized treatment centers and anticipate growing to 30 ATCs over a period of 2 years.

Lete-cel

We are in the process of transitioning lete-cel, which targets the NY-ESO antigen in people with synovial
sarcomaand MRCLS, from GSK. We reported interim analysis data forthe IGNYTE-ESO trial with lete-celat CTOS in
2023. In sub-study 2 ofthe IGNYTE-ESO'triala 40% ORR (18/45 patients treated) in synovial sarcoma and MRCLS
combinedand approximately 11 months median duration of response was reported. The primary efficacy endpoint
requires 16/60 patientsto have a response. Sub-study 2 explores safety and efficacy in patients who received prior
anthracycline treatment and enrollment in sub-study 2 has completed.

Clinical Pipeline

We have clinicaltrials ongoing for people with ovariancancer, head and neck cancers and urothelial cancers in
which the MAGE-A4 antigen is expressed. The SURPASS trials use a next-generation TCR T-cell with the aim of
increasing efficacy.

e SURPASS-3 Phase 2 Trial with ADP-A2M4CD8. A Phase 2 trial for people with platinum resistant
ovarian cancer is recruiting patients. We have received RMAT designation (Regenerative Medicine
Advanced Therapy designation) for ADP-A2M4CD8 for the treatment of this indication from the FDA.
The Phase 2 trial will evaluate ADP-A2M4CD8 in both monotherapy and in combination with a
checkpoint inhibitor, nivolumab, in ovarian cancer.

e SURPASS Phase 1 Trial with ADP-A2M4CD8: Enrolliment is ongoing in a Phase 1 trial, focusing on
treatmentof patients with head and neck and urothelial cancers in earlier line settings and in combination
with a checkpoint inhibitor (nivolumab). In the focus areas of ovarian, urothelialand head and neck cancers
the reported response rate is 75% in patients with 3 or fewer prior lines of therapy (9 out of 12 patients).
Thetrialincludesa combination cohort where participants receive a combination of ADP-A2M4CD8
together with a checkpoint inhibitor (nivolumab).

Pre-clinical Pipeline

Our proprietary platform enables us to identify cancer targets, find and develop celltherapy candidates active
against those targetsand produce therapeutic candidates for administration to patients. Our cell therapy candidates
include TCR T-cellsand TRuC T-cells. Our cell therapies are currently manufactured on an autologous or per patient

basis and we have a proprietary preclinical allogeneic platform for the development of “off the shelf” cell therapies.

Our most advanced pre-clinical programs are for T-cell therapies directed to the PRAME target (“ADP-600")
and to CD70 (“ADP-520").

We are also developingallogeneic or “off-the-shelf” cell therapies utilizinga proprietary allogeneic platform.
The platform utilizes cells derived from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (“iPSCs”), which canbe gene -edited to express

81



ourengineered TCRs or other constructs and then differentiated into therequired end cell type, forexample T-cells. The
platform is applicable to all of our cell therapies.

Collaborations

We have a strategic collaboration with Genentech Inc (“Genentech”). The collaboration with Genentech covers
the researchand development of “off-the-shelf” cell therapies for up to five shared cancer targets (“off-the-shelf”
products) and the development of a novel allogeneic personalized cell therapy platform. We also have several
development and research collaborations directed to particular next-generation technologies. Following the exit from a
prior collaborationwith GSK, we are in the process of completingtransitionof the NY-ESO program from GSK. Final
transition of all programs (including all clinical trials) is anticipated to occur by mid-year 2024.

Corporate

We have facilities in the U.S. in Philadelphia and Bostonand in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”) in Abingdon and
Stevenage. We are anintegrated cell therapy company with our own manufacturing facility in the U.S. for autologous
productsandin the U.K. forallogeneic products together with a dedicated lentiviral vector manufacturing suite in the
U.K. within the Celland Gene Therapy Catapult manufacturing facility at Stevenage. This enables us to continue
improvingthe patient experience associated with our cell therapies including the ability to introduce improvements to
the manufacturing process and patient supply chain.

On March 6,2023 the Company announced entry into a definitive agreement under which it combined with
TCR2 Therapeutics Inc. (“TCR?”)in an all-stock transaction. TCR? is a Boston, Massachusetts-based T-cell therapy
company focused on treating solid tumours. The transaction was approved by the Company’s shareholders and TCR?
stockholders on May 30,2023 and themerger became effective on June 1, 2023. Following merger becoming effective
TCR?and all entities within the TCR? group, became wholly owned by the Company. Following the completion of the
transaction, theformer TCR? stockholders held approximately 25% of the Company, whereas the Company’s pre-
existing shareholders held approximately 75%. The operations of the TCR?are now fully integrated within the
Adaptimmune operations.

Financial Operations Overview

We have generated losses since our inception in 2008, during which time we have devoted substantially all of our
resources to the research and development of our cell therapies. We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable
future and our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. Our expenses may increase significantly
dependingon the progress of our clinicaltrials, requirements to conduct additional clinical trials (includingasa result of
thefilingof a BLA), requirementfor further manufacturingto supportour developmentactivities, investment in additional
manufacturing capabilities, requirements to support collaborations or engagement with third parties and investment in
resources and infrastructure to support the planned commercialization of our cell therapies. Further information can be
found in Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Revenue

The Company hadthree revenue-generating contracts with customers in the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022: a collaboration agreement with Astellas thatwas terminated as of March6,2023, a strategic collaborationand
license agreement with Genentech and a termination and transfer agreementwith GSK that became effective on April 6,
2023. The original collaboration and license agreement with GSK was terminated in 2022.

The Genentech Collaboration and License Agreement

On September 3,2021, Adaptimmune Limited, a wholly ownedsubsidiary of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, entered
into a Strategic Collaboration and License Agreementwith Genentech, Inc. (“Genentech”) and F. Hoffman-La Roche
Ltd. The collaboration has two components:
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1) development of allogeneic T-cell therapies for up to five shared cancer targets
2) development of personalized allogeneic T-celltherapies utilizing ap T-cell receptors (TCRs) isolated from
a patient, with such therapies being administered to the same patient.

The parties will collaborateto performa research program, initially duringaneight-year period (which may be
extended forup totwo additional two-year terms at Genentech’s election upon payment of an extension fee for each
two-yearterm), to developthe cell therapies, following which Genentech will determine whether to further develop and
commercialize such therapies. The Company began recognizing revenue for the performance obligations relating to the
initial “off-the-shelf” collaboration targetsand the personalized therapies in 2021, however thisdid not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The Company identified the following performance obligations under theagreement: (i) research services and
rights grantedunder thelicenses for each ofthe initial “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets, (ii) research services and
rights granted underthe licenses for the personalized therapies, (iii) material rights relating to the option to designate
additional “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets and (iv) material rights relating to the two options to extend the research
term. The revenue allocated to the initial “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets and the personalized therapies is
recognized asdevelopmentprogresses. The revenueallocated to the material rights to designate additional ‘off-the-shelf’
collaborationtargets is recognized from the point thatthe options are exercised and then as development progresses, in
line with the initial “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets, orat the pointin time that the rights expire. The revenue from
the material rights to extend the research temrm is recognized from the point thatthe options are exercised and then over
period of the extension, or at the point in time that the options expire.

The GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) Collaboration and License Agreement

The GSK Collaboration and License Agreementconsisted of multiple performance obligations. GSK nominated
its third target under the Collaboration and License Agreement in 2019, and the Company received $3.2 million
followingthe nomination of the target anda further $4.2 million in June 2021 following achievement of a development
milestone, which were being recognized as revenue as development progressed.

The collaboration was terminated in October 2022. A furtheramendment to the collaboration agreement was
entered into on December 19, 2022 for the deletion of certain provisions relating to GSK’s post termination
manufacturingand supply obligationsand payment of £5.0 million ($6.0 million) by GSK to Adaptimmune which was
received the in the first quarter of 2023. The revenue associated with this payment and the remaining deferred income
relating to the third target of $0.4 million were recognized as revenue in the year-ended December 31, 2022.

The GSK Termination and Transfer Agreement

On April 11,2023, the Company announced the entry of the Company and GSK into a Termination and
Transferregardingthe return to Adaptimmune of rights and materials comprised within the PRAME and NY -ESO cell
therapy programs. The parties will work collaboratively toensure continuity for patients in ongoing lete-cel clinicaltriak
forming part of the NY-ESO cell therapy program.

As part of the agreement, sponsorship of the ongoing IGNYTE and long-term follow-up (“LTFU”) trials
relatingto the NY-ESO cell therapy program will transfer to Adaptimmune. In return for this, Adaptimmunereceived an
upfront payment of £7.5 million in June 2023 following the signing of the agreement and further milestone payments of
£3 million and £12 million to Adaptimmune in September and December 2023, respectively. Further milestone
payments totaling £7.5 million will be due in relation to successive stages of transfer of the trials.

The Company has identified the following performance obligations under the agreement: (i) to take over
sponsorship and complete the IGNYTE trialand (ii) to take over sponsorship and complete the LTFU trial. The revenue
allocatedto bothobligations is recognized overtimefrom the point that sponsorship ofthe activetrials thatmake up the
trialtransfer, based on thenumber of patients transferred and stillactively enrolled to date on the trialat a given period-

end relative to the total estimated periods of active patient enroliment over the estimated duration of the trial.
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The Astellas Collaboration Agreement

In January 2020, the Company entered intoa collaboration agreement with Astellas. The Company received
$50.0 million asanupfront payment after entering into the agreement. Under the agreement the parties would agree on
up to three targets and would co-develop T-cell therapies directed to those targets pursuant to an agreed research plan.
Foreach target, Astellas would fund co-development up untilcompletion of a Phase 1 trial for products directed to such
target. In addition, Astellas was also granted the right to develop, independently of Adaptimmune, allogeneic T-cell
therapy candidates directed to two targets selected by Astellas. Astellas would have sole rights to develop and

commercialize products resulting from these two targets.

The agreement consisted of the following performance obligations: (i) research services and rights granted
underthe co-exclusive license for each ofthe three co-development targets and (i) the rights granted for each ofthe two
independent Astellas targets. The revenueallocated to the co-development targets was recognized as the development of
products directed tothe targets progressed up until completion of a Phase 1 trial. The revenue allocated to each of the
research licenses forthe targets being independently developed by Astellas was to be recognized when the associated
license commenced, which was upon designation of a target by Astellas.

The Companyand Universal Cells mutually agreed to terminate the Astellas Collaboration Agreement as of
March 6,2023 (the “Termination Date”). In connection with the termination, all licenses and sublicenses granted to
either party pursuant tothe Collaboration Agreement ceased as of the Termination Date. There were no termination
penaltiesin connection with the termination, however the Company was still entitled to receive reimbursement for
research and development work performed up to and including a period of 30 days after the Termination Date.

The terminationwas accounted forasa contract modification and the modification resulted in the remaining
unsatisfied and partially satisfied performance obligations under the collaboration becoming fully satisfied. The
aggregate transaction price of the contract modification was $42.4 million, which was primarily comprised of deferred
income relatingto thethird co-development targetand the two independent targets and was recognized in full in March
2023.
Research and Development Expenses

Researchand development expenditures are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist
principally of the following:

o salaries for research and development staff and related expenses, including benefits;
e costs for production of preclinical compounds and drug substances by contract manufacturers;

o feesandothercosts paid to contractresearch organizations in connection with additional preclinical testing
and the performance of clinical trials;

e costsassociated with thedevelopment of a process to manufacture and supply our lentiviral vectorand cell
therapies for use in clinical trials;

e coststo develop manufacturing capability atour U.S. facility formanufacture of cell therapies for use in
clinical trials;

e costs relating to facilities, materials and equipment used in research and development;
e costsofacquired orin-licensedresearch and development which does not have alternative future use;

e costs of developing assays and diagnostics;
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e an allocation of indirect costs clearly related to research and development;

e amortizationand depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used to develop our
cells therapies; and

e share-based compensation expenses.

These expenses are partially offset by:

e reimbursable tax and expenditure credits from the U.K. government.

Research and development expenditure is presented net of reimbursements from reimbursable tax and
expenditure credits from the U.K. government. As a company that carries out extensive research and development
activities, we benefit fromthe U.K. researchand development tax credit regime for smalland medium sized companies
(“SME R&D Tax Credit Scheme”), whereby our principal research subsidiary company, Adaptimmune Limited, is able
to surrender the trading losses that arise from its research and development activities for a payable tax credit of up to
approximately 33.4% of eligible research and development expenditures, decreasing to 18.6% after April 1, 2023.
Qualifying expenditures largely comprise employment costs for research staff, consumables and certain internal
overhead costs incurred as part of research projects for which we do not receive income. Subcontracted research
expenditures areeligible fora cash rebateof up to approximately 21.7%, decreasing to 12.1% after April 1, 2023. A
large proportion of costs in relation to our pipeline research, clinical trials management and manufacturing development
activities, allof which are being carried outby Adaptimmune Limited, are eligible for inclusion within these tax credit
cash rebate claims.

Expenditures incurred in conjunction with our collaborationagreements arenot qualifying expenditures under
the SME R&D Tax Credit Scheme butcertain of these expenditures can be reimbursed through the U.K. research and
development expenditure credit scheme (the “RDEC Scheme”). Underthe RDEC Scheme tax relief is given at 13% of
allowable R&D costs, which may result in a payable tax credit at an effective rate of approximately 10.5% of qualifying
expenditure fortheyearended December 31,2023, risingto 20% after April 1,2023, which may resultin a payable tax
credit at an effective rate of 15%.

OnJuly 18,2023, the U.K. Government released draft legislation onproposed changes to the U.K. researchand
development regimes. Thesechanges include combiningthe current SME R&D Tax Credit Scheme and RDEC Schemes
with a single 20% gross rate applying to all claims with an exception for R&D Intensive SMEs. For entities which
qualify as R&D Intensive SMEs, a higher effective cashtax benefit of 27% will be available. The draft legislation also
includes changesto other rules and types of qualifying expenditure, suchas thetreatment of subcontracted and overseas
costs. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the draft legislation onits futuretax credit claims however, as
the legislation was notenacted or substantively enactedas of December 31, 2023, the impact of the legislation has not
been included in the results for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Our researchand developmentexpenses may vary substantially from period to period based on the timing of
ourresearch and developmentactivities, whichdepends upon the timing of initiation of clinical trials and the rate of
enrolimentof patients in clinical trials. The duration, costs, and timing of clinical trials and development of our cell
therapies will depend on a variety of factors, including:

e thescope,rate of progress, andexpense of ourongoingas well as any additional clinical trials and other
research and development activities;

e uncertainties in clinical trial enrollment rates;
e future clinical trial results;

¢ significant and changing government regulation;
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e thetimingand receipt of any regulatory approvals; and
o supply and manufacture of lentiviral vector and cell therapies for clinical trials.

A change in the outcome of any ofthese variables may significantly change the costs and timing associated
with the development of that cell therapy. For example, if the FDA, or another regulatory authority, requires us to
conduct clinical trials beyond those that we currently anticipate will be required for regulatory approval, or if we
experience significant delays in enroliment in any of our clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant
additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development.

General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative expenses consist principally of:
o salaries for employees other than research and development staff, including benefits;
e provisions for restructuring activity;
e business development expenses, including travel expenses;

o professional fees forauditors, lawyers and other consulting expenses, including those incurred in relation to
the merger with TCR?;

e costs of facilities, communication, and office expenses;
e cost of establishing commercial operations;
o information technology expenses;

e amortizationand depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets notrelatedto research
and development activities; and

e share-based compensation expenses.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Otherincome (expense), net primarily comprises foreign exchange gains (losses). We are exposed to foreign
exchange raterisk because we currently operate facilities in the United Kingdom and United States. Our expenses are
generally denominatedin the currency in which our operations are located, which are the United Kingdom and United
States. However, our U.K.-based subsidiary incurs significant research anddevelopment costs in U.S. dollars and, to a
lesser extent, Euros. Our U.K. subsidiary has anintercompany loan balance in U.S. dollars payable to the ultimate parent
company, Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc. Since July 1,2019, the intercompany loan has been considered as being a
long-term investment as repayment is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future. It is Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc’s intent not to request payment of the intercompany loan for the foreseeable future. The foreign
exchange gainsor losses arising on the revaluation of intercompany loans of a long-term investmentnature are reported
within other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax.

Our results of operations and cash flows will be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, which could harm our business in the future. We seek to minimize this exposure by maintaining
currency cashbalances atlevelsappropriate to meet forthcoming expenditure in U.S. dollars and pounds sterling. To

date, we havenot used hedging contracts to manage exchange rate exposure, although we may do so in the future.
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In addition to currency fluctuations, adverse macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, slower growth or
recession, new or increased tariffs, changes to fiscaland monetary policy, tighter credit, and higher interest rates, could
materially adversely affectthe Company by, for example, driving higher input costs and/or impacting the Company’s
ability to raise future financing.

Taxation

We are subjectto corporate taxationin the United Kingdom and the United States. We incurtax losses and tax
credit carryforwards in the United Kingdom. No deferred tax assets are recognized on our U.K. losses and tax credit
carryforwards because there is currently noindication that we will make sufficient taxable profits to utilize these tax
lossesand tax credit carryforwards. On June 10,2021, theU.K. 2021 Finance Billwas enacted. Under this bill, the rate
of U.K. corporation tax increasedto 25%from April 1, 2023, with lower rates and tapered relief applied to companies
with profits below £250,000.

We benefit from reimbursable tax credits in the United Kingdom through the SME R&D Tax Credit Scheme as
well as the RDEC Scheme which are presented as a deduction to research and development expenditure.

Our pre-existing subsidiary in the United States, Adaptimmune LLC, has generated taxable profits due to a
Service Agreementbetweenour U.S. and U.K. operating subsidiaries and is subjectto U.S. federal corporate income tax
of 21%. Due to its activity in the United States, and the sourcing of its revenue, the Adaptimmune LLC is not currently
subject toany state or localincometaxes. The Company also benefits from the U.S Research Tax Credit and Orphan
Drug Credit.

TCR? Therapeutics, Inc. (“TCR?”) has incurred net losses since acquisition and generates research and
development tax credits. TCR?’s operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and other tax attributes are reduced by a
valuation allowanceto the amountsupported by reversing taxable temporary differences because there is currently no
indication that we will make sufficient taxable profits to utilize these deferred tax assets.

In the future, if we generate taxable income in the United Kingdom, we may benefit from the United
Kingdom’s “patent box” regime, which would allow certain profits attributable to revenues from patented products to be
taxedata rate of 10%. Aswe have many different patents covering our products, future upfront fees, milestone fees,
product revenues, and royalties may be taxed at this favorably low tax rate.

UK. Value Added Tax (“VAT”)is charged onall qualifying goods and services by VAT -registered businesses.
An amount of 20% ofthe value of the goods or services isaddedto all relevant sales invoices andis payable to the U.K.

tax authorities. Similarly, VAT paid on purchase invoices paid by Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc is reclaimable from the U.K. tax authorities.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the years ended December 31, 2023,and 2022,
together with the changes to those items (in thousands):
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Year ended

December 31,
2023 2022 Increase/decrease
Revenue $ 60,281 $ 27,148 $33,133 122%
Research and development expenses (126,509) (127,726) 1,217 (1)%
General and administrative expenses (73,513) (63,387) (10,126) 16 %
Total operating expenses (200,022) (191,113)  (8,909) 5%
Operating loss (139,741) (163,965) 24,224 (15)%
Interest income 5,964 1,542 4422 287 %
Gain on bargain purchase 22,049 — 22,049 —%
Other (expense) income, net (807) (536) (271) 51 %
Loss before income tax expense (112,535) (162,959) 50,424 (31)%
Income tax expense (1,336) (2,497) 1,161 (46)%
Loss for the period $(113,871) $(165,456) $51,585 (31)%

Revenue

Revenue increased by $33.1 million to $60.3 million in the yearended December 31, 2023, compared to $27.1
million forthe yearended December 31,2022, primarily dueto thetermination of the Astellas collaboration, resulting in
the remaining deferred income for the collaboration being recognized as revenue in March 2023.

We expect that revenues will increase in future periods as the Company continues activities under the
Genentech and GSK agreements.

Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses decreased by $1.2 million to $126.5 million for the year ended

December 31,2023 from $127.7 million forthe yearended December 31, 2022. Our research and development expenses
comprise the following (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2023 2022 Increase/decrease

Salaries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and other employee-related costs® $ 85,492 86,611 $(1,119) ()%
Subcontracted expenditure 48,416 54,689 6,273) (11)%
Manufacturing facility expenditure 6,922 8,072 (1,150) (14)%
Share-based compensation expense 3,061 6,264  (3,203) (B51)%
In-process research and development costs (1,840) 2,316 (4,156) (179%
Reimbursements receivable for research and development tax
and expenditure credits (15,542) (30,226) 14,684  (49)%

$126509 $127,726 $(1217) ()%

(1) These costs are not analyzed by project since employees may be engaged in multiple projects at a time.

The net decrease in our research and development expenses of $1.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 was primarily due to the following:

e adecrease of$1.1million in salaries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plantand equipment
and other employee-related costs, which is mainly driven by a decrease in the average number of

88



employees engaged in research and development, offset partially by an increase in facility and other direct
cost allocations, including those incurred following the acquisition of TCR?;

e adecrease of $6.3 million in subcontracted expenditures, including clinicaltrial expenses, contract research
organization (CRO) costs and contract manufacturing expenses, largely driven by a decrease in
manufacturing costs including external lentiviral vector manufacturing;

e adecrease of $3.2million in share-based compensation expense due to a combination of lower fair value of
options granted in 2023 comparedto 2022 and due to high forfeiture credits due to redundancies in the
same period; and

e adecrease of $4.2million in in-process research and development costs due to a credit of $1.9 million
relatingto the releaseof a milestonethatwas previously accrued thatis no longer expectedto be paid, with

no other in-process research and development costs recognized in 2023; offset by

e adecrease in reimbursements receivable for research and developmenttax and expenditure credits of $14.7
million due to decreases in the associated research and development costs for which the credits may be
claimed and a reduction in the effective rate at which the tax credits can be claimed which was effective
from April 1, 2023.

Our subcontracted costs for the yearended December 31, 2023 were $48.4 million, compared to $54.7 million
in the same period of 2022. This includes $26.4 million directly associated with our afami-cel and ADP-A2M4CD8 T-
cellsand $22.0 million of other costs.

Our researchand developmentexpenses are highly dependent on the phases and progression of our research
projects and will fluctuate depending on the outcome of ongoing clinical trials. We expect that our research and
development expenses will increase in future periods as we continue to invest in our research and development
capabilities.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses increased by $10.1 million to $73.5 million for the year ended

December 31,2023 compared to $63.4 million in the same period in 2022. Our general and administrative expenses
comprise the following (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2023 2022 Increase/decrease
Salaries, depreciation of property, plant and

equipment and other employee-related costs $ 37838 $ 31,903 $ 5935 19 %
Restructuring charges 1,703 2,297 (594) (26)%
Other corporate costs 27,738 19,555 8,183 42 %
Share-based compensation expense 8,712 11,976 (3,264) (27)%
Reimbursements (2,478) (2,344) (134) 6 %
$ 73513 $ 63,387 $ 10,126 16 %

The net increase in our general and administrative expenses of $10.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 was largely due to:

e anincrease of $5.9 million in salaries, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and other

employee-related costs comparedto the equivalent period in 2022, due primarily to severance and
other related costs for former TCR? leadership and employees and an increase in depreciation
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following the completion of the construction of manufacturing facilities in the U.K. and U.S. The
depreciationwas allocated to generaland administrative expenses based on the utilization of U.K.
office in 2023and, forthe U.S. facility, the fact that the commercial operations for which the facility
was constructed have not yet commenced;

e anincrease of $8.2 million in other corporate costs due primarily to an increase in accounting, legal
and professional fees incurred in relation to entering into the TCR? Therapeutics Inc. merger
agreement; offset by

e adecrease in share-based compensation expense of $3.3 million due to a combination of lower fair
value of options granted in 2023 compared to 2022 and due to high forfeiture credits due to
redundancies in the same period.

Interest income

Interest income primarily relates to interest oncash, cashequivalents and available-for-sale debt securities and
is presented net of amortization/accretion of the premium/discount on purchase of the debt securities. Interest income
was $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $1.5 million for the year ended
December 31,2022. The increase was primarily dueto havingnet accretion of the discounton marketable securities for
2023; accretion onavailable-for-sale debtsecurities for the year ended December 31, 2023, was $2.0 million compared
to amortizationof $2.5 million forthe yearended December 31,2022. This was driven by a change in the Company’s
portfolio mixand through the acquisition of securities as part of the TCR?acquisition, where more securities were U.S.
Treasury securities purchased at a discount rather than corporate debt securities purchased at a premium.

Other (expense) income, net

Other (expense) income, net was anexpense of $0.8 million for the year ended December 31,2023 compared to
$0.5 million forthe yearended December 31,2022. Other income, netprimarily relatesto unrealized foreign exchange
gainsand losses oncash and cash equivalents, and intercompany loans held in U.S. dollars by our U.K. subsidiary other
than those of a long-term investment nature, where repayment is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future.

Gain on Bargain Purchase

The gain on bargain purchase of $22.0 million arose in June2023 from the strategic combination with TCR?
Therapeutics Inc on June 1, 2023.

Income taxes

Income tax expenses were $1.3 million forthe yearended December 31, 2023 comparedto $2.5 million for the
yearended December 31, 2022. Income taxes arise in the United States due to Adaptimmune LLC generating taxable
profits. Incometaxes have decreased by $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same
period in 2022 dueto U.S. taxation regime changes coming into effect in 2022, affecting the period over which certain
expenses may be deducted from taxable income. The impactof these changes was reduced in 2023 due to the effect of
previously capitalized expenses in 2022 becoming deductible in 2023. We incur losses in the United Kingdom.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31,2022 and 2021

The followingtable summarizes the results of our operations for the years ended December 31,2022, and 2021,
together with the changes to those items (in thousands):
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Year ended

December 31,
2022 2021 Increase/decrease
Revenue $ 27,148 $ 6,149 $20999 342 %
Research and development expenses (127,726)  (111,090) (16,636) 15 %
General and administrative expenses (63,387) (57,305) (6,082) 11 %
Total operating expenses (191,113) (168,395) (22,718) 13 %
Operating loss (163,965) (162,246) (1,719) 1%
Interest income 1,542 1,095 447 41 %
Other (expense) income, net (536) 3,852 (4,388) (114)%
Loss before income tax expense (162,959) (157,299)  (5,660) 4%
Income tax expense (2,497) (791)  (1,706) 216 %
Loss for the period $ (165,456) $(158,090) $ (7,366) 5 %

Revenue

Revenue increased by $21.0 million to $27.1 million in the yearended December 31, 2022, compared to $6.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, due largely to an increase in development activities under our
collaborationagreements. In particular, the Company recognized revenue in relation to developmentactivities under the
Genentech agreement for the year ended December 31, 2022, however, as the agreementwas not effective until October
19,2021, there was minimal revenue from developmentactivitiesunder the Genentech agreement for the year ended
December31,2021. Revenuealso increased due to a $6.0 million payment from GSK asa result of the termination and
amendment to the GSK agreement.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses increased by $16.6 million to $127.7 million for the year ended
December 31,2022 from $111.1 million for the yearended December 31, 2021. Our researchand development expenses
comprise the following (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2022 2021 Increase/decrease

Salaries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and other employee-related costs® $ 86,611 79,505 $ 7,106 9%
Subcontracted expenditure 54,689 46,469 8,220 18%
Manufacturing facility expenditure 8,072 9,684  (1,512) (16)%
Share-based compensation expense 6,264 9,052 (2,788) (31)%
In-process research and development costs 2,316 562 1,754 312%
Reimbursements receivable for research and development tax
and expenditure credits (30,226) (34,0820 3,856 (11)%

$127,726 $111090 $16,636 15%

(2) These costs are not analyzed by project since employees may be engaged in multiple projects at a time.
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The net increase in our research and development expenses of $16.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily due to the following:

e anincrease of $7.1 million in salaries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and other employee-related costs, which is mainly driven by an increase in the average number of

employees engaged in research and development in the year ended December 31, 2022;

e anincrease of $8.2 million in subcontracted expenditures, including clinical trial expenses, contract
research organization (CRO) costs and contract manufacturing expenses, largely driven by an increase in
external manufacturing costs and an upfront payment to Alpine. This was offset by a decrease in clinical
trial expenses;

e adecrease of$2.8million in share-based compensation expense due to a decrease in the fair value of
options granted and increase in the value of forfeitures. This was offset by an increase in the number of
options granted;

e anincrease of $1.8 million in in-process research and development costs due to milestones accrued for, and
paid to, Universal Cells; and

e adecrease in reimbursements receivable for research and developmenttax and expenditure credits of $3.9
million due primarily to a decline in the average exchange rate between pounds sterlingandthe U.S. dollar.

Our subcontracted costs forthe yearended December 31,2022 were $54.7 million, compared to $46.5 million
in the same period of 2021. Thisincludes $40.1 million directly associated with our afami-cel, ADP-A2M4CD8 and
ADP-A2AFP T-cells and $14.6 million of other costs.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $6.1 million to $63.4 million for the year ended
December 31,2022 compared to $57.3 million in the same period in 2021. Our general and administrative expenses
comprise the following (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2022 2021 Increase/decrease
Salaries, depreciation of property, plant and

equipment and other employee-related costs $ 31903 $ 28,970 $ 2,933 10 %
Restructuring charges 2,297 — 2,297 N/A %
Other corporate costs 19,555 18,911 644 3%
Share-based compensation expense 11,976 11,577 399 3%
Reimbursements (2,344) (2,153) (191) 9 %
$ 63387 $ 57,305 $ 6,082 11 %

The net increase in our general and administrative expenses of $6.1 million for the year ended
December 31,2022 compared to the same period in 2021 was primarily due to an increase of $2.9 million in salaries,
depreciationof property, plantand equipmentand other employee-related costs dueto anincreasein average headcount
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comparedto the sameperiod in 2021 and the recognition of a $2.3 million restructuring provision at December 31, 2022,
relating to redundancy payments that are expected to be made in Q1 2023.

Interest income

Interestincome was $1.5million forthe yearended December 31,2022, comparedto $1.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021. Interest income primarily relates to intereston cash, cash equivalentsand available-for-sale
debt securities and is presented net of amortization/accretion of the premium/discounton purchase of thedebt securities.
Amortization onavailable-for-sale debt securities for the year ended December 31,2022, was $2.5 million compared to

amortization of $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Other (expense) income, net

Other (expense) income, net was anexpense of $0.5million for the year ended December 31,2022 compared to
income of $3.9million forthe yearended December 31,2021. Otherincome, net primarily relatesto unrealized foreign
exchange gains and losses on cash and cash equivalents, and intercompany loans held in U.S. dollars by our U.K.
subsidiary otherthanthoseof a long-term investment nature, where repayment is not planned or anticipated in the
foreseeable future.

Income taxes

Income tax expenses were $2.5 million for the yearended December 31,2022, compared to $0.8 million for the
yearended December 31,2021. Income taxes arise in the United States due to our U.S. subsidiary generating taxable
profits. Incometaxes have increased by $1.7 million for theyear ended December 31,2022 compared to the same period
in 2021 due to changes to U.S. taxation regime coming into effect, affecting the period overwhich certain expenses may
be deducted from taxable income. We incur losses in the United Kingdom.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Funds

Since our inception, we have incurred significant net losses and negative cash flows from operations. We
financedouroperations primarily through sales of equity securities, cash receipts under our Astellas Collaboration
Agreement, Genentechand GSK Collaboration and License Agreements and GSK Terminationand Transfer Agreement,
government grants and research and development tax and expenditure credits. From inception through to

December 31, 2023, we have raised:
e $870.9 million of proceeds from issues of equity, net of issue costs;
e $437.3 million through collaborative arrangements with Genentech, GSK and Astellas; and

e $110.6 million inthe form of U.K. researchand development tax credits and receipts from the U.K. RDEC
Scheme.

$45.3 million in cash and cashequivalents and restricted cashand $39.5 million of marketable securities were
also acquired as part of the strategic combination with TCR? Therapeutics Inc.

We use a non-GAAP measure, Total Liquidity, which is defined as the total of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities, to evaluate the funds available to us in the near-term. A description of Total Liquidity and
reconciliation to cashandcash equivalents, the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure, are provided below
under “Non-GAAP measures”.
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As of December 31,2023, we had cashand cash equivalents of $144.0 million and Total Liquidity of $146.9
million. We believe that our Total Liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations, based upon our currently
anticipated research and development activities and planned capital spending, into early 2026.

During the yearended December 31,2023, the Company incurred a net loss of $113.9 million, used cash of
$140.9 million in its operatingactivities, and generated revenues of $60.3 million. The Company has incurred net losses
since inception, and it expects to incur operating losses in foreseeable future periods.

Managementconsiders that there are no conditions or events, in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubtabout

the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern fora period of at least one year from thedatethe financial statements
are issued.

Cash Flows

The followingtable summarizes the results of our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023,2022and
2021 (in thousands).

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,  December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net cash used in operating activities $ (140,880) $(141,769) $ 10,729
Net cash provided by investing activities 176,538 89,137 75,800
Net cash provided by financing activities 880 12,867 3,288
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 147,017 109,602 151,666

Year ended December 31, 2023 compared to year ended December 31, 2022

Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $0.9 million to $140.9 million for the year ended
December 31,2023, comparedto $141.8 million for the yearended December 31,2022. The net cash used in operating
activities in the yearend December 31,2023 decreased due to a decrease in operating expenditure as a result of the
restructuring and de-prioritization of non-core programs that was initiated in the final quarter of 2022, which included a
reduction in headcount of approximately 25% and de-prioritization of non-core activities and payments of $16.8 million
and $34.7 million from Genentech and GSK in 2023, respectively as compared to payments of $21.3 million from
Genentech in 2022. This was partially offset following the business combination with TCR? which resulted in an
increase in headcountof 39 and additional operating expenditures relating to activities originating from TCR? as well as
various legaland professional fees relating to the acquisition. The impactof these changes resulted in a total combined
increase of other corporate costs of $8.2million but a decrease in salaries, temporary staff, travel, training and other
employee-related costs of $2.2 million and subcontracted expenditure of $6.3 million compared to the equivalent period
in 2022.

Inaddition, the U.K. R&D tax credits received in the yearended December 31,2023, were $25.2 million lower
thanthat received during the year ended December 31, 2022, because the U.K. R&D tax credit for the year ended
December 31,2022, which in previous years has beenreceived in the fourth quarter of the year, was not received until
January 2024.

Year ended December 31, 2022 compared to year ended December 31,2021

Net cash used in operating activities increased by $152.5 million to $141.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, from a net cash provided by operating activities of $10.7 million for the year ended
December31,2021. The netcash used in operatingactivities in the yearend December 31,2022 was partially offset by
a $20 million additional payment received under the Genentech Collaboration and License Agreement in December
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2022,as comparedto a $4.2 million milestone payment received under the GSK Collaboration and License Agreement
and the upfrontpayment of $150.0 million received under the Genentechagreementin October 2021. The U.K. R&D tax
credits received in the yearended December 31, 2022, were $4.0 million higher than thatreceived during the yearended
December 31, 2021.

Components of cash flows from operating activities

Net cash used in operatingactivities of $140.9 million for the yearended December 31, 2023 comprised a net
loss of $88.8 million offsetby noncashitems of $1.6 million anda net cash outflow of $25.0 million from changes in
operatingassets and liabilities. The most significantitems impacting the change in operating assets and liabilities include
the $15 million additional payment from Genentech and $34.7 million in payments from GSK, offset bya $15.9 million
increase in R&D tax credits receivable. The noncash items consisted primarily of depreciation expense on plant and
equipment of $9.5 million, amortization of intangibles of $0.4 million, share-based compensation expense of
$11.8 million, accretion of marketable securities of $2.0 million, unrealized foreign exchange losses of $0.2 million and
other losses of $0.2 million.

Net cash used in operatingactivities of $141.8 million forthe yearended December 31, 2022 comprised a net
loss of $165.5 million offsetby noncashitems of $25.2 million and $1.5 million of unfavorable changes in operating
assetsand liabilities. The mostsignificantitems impacting the change in operatingassetsand liabilities include the $20
million additional payment from Genentech and $26.9 million in U.K. R&D tax credit receipts, offset by $6 million
receivable due from GSK. The noncash items consisted primarily of depreciation expense on plant and equipment of
$5.3 million, amortization of intangibles of $0.8 million, share-based compensation expense of $18.2 million,
amortization of marketable securities of $2.5million, unrealized foreign exchangegains of $2.4 million and other losses
of $0.8 million.

Net cash provided by operating activities of $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 comprised a
net lossof $158.1 million offset by noncash items of $34.2 million and $134.6 million of favorable changes in operating
assets and liabilities. The noncash items consisted primarily of depreciation expense on plant and equipment of
$5.6 million, amortization of intangibles of $0.9 million, share-based compensation expense of $20.6 million,
amortization of marketable securities of $5.3million, unrealized foreign exchange losses of $0.5 million and other losses
of $1.2 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investingactivities was $176.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared
to net cash provided by investing activities of $89.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The net cash

provided by investing activities for the respective periods consisted primarily of:
e purchases of property, plant and equipment of $4.7 million and $29.5 million in 2023 and 2022,
respectively. Purchases of property, plant and equipment were higher in 2022 compared to 2023 due to
expanding our manufacturing facilities, which was largely completed in 2022; and

e cash outflows from investment in marketable securities of $76.0 million and $48.1 million in 2023 and
2022, respectively; offset by

e cash inflows from maturity or redemptionof marketable securities of $211.0 million and $167.0 million
in 2023 and 2022, respectively; and

e cashand cash equivalents acquired as part of the business combination with TCR? Therapeutics Inc. of
$45.3 million.

The Company invests surplus cash and cashequivalents in marketable securities. Cash provided by investing
activitiesincreased in the yearended December 31,2023 due to cashreceived from the TCR? acquisition andanincrease
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in maturity or redemption of marketable securities due to a combination of most securities on hand at December 31,
2023 reaching maturity in 2023 and from the maturity of investments acquired as part of the TCR2 acquisition, all of
which matured in 2023.

Net cash provided by investingactivities was $89.1 million for the yearended December 31, 2022 compared to
net cash provided by investingactivities of $75.8 million fortheyear ended December 31,2021. The Company invests
surplus cash and cash equivalents in marketable securities. Cash provided by investing activities increased in the year
ended December 31,2022. Maturity or redemption of marketable securities of $167.0 million was offset by investment

in marketable securities of $48.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net cash provided by investingactivities was $75.8 million for the yearended December 31,2021 compared to
net cash used in investing activities 0f $278.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company invests
surplus cash and cash equivalents in marketable securities. Cash provided by investing activities increased in the year
ended December 31, 2021. Maturity or redemption of marketable securities of $224.3 million was offset by investment

in marketable securities of $139.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2021.
Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.9 million, $12.9 million and $3.3 million for the years ended
December 31,2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Net cash provided by financingactivities for the year ended December 31, 2023 consisted of net proceeds from
public offerings of $0.6 million and proceeds from exercise of share options of $0.3 million.

Net cash provided by financingactivities for the yearended December 31, 2022 consisted of net proceeds from
public offerings of $12.8 million and proceeds from exercise of share options of $0.1 million.

Net cash provided by financingactivities for the yearended December 31, 2021 consisted of net proceeds from
public offerings of $2.5 million and proceeds from exercise of share options of $0.8 million.

Non-GAAP Measures
Total Liquidity (a non-GAAP financial measure)

Total Liquidity (a non-GAAP financial measure) is the total of cash and cash equivalents and marketable
securities. Each of these components appears in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The U.S. GAAP financial measure

most directly comparable to Total Liquidity is cash and cash equivalents as reported in the consolidated financial
statements, which reconciles to Total Liquidity as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 143991 $ 108,033
Marketable securities - available-for-sale debt securities 2,947 96,572
Total Liquidity $ 146938 $ 204,605

We believe that the presentation of Total Liquidity provides useful information to investors because
management reviews Total Liquidity as part of its management of overall solvency and liquidity, financial flexibility,
capital position and leverage. The definition of Total Liquidity includes marketable securities, which are highly liquid

and available to use in our current operations.

Material Cash Requirements

As of December 31, 2023 the Company does nothave any products approved for sale and has notgenerated any
revenue from product supplies or royalties. The Company’s material cash requirements primarily relate to costs
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associated with the clinical development of our cell therapies, the development and enhancement of our manufacturing
capabilities and securing a commercially viable manufacturing platform for all of our cell therapies, advancing
additional celltherapies into preclinical testingand progressing such cell therapies through to clinical trials, supporting
commercialization for ADP-A2M4 and to fund working capital, including for other general corporate purposes.

Operating leases

As of December 31,2023 the Company had material operating lease obligations of $25.2 million under non-
cancellable leases for laboratory and office property in Oxfordshire, United Kingdom, Philadelphia, United States and
Massachusetts, United States. Further details of our operating leases areprovidedin Item 2 and in Note 8 of Item 16 of
this Annual Report.

Purchase obligations

As of December 31,2023, the Company’s unconditional purchase obligations for capital expenditure totaled
$0.9 million andare primarily composed of future payments for intangible assets including software licenses, of which
the Company expects to incur $0.6 million within one year, and $0.3 million within one to three years.

The Company also had non-cancellable commitments for the purchase of clinical materials, contract
manufacturingand maintenance which have been committed butnotyet received, and committed fundingunder the MD
Anderson strategic alliance, of upto $13.7 million, of which the Company expectsto incur $12.4 within one year, $1.3
million within one to three years and $0.1 million within three tofive years. The amount and timing of these payments
vary depending on the rate of progress of development.

Future payments associated with clinical trials are not considered purchase commitments because they are
contingent on enrolliment in clinical trials and the activities required to be performed by the clinical sites.

MD Anderson

In 2016, we entered into a multi-year strategic alliance with MD Anderson designed to expedite the
development of T-cell therapies for multiple types of cancer. We and MD Anderson are collaborating on a number of
studies includingclinicaland preclinical development of our T-cell therapies and we will collaborate on future clinical
stage first and second generation T-cell therapies suchas ADP-A2M4 across a number of cancers, including urothelial,
lung, ovarian, headandneck, melanoma, synovial sarcoma, esophageal and gastric cancers. Under the terms of the
agreement, we committed at least $19.6 million to fund studies. The Company made an upfrontpayment of $3.4 million
to MD Anderson in the year ended December 31, 2017 and milestone payments of $2.3 million, $3.5 million, $0.5
million and $2.3million in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respective ly. Payment of this
fundingis contingenton mutual agreement to study orders under the alliance agreement and the performance of set
milestones by MD Anderson. The timing and amount of future payments is uncertain.

Other obligations

On August 26,2019, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement relating to the development of next-
generation T-cell products with Noile-Immune Biotech, Inc. An upfront exclusive license optionfeeof $2.5 million was
paid to Noile-lImmune in 2019. This has been recognized within Research and Development in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019. Under the agreement, deve lopment and
commercializationmilestone paymentsup to a maximum of $312 million may be payable if all possible targets are
selected and milestones achieved. Noile-Immune would also receive mid-single-digit royalties on net sales of resulting
products.

On May 14,2019, we enteredinto a Collaboration Agreement relating to the development of next-generation T-
cell products with Alpine. We paid anupfront exclusive license option fee of $2.0 million to Alpine in June 2019. Under
the agreement, Adaptimmune will pay Alpine for ongoing research and development funding costs and development and
commercialization milestone payments up toa maximum of $288 million, which may be payable if all possible targets
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are selected and milestones achieved. The upfront payment of $2.0 million and the payments for ongoing research are
recognized within Researchand development. A further paymentof $1 million was paid and recognized within Research
and development in the Consolidated Statementof Operations for the year ended December 31,2022. Alpine would also
receive low single-digit royalties on worldwide net sales of applicable products.

As part of the process of obtaining regulatory approval for its products, the Company has entered into various
agreements forthe development of assays for commercial supply, some of which have milestone or other payments that
trigger on or after regulatory approval is received from the FDA, and uponthe occurrence of future sales or commercial
usage of the respective assay.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial conditionand results of operations is based on our
consolidated financial statements, which have been preparedin accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our preparation of these
consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses and related disclosures at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well
asrevenueandexpenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate our estimates and judgments onan ongoing basis. We
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, theresults of which form thebasis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities
thatare notreadily apparentfrom other sources. Actual results could therefore differ materially from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions.

While ouraccountingpoliciesare described in moredetail in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements,
we believe the followingaccounting policy was the most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation
of our financial statements in the year ended December 31, 2023.

Identification of performance obligations — research collaborations and related agreements

When the Company enters into research collaborationagreements with customers, both new agreements and
amendments to pre-existing agreements, these contracts typically include various promises to customers, both explicit
and implicit. As the Company’s research collaborations normally relate to early-stage research and development for
novelcelltherapies, they ofteninclude services, licensesand other promises to customers that the Company has not
previously provided. As such, when the Company enters into a new collaboration with customers, an assessment is
performedto determine bothwhat theexplicit promises in the contract are, which may or may not be indicated by the
pricing structure of the contract, and whether the contract contains any implicit prom ises to the customer. This
assessment involves significant judgmentaboutwhat the substance of the collaboration with the customer is, what goods
or services the customer is ultimately engaging with the Company for and which ofthose goods and services are distinct
in the context of the contract.

The Company recognizes revenue as the identified performance obligations are satisfied, which occurs as the
Company transfers the promised good or service. The Company transfers apromised good or services as the customer
obtains control of the good or service. The nature of the performance obligation and the Company’s promise to the
customer will determine whether the performance obligationis satisfied, and therefore revenue recognized, over time or
ata pointintime. The Company recognizes revenue over timeusinga single measure of progress for each performance
obligation that most faithfully depicts the Company’s performance in transferring control of goods or services promised
to the customer. This assessmentrequires significant judgement and involves consideration of both output and input
methods to determine which measure is most appropriate for the performance obligation being satisfied. As the
Company’s collaboration agreements typically have multi-year terms or include performance obligations which are not
expected tobe settledin a short period oftime, the timing of, and measure of progress for, when the Company satisfies
performance obligations, can have a significant impact on how the Company recognizes revenue.

An exercise to identify performance obligations and determine how performance obligations are satisfied was

required in the yearsending December 31, 2023,and 2021 forthe GSK Termination and Transfer Agreement and the
Genentech Collaboration and License agreement, respectively.
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Revenue of $0.6 million was recognized in relationto the GSK Termination and Transferagreementin the year
ended December 31,2023, with currentand non-current deferred income associated with the agreement of $9.8 million
and $18.2 million at December 31, 2023, respectively.

Other Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates

Forthe yearsended December 31,2023 and 2022 these accounting policies were not considered tobe critical to
the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements, but were considered to beso forthe year
ended December 31, 2021.

Revenue Recognition
Determination of the cost to complete

Revenue allocatedto performance obligations relating to provision of development activities is recognized
using an estimate of the percentage of completion of the project based on the costs incurred on the project as a
percentage of thetotal expected costs. The determination of the percentage of completion requires management to
estimate the costs-to-complete the project. A detailed estimate of the costs-to-complete is re-assessed every reporting
period based onthe latestproject plan and discussions with project teams. If a change in facts or circumstances occurs,
the estimate will be adjusted and the revenue will be recognized based onthe revised estimate. The difference between
the cumulative revenue recognized based on the previous estimate and the revenue recognized based on the revised
estimate would be recognized as an adjustment to revenue in the period in which the change in estimate occurs.
Determiningthe estimate of the cost-to-complete requires significant judgmentand may have a significantimpacton the
amount and timing of revenue recognition. However, a 10% change in the cost-to-complete at December 31, 2023,
would not have a significant impact on revenue recognized in the year ended December 31, 2023.

Allocation of transaction price using the relative standalone selling price

Upfront payments are allocated between performance obligations using the Company's best estimate of the
relative standaloneselling price of the performance obligation. The relative standalone selling price is estimated by
determining the market values of development and license obligations. As these inputs are not directly observable, the
estimate is determined consideringallreasonably available information including internal pricing objectives used in
negotiating the contract, together with internal data regarding the cost and margin of providing services for each
deliverable, taking into account the differentstage of developmentof each development program and consideration of
adjusted-market data from comparable arrangements. Where performance obligations have been identified relating to
material rights, the determination of the relative standalone selling price of these performance obligations also includes
an assessment of the likelihood thatthe options will be exercised and any payments by the customer that are triggered
upon exercisingthe right. This assessment involves significant judgment and could have a significant impact on the
amount and timing of revenue recognition.

An assessment of the allocation of transaction price usingthe relative standalone selling price was required in
the yearsending December 31,2023and 2021 for the GSK Termination and Transfer Agreement and the Genentech
agreement, respectively, although theassessment forthe GSK Termination and Transfer Agreement in 2023 was not
consideredto be a critical estimate. The modification and termination of the GSK agreementin 2022 did not require an
assessment using the relative standalone selling price as the modification and termination did not result in any
performance obligations being identified and there was only one remaining performance obligation that was not
completely satisfied prior to the modification and termination.

Operating Leases (Incremental Borrowing Rate)

Since the rates implicit in our leases are notreadily determinable, we use the Company’s incremental borrowing
rates (the rate of interest thatwe would haveto payto borrow on a collateralized basis overa similarterm foran amount
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equalto thelease paymentsin a similar economic environment) based onthe information available at commencement
date in determiningthe discountrate used to calculate the present value of lease payments. As we have no external
borrowings, the incremental borrowing rates are determined using information on indicative borrowing rates that would
be available to usbased on the value, currency and borrowing term provided by financial institutions, adjusted for
company and market specific factors.

Although we do not expect our estimates of the incremental borrowing rates to generate material differences
within a reasonable range of sensitivities, judgement is involved in selecting an appropriate rate, and the rate selected for
each lease will havean impact on the value of the lease liability and corresponding right-of-use (ROU) asset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Deferred Taxes

Deferred taxis accounted forusingtheasset and liability method that requires the recognition of deferred tax
assetsand liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences betweenthe financial statement
carryingamountand the taxbases ofassets and liabilities at the applicable tax rates. As of December 31,2023, we have
deferred taxassets of $302.0 million, offset by deferred tax liabilities of $7.1 million and a valuation allowance of
$294.9 million.

A valuation allowance is provided when it ismore-likely-than-not thatsome portion or all of the deferred tax
assetswill not be realized. Future realization of the tax benefit of a deferred tax asset depends on the existence of
sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character (for example, ordinary income or capital gain) within the
carrybackor carryforward period available underthe tax law. The Company considers thefollowing possible sources of
taxable income when assessing whether there is sufficient taxable income to realize a tax benefit for deductible
temporary differences and carryforwards:

o future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences;

o future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards;

e taxable income in prior carryback year(s) if carryback is permitted under the tax law; and
e tax-planning strategies.

The Company considers both positive and negativeevidence regarding realization of the deferred tax assets and
the subjectivity of thisevidence. This assessment includes estimating future taxable income, scheduling reversals of
temporary differences, evaluating expectations of future profitability, determining refund potential in the event of net
operating loss carrybacks, and evaluating potential tax-planning strategies.

The Company has generated losses in the United Kingdom since inception and is forecasted to generate tax
losses forthe next several years and therefore the deferred tax assets arising in the United Kingdom are only considered

more-likely-than-not of being realized to the extent that reversing temporary taxable differences are available.

TCR?hasincurrednetlosses since acquisition and generates research and development tax credits. No net
deferred taxassets are recognized on TCR?’s losses and tax credit carryforwards because there is currently no indication

that we will make sufficient taxable profits to utilize these tax losses and tax credit carryforwards.

Adaptimmune LLChas generated taxable income since the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 due to a Service
Agreement between our U.S. and U.K. operating subsidiaries and is forecast to generate taxable income in future
periods. In determining whether the deferred taxassetis more-likely-than-not of being recognized, the Company has
takeninto account the recent history of taxable profits, the forecastof future taxable income, including whether future
originatingtemporary deductible differences are likely to be realized, and thereversal of temporary taxable deductions.
Several of the temporary deductible differences reverse overa long time period, such as those relating to share-based
compensation expense, which the Company forecasts are likely to reverse over the next five years. The Company
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considers that forecasting taxable income beyondthe next few years is very subjective due to the nature and extent ofthe
development process subcontracted from the Company in the United Kingdom to Adaptimmune LLC. Less weight has
been given to forecasts of taxable income beyond the next few years.

The Company’s analysis is subject to estimates and judgments particularly relating to the timing of the reversal
of temporary deductible differences for stock compensation expense and the availability of future taxable income beyond
the next few years, which depend on the nature and extent of the subcontract development work performed by
Adaptimmune LLC.

The deferredtax assetarising in Adaptimmune LLC isonly considered more-likely-than-not of being realized
to the extent that there are available reversing temporary taxable differences. Asthe Company believes that our cash and
cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficientto fund our operations, based uponour currently anticipated
research and development activities and planned capital spending, into early 2026, the Company considered
Adaptimmune LLC’s future taxable income over this period. Based on this assessment, the Company determined that
there is not sufficient objectively verifiable positiveevidence of future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary
differencesand carryforwards that Adaptimmune LLC will generateeachyear suchthat it would be more-likely-than-not
that thecurrent deferred taxassetin the Adaptimmune LLC may be utilized. Therefore, the Company concluded that a

full valuation allowance should be maintained against the deferred tax asset of Adaptimmune LLC.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposedto market risks in the ordinary course of our business, whichare principally limited to interest
rate fluctuations, foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, particularly between pound sterling and U.S. dollar, and
credit risk. These risks are managed by maintaining an appropriate mix of cash deposits and securities in various
currencies, placed with a variety of financial institutions for varying periods according to expected liquidity
requirements.

As of December 31, 2023, we held $2.9 million in marketable securities, with the aim of diversifying our
investments and reducing credit risks. We have not entered into investments for trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

Our surplus cashand cash equivalents are invested in interest-bearing savings, money market funds, corporate
debt securities and commercial paper from time to time. Our investments in corporate debtsecurities are subject to fixed
interest rates. Ourexposure to interest rate sensitivity is impacted by changes in the underlying U.K. and U.S. bank
interest rates and the fair market value of our corporatedebt securities will fallin value if marketinterest rates increase.
We do not believe animmediate one percentage pointchange in interest rateswould have a material effect on the fair
market value of our portfolio, and therefore we do not expect our operating results or cash flows to be significantly
affected by changes in market interest rates.

Currency Risk

We are exposedto foreign exchange rate risk because we currently operate in the United Kingdom and the
United States. Ourexpenses aregenerally denominated in the currency in which our operations are located, which are
the United Kingdom and the United States. However, our U.K.-based subsidiary incurs significant research and
development costs in U.S. dollars and, to a lesser extent, Euros.

The results of operations and cash flows will be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, which could harm our business in the future. We seek to minimize this exposure by maintaining
currency cashbalances atlevels appropriate to meet forthcoming expenses in U.S. dollarsand pounds sterling. To date,
we havenot used forward exchange contracts or other currency hedging products to manage our exchange rate exposure,
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although we may do so in the future. The exchange rate as of December 31, 2023, the last business day of the reporting
period, was £1.00 to $1.27.

Credit Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents are held with multiple banks and we monitor the credit rating of those banks.
Our investments in corporate debt securities and commercial paper are subject to credit risk. Our investment policy
limits investments to certaintypes of instruments, such as money market instruments, corporate debt securities and
commercial paper, places restrictions on maturities and concentration by type and issuer and specifies the minimum
credit ratings for all investments and the average credit quality of the portfolio.

Trade receivables were $0.8 million and $7.4 million as of December 31,2023 and 2022, respectively. Trade
receivables arise in relationto the Astellas Collaboration Agreement, the Genentechand GSK Collaboration and License
Agreements and the GSK Termination and Transfer Agreement. We have been transacting with Genentech since
October 2021, Astellas since January 2020 and GSK since 2014, during which time no credit losses have been
recognized. No balances were pastdueas of December 31,2023. As of December 31,2023, no allowance for expected
credit losses is recognized on the basis that the possibility of credit losses arising on its receivables as of December 31,
2023.

Inflation risk

Inflation may generally affect us by increasing our costof labor and research and development expenses. While
we haveexperienced increased operating expenses in recent periods, which we believe are due in part to the recent
growth in inflation, we do notbelieve thatinflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or

results of operationsduringthe yearended December 31, 2023; however, operating expenses may continue to increase in
future periods due to inflation.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required to be filed pursuant to this Item 8 are appended to this report. An index of
those financial statements is found in Item 15.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Management’s Report Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated theeffectiveness of ourdisclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and

15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.

Based onsuchevaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at December 31, 2023.

Management’s Report Regarding the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, assuch termis defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Because of its inherent limitations, internal

controloverfinancial reporting may notprevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonably assurance of achieving their control objectives. Underthe supervisionand with the
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participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officerand Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluationof the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission

Managementhas concluded thatour internal control over financial reporting was effective at December 31, 2023.
Managementhasalso concluded thatour audited financial statements included in this Report are fairly stated in all material
respects in accordance with GAAP for each of the periods presented therein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

There has been no material change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2023 thathas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

During the three-month period ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or officers adopted, modified or
terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 tradingarrangement” ora “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement”as such terms are defined
in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not laterthan 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2023.

Insider Trading Policy

The Company has adopted an insidertrading policy governingthe purchase, sale and other disposition of the
Company’s securities, which includes a provision that restricts our directors, officers,and employees from engaging in
hedging or monetizationtransactions involving our securities and from engaging in short sales of our securities. Our
insider trading policy also prohibits our directors, officers, and employees from holding our securities in margin
accounts or otherwise pledging our securities as collateral for loans. A copy of our insider trading policy is included as
Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report.

Clawback Policy

While the Company does not presently have in place any significant incentive compensation agreements or
awards related to the Company’s overall financial performance, the Company’s board of directors has adopted a
clawbackpolicy in orderto comply with federal securities laws. As such, we have adopted a clawback policy in which
we may seek the recovery and/or forfeiture of incentive compensation paid by us, including cash, equity orequity-based
compensation, in the eventthat we restate our financial statements under certain circumstances. The clawback policy
appliesto ourcurrent and former officers. A copy of our clawback policy is included as Exhibit 97.1 to this Annual
Report.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not laterthan 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2023.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not laterthan 120 days after the close of our fiscal year

ended December 31, 2023.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not laterthan 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2023.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not laterthan 120 days after the close of our fiscal year

ended December 31, 2023.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) 1. Financial Statements

As part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the consolidated financial statements are listed in the
accompanying index to financial statements on page F-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted becausetheyare notrequired, notapplicable, not presentin amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or the required information is otherwise included.
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3. Exhibit Index

The followingis a list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporated herein
by reference:

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

2.17 Agreement and Plan of Merger, datedas of March 5, 2023, by andamong Adaptimmune Therapeutics pl,
CM Merger Sub, Inc.and TCR2 Therapeutics Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Form
8-K filed with the SEC on March 6, 2023).

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 5,2023, by and among
Adaptimmune, CM Merger Sub, Inc. and TCR? (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-271145)).

3.1 Articles of Association of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 3.1 to our
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 16, 2016)

4.1 Form of certificate evidencing ordinary shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

4.2 Form of Deposit Agreementamong Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, Citibank, N.A., as the depositary
bank and Holders and Beneficial Owners of ADSs issued thereunder (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

4.3 Form of American Depositary Receipt(included in Exhibit 4.2) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3
to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

4.4* Description of the Registrant’s Securities.

10.17 Collaboration Agreement, dated January 5, 2018, between Adaptimmune Limited and Cell Therapy
Catapult Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 toour Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2018).

10.2F Collaboration Agreement dated May 14, 2019 between Adaptimmune Limited and AlS Operating Co.,
Inc., f/k/a Alpine Immune Sciences, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on August 1, 2019).

10.37 Collaboration agreement dated as of August 26, 2019, by and between Adaptimmune Limited and Noile -
Immune Biotech, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 27, 2019).

10.4% Collaboration and License Agreement, dated January 13,2020, by and between Universal Cells, Inc. and
Adaptimmune Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on February 27, 2020).

10.5% Amended and Restated Research Collaboration and License Agreement, dated January 13, 2020, by and

between Adaptimmune Limited and Universal Cells, Inc. and effective as of November 25,2015
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on February 27, 2020).
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exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923028734/tm238549d1_ex2-1.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923028734/tm238549d1_ex2-1.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923028734/tm238549d1_ex2-1.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923028734/tm238549d1_ex2-1.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923028734/tm238549d1_ex2-1.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923028734/tm238549d1_ex2-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923042202/tm239007d3_ex2-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923042202/tm239007d3_ex2-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465923042202/tm239007d3_ex2-2.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916127557/a16-13433_1ex3d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916127557/a16-13433_1ex3d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916127557/a16-13433_1ex3d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916127557/a16-13433_1ex3d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000104746915003918/a2224340zex-4_1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000104746915003918/a2224340zex-4_1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000104746915003918/a2224340zex-4_1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000104746915003918/a2224340zex-4_1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472033/000119380515000626/e613593_ex99-a.htm
Exhibit:adap_Ex4_4#Exhibit:adap_Ex4_4
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918017694/a17-27708_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918017694/a17-27708_1ex10d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918017694/a17-27708_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918017694/a17-27708_1ex10d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918017694/a17-27708_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918017694/a17-27708_1ex10d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837019006758/adap-20190630ex10114cee6.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837019006758/adap-20190630ex10114cee6.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837019006758/adap-20190630ex10114cee6.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837019006758/adap-20190630ex10114cee6.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837019006758/adap-20190630ex10114cee6.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837019006758/adap-20190630ex10114cee6.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000141057819000929/tv528331_ex10-1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000141057819000929/tv528331_ex10-1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000141057819000929/tv528331_ex10-1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000141057819000929/tv528331_ex10-1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000141057819000929/tv528331_ex10-1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000141057819000929/tv528331_ex10-1.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d4.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d4.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d4.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d4.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d4.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d4.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d5.htm

Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

10.67

10.7%

10.8+

10.9+

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

First Amendment to Commercial Development and Supply Agreement, dated November 23, 2019,
between Adaptimmune Limitedand Life Technologies Corporation and effective as of November 18,
2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 toour Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on February 27, 2020).

Commercial Development and Supply Agreement, dated June 16, 2016, by and between Life
Technologies Corporationand Adaptimmune Limited and effective as of June 1, 2016 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 21, 2016).

Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated September 23,2016, by and between Adaptimmune LLC and The
University Of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our
Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016).

Strategic Collaborationand License Agreement, dated September 3,2021, by and between Adaptimmune
Limited and Genentech, Inc.andF. Hoffman-La Roche Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 4, 2021).

Employment Agreementdated as of December 16,2020by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and Elliot
Norry, and effective January 1,2021, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 16, 2020).

Employment Agreementdated as of August 1,2019 by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and John Lunger
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2019).

Employment Agreementdated as of June 26, 2019 by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and Adrian
Rawcliffe (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27,
2019).

Letter of Appointment dated July 5,2018 and effectivefrom July 5, 2018 betweenthe Company and John
Furey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 6, 2018).

Employment Agreementdated as of March 15,2017 by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and William
Bertrand (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15,
2017).

Service Agreementdated March 15, 2017 between Adaptimmune Limited and Helen Tayton-Martin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2017).

Executive Severance policy of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, dated March 10,2017, and effective
March 10,2017 (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.21to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the SEC on March 13, 2017).

Letter of Appointment, dated August9, 2016 and effective August 11,2016, between the Company and

David M. Mott (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August
12,20186).
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exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm
exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm#Exhibit:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000155837020001571/ex-10d6.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916128496/a16-13526_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916128496/a16-13526_1ex10d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916128496/a16-13526_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916128496/a16-13526_1ex10d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916128496/a16-13526_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916128496/a16-13526_1ex10d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916156035/a16-17244_1ex10d11.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916156035/a16-17244_1ex10d11.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916156035/a16-17244_1ex10d11.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916156035/a16-17244_1ex10d11.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916156035/a16-17244_1ex10d11.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465916156035/a16-17244_1ex10d11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001621227/000155837021014594/adap-20210930xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001621227/000155837021014594/adap-20210930xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001621227/000155837021014594/adap-20210930xex10d1.htm
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exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465920003256/tm201697d1_ex10-1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465920003256/tm201697d1_ex10-1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465919043176/a19-16424_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465919043176/a19-16424_1ex10d1.htm
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465919043176/a19-16424_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465919043176/a19-16424_1ex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001621227/000110465919037761/a19-12168_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit10_1_103306
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001621227/000110465919037761/a19-12168_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit10_1_103306
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001621227/000110465919037761/a19-12168_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit10_1_103306
exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918044174/a18-16503_1ex99d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1621227/000110465918044174/a18-16503_1ex99d1.htm
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10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

Letter of Appointment, dated August9, 2016 and effective August 11,2016, between the Company and
Lawrence M. Alleva (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 12, 2016).

Letter of Appointment, dated August9, 2016 and effective August 11, 2016, between the Company and
Ali Behbahani (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.3to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August
12,2016).

Service Agreementdated February 17, 2020, between Adaptimmune Limited and Gavin Wood, and
effective April 1,2020, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 toour Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
February 18, 2020).

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc Company Share OptionPlan, dated March 16,2015, as amended on April
15,2015, asfurther amended on January 13, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.32 to our
Transition Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2015 Share Option Scheme, dated March 16,2015,as amended on April
15,2015, January 13,2016, December 18,2017 and June 29,2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 29, 2023).

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2016 Employee Share Option Scheme, dated January 14, 2016, as
amendedon December 18,2017 and June29, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form
8-K filed with the SEC on June 29, 2023).

Adaptimmune Limited Share Option Scheme (Incorporating Management Incentive Options),asamended
onJanuary 13,2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.28 to our Transition Report on Form 20-F
filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

Adaptimmune Limited 2014 Share Option Scheme (Incorporating Enterprise Management Incentive
Options),asamended onJanuary 13,2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.29 to our Transition
Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

Adaptimmune Limited Company Share Option Plan, dated December 16,2014, as amended on January
13,2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.30to our Transition Report on Form 20-F filed with the
SEC on March 17, 2016).

Deed of Variation, dated August 20,2021, between MEPC Milton Park No. 1 Limited and MEPC Milton
Park No. 2 Limited and Adaptimmune Limited relating to a lease of 39 Innovation Drive, Milton Park
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20, 2021).

Rent Security Deposit Deed dated August 20,2021, between MEPC Milton Park No 1 Limitedand MEPC
Milton Park No. 2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relating to 39
Innovation Drive and 60 Jubilee Avenue, MiltonPark (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20, 2021).
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Agreement dated August 13,2021, between MEPC MiltonPark No 1 Limited and MEPC Milton Park No.
2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relatingto 39 Innovation Drive and
60 Jubilee Avenue, MiltonPark (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on August 13, 2021).

Deed of Variationdated August 13,2021, between MEPC MiltonPark No 1 Limited and MEPC Milton
Park No. 2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relating to a lease of 60
Jubilee Avenue, Milton Park (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on August 13, 2021).

Lease, dated February 28,2018, between MEPC Milton Park No. 1 Limited, MEPC Milton Park No. 2
Limited and Adaptimmune Limited relating to 39 Innovation Drive, Milton Park (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3to our Annual Report on Form 10-K forthe yearended December 31,2017 filed
with the SEC on March 15, 2018).

Rent Security Deposit Deed, dated February 28,2018, between MEPC Milton Park No. 1 Limited, MEPC
Milton Park No. 2 Limited and Adaptimmune Limited relating to 39 Innovation Drive, Milton Park
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2018).

Lease, dated October 24,2016, by and between MEPC Milton Park No. 1 Limited and MEPC Milton Park
No. 2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relating to 60 Jubilee Avenue
Milton Park (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
November 10, 2016).

Lease Agreement, dated July 28,2015, between L/S 351 Rouse Boulevard, LP, and Adaptimmune LLC
relatingto 351 Rouse Boulevard, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to
our Transition Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on October 13, 2015).

Amendment Agreement No. 6, dated July 20,2018 between Adaptimmune Limited and GlaxoSmithKline
Intellectual Property Development Ltd. (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.1to our Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on August 2, 2018).

Amendment Agreement No. 5, dated September 7, 2017 between Adaptimmune Limited and
GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property DevelopmentLtd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 2, 2017).

Amendment Agreement No. 2, dated February 2, 2016 between Adaptimmune Limited and
GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property Development Ltd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to our
Transition Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

Amendment Agreement No. 1, dated May 8, 2015 between Adaptimmune Limited and GlaxoSmithKline
Intellectual Property Development Ltd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Transition Report
on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated May 30, 2014 between Adaptimmune Limited and
GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property DevelopmentLtd (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.2to our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

Employment Agreementdated as of May 4, 2022 by and between Adaptimmune Limited and Joanna
Brewer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 8-K Filed with the SEC on May 4, 2022).
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10.41 Deed of Surrender of Part dated June 15, 2022, between MEPC Milton Park No 1 Limited and MEPC
Milton Park No. 2 Limited and Adaptimmune Limited relatingto a leaseof 39 Innovation Drive, Milton
Park (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 8-K Filed with the SEC on June 15, 2022). .

10.42 Deed of Variationdated June 15, 2022, between MEPC Milton Park No 1 Limitedand MEPC Milton Park
No. 2 Limited and Adaptimmune Limited relating to a lease of 39 Innovation Drive, Milton Park
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K Filed with the SEC on June 15, 2022).

10.43 Amendment Agreement No. 8, dated December 19, 2022 between Adaptimmune Limited and
GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property DevelopmentLtd (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.1to our
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2022).

10.44 Letter of Appointment dated February 15, 2023 between Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and Kristen
Hege (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 16,
2023).

10.45 Letter of Appointment, dated June 1, 2023, by and between Adaptimmune and Andrew Allen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 1, 2023).

10.46 Letter of Appointment, dated June 1,2023, by and between Adaptimmune and Priti Hegde (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 1, 2023).

10.47 Letter of Appointment, dated June 1, 2023, by and between Adaptimmune and Garry Menzel
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 1, 2023).

19.1* Insider Trading Policy.

21.1* List of Subsidiaries.

23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP

31.1* Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuantto 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a).

31.2* Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a).

32.1* Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C.1350.

32.2* Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuantto 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C.1350.

97.1* Clawback Policy.

101.INS*  XBRL Instance Document—the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because
its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
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Number Description of Exhibit

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Filed herewith.
t Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to portions of this exhibit. A complete copy of this exhibit,
including the redacted terms, has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirementsof Section 13or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly causedthisreport to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, hereunto duly authorized, on March 6, 2024.

ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC

By: /s/ Adrian Rawcliffe
Name: Adrian Rawcliffe
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONSBY THESE PRESENTS, thateach person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Adrian Rawcliffe and Gavin Wood, and each ofthem, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and
agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him orherandin his or her name, place and stead, in any
and all capacities, to sign anyandallamendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-factand agents, and each of them, full power and authority to doand perform each and every act
and thingrequisite and necessary to be donein connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she
might orcould do in person, hereby ratifyingand confirming all thatsaid attorneys-in-factand agents, orany of them or
their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the
following persons on March 6, 2024, in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Adrian Rawcliffe Chief Executive Officer and Director March 6,2024
Adrian Rawcliffe (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Gavin Wood Chief Financial Officer March 6, 2024
Gavin Wood (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
/s/ David M. Mott Chairman of the Board of Directors March 6, 2024
David M. Mott
/s/ Andrew Allen, MD, PhD Director March 6, 2024
Andrew Allen, MD, PhD
/sl Lawrence M. Alleva Director March 6, 2024
Lawrence M. Alleva
/s/ Ali Behbahani, MD Director March 6, 2024
Ali Behbahani, MD
/s/John Furey Director March 6 2024
John Furey
/sl Priti Hegde, PhD Director March 6, 2024
Priti Hegde, PhD
/s/ Kristen M. Hege, MD Director March 6, 2024
Kristen M. Hege, MD
/sl Garry Menzel, PhD Director March 6,2024

Garry Menzel, PhD
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of theyears in the three year period ended December 31,
2023, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in allmaterial respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows foreach of the years in the three year period ended
December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express anopinionon these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require thatwe plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform,anaudit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of theCompany’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our auditsincluded performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Ouraudits also included evaluating theaccounting principles used andsignificant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the
consolidated financial statements that was communicated or requiredto be communicated to the audit committee and
that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statementsand (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in
any way ouropinionon theconsolidated financial statements, taken asa whole, and we are not, by communicating the
criticalaudit matter below, providing a separate opinion onthe critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to
which it relates.

Identification of performance obligations

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on April 6,2023,the Company entered into a
transferagreementwith GSK at an aggregate transaction price at inception of $37,335,000 (£30,000,000). The Company
recognizes revenueover time based on a pattern that best reflects the satisfaction of the performance obligations.
Revenue of $0.6 million was recognized in relationto the transfer agreement in the year ended December 31, 2023, with
currentand non-currentdeferred income associated with the agreementof $9.8 million and $18.2 million as at December
31,2023, respectively.

We identified the evaluation of the Company’s identification of performance obligations as a critical audit
matter. Evaluating the Company’s identification of performance obligations required subjective and complex auditor
judgment due to the nature of the agreement and the underlying contractual terms.
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The followingare the primary procedures we performed toaddress this critical audit matter. We evaluated the
design of certaininternal controls related to the revenue process, including controls related to the determination of
performance obligations. We evaluated whether the performance obligations identified by the Company were
determined appropriately in the contextof theagreement by obtaining anunderstanding of the Company’s commitments
to any involved party by inspecting the agreement, and we evaluated the application of the revenue recognition
accounting guidance fortheagreement by comparing the Company’s accounting treatment to relevant standards and
interpretive guidance. Also, we involved aninternal healthcare and life sciences professional with specialized skills and
knowledge, who assisted in evaluating the implicit promise within the agreement, including the regulatory and other
obligations, by inspecting the agreement and comparing the obligations to industry standards.

/sl KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.

Reading, United Kingdom
March 6, 2024

F-3



ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 143991 $ 108,033
Marketable securities - available-for-sale debt securities (amortized cost of $2,940
and $97,501) net of allowance for expected credit losses of $0 and $0 2,947 96,572
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for expected credit losses of $0 and $0 821 7,435
Other current assets and prepaid expenses 59,793 43,330
Total current assets 207,552 255,370
Restricted cash 3,026 1,569
Operating leaseright-of-useassets, netof accumulated amortization of $13,220 and
$9,470 20,762 18,019
Property, plantand equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $46,020 and
$38,588 50,946 53,516
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $5,155 and $4,676 330 442
Total assets $ 282616 $ 328,916
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 8,128 $ 4,753
Operating lease liabilities, current 5,384 2,728
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 30,303 31,215
Restructuring provision — 2,285
Deferred revenue, current 28,973 23,520
Total current liabilities 72,788 64,501
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 19,851 20,349
Deferred revenue, non-current 149,060 160,892
Other liabilities, non-current 1,404 1,296
Total liabilities 243,103 247,038
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock - Ordinary shares parvalue £0.001, 1,702,760,280 authorized and
1,363,008,102 issued and outstanding (2022: 1,282,773,750 authorized and
987,109,890 issued and outstanding) 1,865 1,399
Additional paid in capital 1,064,569 990,656
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,748) (875)
Accumulated deficit (1,023,173) (909,302)
Total stockholders' equity 39,513 81,878
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 282616 $ 328,916

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Development revenue $ 60,281 $ 27,148 $ 6,149
Revenue 60,281 27,148 6,149
Research and development (126,509) (127,726) (111,090)
General and administrative (73,513) (63,387) (57,305)
Total operating expenses (200,022) (191,113) (168,395)
Operating loss (139,741) (163,965) (162,246)
Interest income 5,964 1,542 1,095
Gain on bargain purchase 22,049 — —
Other income (expense), net (807) (536) 3,852
Loss before income tax expense (112,535) (162,959) (157,299)
Income tax expense (1,336) (2,497) (791)
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders $ (113,871) $ (165/456) $ (158,090)
Net loss per ordinary share

Basic and diluted $ (0.09) $ (0.17) $ (0.17)
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic and diluted 1,206,440978  967,242403  934,833017

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net loss $ (113,871) $ (165,456) $ (158,090)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of $0, $0, and $0 (37,921) 60,421 5,808
Foreign currency gains (losses) on intercompany loan of a long-term
investment nature, net of tax of $0, $0, and $0 34,112 (49,581) (6,435)
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities, net
of tax of $0, $0, and $0 1,134 (573) (461)
Reclassificationadjustment for gains on available-for-sale debt securities
included in net loss, net of tax of $0, $0, and $0 (198) — (6)
Total comprehensive loss for the period $ (116,744) $ (155,189) $ (159,184)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICS PLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance as of January 1, 2021

Issuance of shares upon exercise of stock
options

Issue of shares under At The Market sales
agreement, net of commission and expenses
Other comprehensive loss

Share-based compensation expense

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2021
Issuance of shares upon exercise of stock
options

Issue of shares under At The Market sales
agreement, net of commission and expenses
Other comprehensive profit

Share-based compensation expense

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2022
Issuance of shares upon exercise of stock
options

Issue of shares under At The Market sales
agreement, net of commission and expenses
Issuance of shares upon acquisition of TCR?
Other comprehensive loss

Share-based compensation expense

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2023

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

other
comprehensive Total
Common Common Additional (loss) Accumulated  stockholders’
stock stock paid in capital income deficit equity

928,754,958 $ 1,325 $ 935,706 $ (10,048) $ (585,756) $ 341,227
5,723,646 8 751 — — 759
3,069,330 4 2,525 — — 2,529
- - — (1,094) — (1,094)
— — 20,629 — — 20,629

— — — — (158,090) (158,090)
937,547,934 1,337 959,611 (11,142) (743,846) 205,960
5,823,534 8 42 — — 50
43,738,422 54 12,763 — — 12,817
— — — 10,267 — 10,267
— — 18,240 — — 18,240

— — — — (165,456) (165,456)
987,109,890 1,399 990,656 (875) (909,302) 81,878
14,614,410 18 238 — — 256
3,854,496 5 619 — — 624
357,429,306 443 60,320 — — 60,763

— — — (2,873) — (2,873)
— — 12,736 — — 12,736

= = = = (113,871) (113,871)
1,363,008,102 $ 1865 $ 1,064,569 3 (3,748) $ (1,023,173) $ 39,513
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ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (113,871) $ (165,456) $(158,090)
Adjustments to reconcile netloss to net cashused in operating activities:
Depreciation 9,453 5,266 5,630
Amortization 387 809 937
Gain on bargain purchase (22,049) — —
Share-based compensation expense 11,773 18,240 20,629
Unrealized foreign exchange losses/(gains) 198 (2,438) 540
(Accretion)/amortization on available-for-sale debt securities (1,986) 2,525 5,276
Other 167 816 1,173
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in receivables and other operating assets (1,291) (9,813) (19,358)
(Decrease)/increase in payables and other current liabilities (9,087) 4,408 4,207
(Increase)/decrease in deferred revenue (14,574) 3,874 149,785
Net cash used in operating activities (140,880) (141,769) 10,729
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,681) (29,496) (8,574)
Acquisition of intangible assets (199) (244) (207)
Cash from acquisition of TCR? Therapeutics Inc. 45,264 — —
Maturity or redemption of marketable securities 210,983 166,994 224,343
Investment in marketable securities (75,953) (48,117) (139,762)
Other 1,124 — _
Net cash provided by investing activities 176,538 89,137 75,800
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from offerings, net of
commissions and issuance costs 624 12,817 2,529
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 256 50 759
Net cash provided by financing activities 880 12,867 3,288
Effect of currency exchange ratechanges oncash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash 877 (2,299) 365
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 37,415 (42,064) 90,182
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at start of period 109,602 151,666 61,484
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 147,017 $ 109,602 $ 151,666
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest received $ 4,748 $ 5149 $ 7,765
Accretion/(amortization) on available-for-sale debt securities 1,986 (2,525) (5,276)
Income taxes paid (4,000) (630) (535)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-8



ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICS PLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — General

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc is registered in England and Wales. Its registered office is 60 Jubilee Avenue,
Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 4RX, United Kingdom. Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Adaptimmune” orthe “Company”)is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company primarily focused on
providing novel celltherapies to people with cancer. The Company is a leader in the development of T-cell therapies for
solid tumors. The Company’s proprietary platform enables it to identify cancer targets, find and develop cell therapy
candidates active against those targets and produce therapeutic candidates for administration to patients.

The Companyissubjectto a number of risks similar to other biopharmaceutical companies in the early stage of
clinicaldevelopment including, butnotlimited to, the needto obtain adequate additional funding, possible failure of
preclinical programs or clinical programs, the need to obtain marketing approval for its cell therapies, competitors
developing newtechnological innovations, the need to successfully commercialize and gainmarketacceptance of its cell
therapies, the needto developa reliable commercial manufacturing process, the need to commercialize any cell therapies
that may beapproved for marketing, and protection of proprietary technology. If the Company does not successfully
commercialize any of its cell therapies, it will be unable to generate product revenue or achieve profitability. The
Company had an accumulated deficit of $1,023,173,000 as of December 31, 2023.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

@) Basis of presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and its subsidiaries and other
financial information included in this Annual Report have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) and are presented in U.S. dollars. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on

consolidation.
(b) Use of estimates in financial statements

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with U.S. GAAP and SEC regulations, requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affectthe reportedamounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are primarily made in relation to revenue
recognition, estimation of theincremental borrowing rate for operating leases, and valuation allowances relating to
deferred tax assets. If actual results differ from the Company’s estimates, or to the extent these estimates are adjusted in
future periods, the Company’s results of operations could either benefit from, or be adversely affected by, any such
change in estimate.

(© Going concern

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)205-40, Going Concern, the Company has
evaluatedwhether there are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the financial statements are issued.

Managementconsiders that there are no conditions or events, in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubtabout
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern fora period of at least one year from thedatethe financial statements
are issued. Althoughthe financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, if the Company fails to
obtain sufficient additional financing in future, this may raise substantial doubt overthe Company’s ability to continue
asa going concern in future reporting periods.
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(d) Foreign currency

The reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The Company has determined the functional
currency ofthe ultimate parentcompany, Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, is U.S. dollars because it predominately raises
financeand expends cash in U.S. dollars. The functional currency of subsidiary operations is the applicable local
currency. Transactionsin foreign currencies are translated intothe functional currency of the subsidiary in which they
occurattheforeign exchange rate in effecton at the date of thetransaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the balance sheetdate are translated into the functional currency of the relevantsubsidiary at the
foreign exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognized within other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company’s U.K. subsidiary has an intercompany loanbalance in U.S dollars payable to theultimateparent
company, Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc. Beginningon July 1, 2019, the intercompany loanwas considered of a long-
term investment nature as repayment is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future. It is Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc’s intent not to request payment of the intercompany loan for the foreseeable future. The foreign
exchange gain orlosses arising on the revaluation of intercompany loans of a long-tem investment nature are reported
within other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax.

The results of operations for subsidiaries, whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, are translated at an
average rate for the period where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions andthebalance sheetare translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differencesarising fromthistranslation of foreign operations are reported as an item of other comprehensive (loss)
income.

Foreign exchange losses fortheyears ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, of $807,000 and $536,000 and
foreign exchange gains of $3,852,000, forthe yearended December 31, 2021, respectively, are included within Other
(expense) income, net in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

() Fair value measurements

The Companyisrequired to disclose informationon allassets and liabilities reportedatfair value that enables
anassessment ofthe inputs usedin determining the reported fairvalues. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes valuation
inputs based on the observable nature of those inputs. The hierarchy defines three levels of valuation inputs:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 — Inputs otherthanquoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3— Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions about the assumptions market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability

The carryingamounts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments.
Thefairvalue of marketable securities, which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis is detailed in Note 4,
Financial Instruments.
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Q) Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

The Company reports foreign currency translation adjustments and the foreign exchange gain or losses arising
on the revaluation of intercompany loans of a long-term investment nature within Other comprehensive (loss) income.
Unrealized gains and losses onavailable-for-sale debt securities are also reported within Other comprehensive (loss)
income untila gain or loss is realized, at which point they are reclassified to Other (expense) income, net in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The followingtable shows thechanges in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (in thousands):

Accumulated Accumulated Total
foreign unrealized accumulated
currency (losses) gains on other

translation  available-for-sale comprehensive
adjustments debt securities (loss) income

Balance at January 1, 2021 $(10,158) $ 110 $ (10,048)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 5,808 — 5,808
Foreign currency gains on intercompany loanof a long-term investment
nature, net of tax of $0 (6,435) — (6,435)
Unrealized holding gains onavailable-for-sale debt securities, net of tax
of $0 — (461) (461)

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income of
gainson available-for-sale debtsecurities included in net income, net of

tax of $0 — (6) (6)
Balance at December 31,2021 $(10,785) $ (357)$ (11,142)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 60,421 — 60,421

Foreign currency gains on intercompany loanof a long-term investment

nature, net of tax of $0 (49,581) — (49,581)

Unrealized holding gains onavailable-for-sale debt securities, net of tax

of $0 — (573) (573)
Balance at December 31,2022 $ 5 §$ (930) $ (875)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (37,921) — (37,921)

Foreign currency losses onintercompany loan of a long-term investment

nature, net of tax of $0 34,112 — 34,112

Unrealized holding gains onavailable-for-sale debt securities, net of tax

of $0 — 1,134 1,134

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income of

gainson available-for-sale debtsecurities included in net loss, net of tax

of $0 — (198) (198)
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ (3,754) $ 6$ (3,748)

The following amounts were reclassified out of Other comprehensive (loss) income (in thousands):

Amount reclassified
Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, Affected line item in
Component of accumulated other comprehensive income 2023 2022 2021 the Statement of Operations
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities
Reclassification adjustment for gains on available-for-sale Other (expense) income,
debt securities $ (198) $ -3 (6)  net
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@ Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

The Company considersall highly liquid investments with a maturity at acquisition date of three months or less
to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, commercial paper and corporate debt
securities with maturities of threemonths or less at acquisitionand short deposits with maturities of three months or less.

The Company’s restricted cash consists primarily of cash providing security for letters of credit in respect of
lease agreements and credit cards.

The followingtable provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the
balancesheetthat sumto the total of the same such amounts shown in the statement of cash flows (in thousands).

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 143,991 $ 108,033
Restricted cash 3,026 1,569
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash
flows $ 147,017 $ 109,602
(h) Available-for-sale debt securities

As of December 31,2023, the Company has the following investments in available-for-sale debt securities, (in
thousands):

Gross Gross Aggregate
Remaining Amortized unrealized unrealized  estimated
contractual maturity cost gains losses fair value

Cash equivalents:
Corporate debt securities Lessthan3months $ 1,601 3 — $ (1) $1,600
$ 1601 $ — $ (1) $1600

Available-for-sale debt securities:
Corporate debt securities 3monthstolyear $ 2940 $ 7
$ 2940 $ 7

—  $2947
— $2947

&+ A

As of December 31,2022, the Company had the following investments in available-for-sale debt securities (in
thousands):

Gross Gross Aggregate
Remaining Amortized unrealized unrealized estimated
contractual maturity cost gains losses fair value

Available-for-sale debt securities:
Corporate debt securities Lessthan3month: $45386 $ — $ (72) $45,314
U.S. Treasury securities Lessthan3month: 5,953 1 — 5,954
Agency bonds 3monthstolyear 5,008 — (154) 4,854
Corporate debt securities 3monthstolyear 41,154 — (704) 40,450

$97501 $ 1 $ (930) $96,572
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Managementdetermines the appropriate classification of its investments in available-for-sale debt securities at
the time of purchase and reevaluates suchdesignationas of eachreporting date. The securities are classified as current or
non-current based on the maturity dates and management’s intentions.

At December 31,2023, the Company has classified all of its available-for-sale debt securities as current assets
on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets based onthe highly -liquid nature of these investment securities and
because these investment securities are considered available for use in current operations.

The investment in available-for-sale debt securities is measured at fairvalueateachreporting date. Unrealized
gainsand lossesare excluded fromearnings and are reported as a componentof Other comprehensive (loss) income, net
of tax. Realized gains and losses are included in Other income (expense), net. Interest income and amortization of
premiumsanddiscounts at acquisition are includedin Interestincome. Inthe yearended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021 proceeds from the maturity or redemption of available-for-sale debtsecurities were $210,983,000, $166,994,000
and $224,343,000, respectively. There were realized gains of $198,000, $nil and $6,000 recognized on settlement of
available-for-sale debtsecurities during the years ended December 31,2023, 2022 and 2021 respectively. The Company
reclassified the gains and losses out of accumulated other comprehensive loss during the same periods.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether each individual investment is impaired, which occurs if
the fairvalue is less than theamortized cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums and discounts at acquisition. If the
investment isimpaired, the impairmentis assessed to determine if it is otherthantemporary. Impairments judged to be

other than temporary are included in other (expense) income, net when they are identified.

The aggregate fair value (in thousands) and number of securities held by the Company (including those
classified as cash equivalents) in an unrealized loss position as of December 31,2023 and 2022 are as follows (in

thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Fair
market
Fair market Number of value of Number of
value of investments investments investments
investments in an in an in an
in an unrealized unrealized  unrealized
unrealized loss Unrealized loss loss Unrealized
loss position position losses position position losses
Marketable securities in a continuous loss
position for 12 months or longer:
Corporate debt securities $ — — $ — $74481 16 $ (679)
Agency bond — — — 4,854 1 (154)
Marketable securities in a continuous loss
position for less than 12 months:
Corporate debt securities $ 1,600 1% (1) $11,283 2 $ (97)
$ 1,600 T § (1) $90618 19 $ (930)

As of December 31,2023and 2022, no allowance for expected credit losses has been recognized in relation to
securities in an unrealized loss position. This is because the unrealized losses are not severe, do not represent a
significant proportion ofthe total fair marketvalue of theinvestments and all securities haveaninvestment-grade credit
rating. Furthermore, the Company does not intend to sell the debt security in an unrealized loss position, and it is
unlikely that the Company will be required to sell the security before the recovery of the amortized cost.

The cost of securities sold is based onthe specific-identification method. Interest on debt securities is included
in interest income.

F-13



Our investment in available-for-sale debt securities is subject to credit risk. The Company’s investment policy
limits investments to certaintypes of instruments, such as money market instruments and corporate debt securities,
placesrestrictions on maturities and concentration by type and issuer and specifies the minimum credit ratings for all
investments and the average credit quality of the portfolio.

(i) Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable include amounts billed to customersand accrued receivables where only the passage of
time is required before payment of amounts due.

Managementanalyses currentand past due accounts and determines if an allowance for credit losses is required
based oncollection experience, credit worthiness of customers and other relevant information. As of December 31,2023
and 2022, no allowance forexpected credit losses is recognized on the basis that the possibility of credit losses arising on
its receivables is considered to be remote. The process of estimating credit losses involves assumptions and judgments
and the ultimate amounts of uncollectible accounts receivable could be in excess of the amounts provided.

()] Clinical materials

Clinical materials for use in research and development with alternative future use are capitalizedas either other
current assets or other non-current assets, depending on the timing of their expected consumption. The Company

assesses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicatethatanasset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.
(K) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plantand equipment is stated at cost, less any impairment losses, less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.
The following table provides the range of estimated useful lives used for each asset type:

Computer equipment 3to 5 years

Laboratory equipment 5 years

Office equipment 5 years

Leasehold improvements the expected duration of the lease

Assets under construction are not depreciated until the asset is available and ready for its intended use.

The Company assesses property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

() Intangibles

Intangibles primarily includeacquired software licenses and third party software in development, which are
recorded at cost and amortized over the estimated useful lives of approximately three years.

Intangibles are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset’s
carryingamount may not be recoverable.

(m) Leases
The Company determines whether an arrangementis a lease at contract inception by establishing if the contract
conveystheright to use, or control the use of, identified property, plant, orequipmentfor a period of time in exchange

forconsideration. Leases may be classified as finance leases or operating leases. All the Company’s leases are classified
as operating leases. Operating lease right-of-use (ROU) assets and operating lease liabilities recognized in the
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Consolidated Balance Sheetrepresentthe right to use anunderlying asset for the lease term and an obligation to make
lease payments arising from the lease respectively.

Operatinglease ROU assetsand operating lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date
based onthe present value of minimum lease payments over the lease term. Since the rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rates (the rate of interest that the Company would
have to pay to borrowona collateralized basis overa similarterm foranamount equal to the lease paymentsin a similar
economic environment) based onthe information available atcommencement date in determining thediscount rate used
to calculatethe present value of lease payments. Asthe Company has no external borrowings, the incremental borrowing
rates are determined using information onindicative borrowing rates that would be available to the Company based on
the value, currency and borrowing term provided by financial institutions, adjusted for company and market specific
factors. The lease term is based on the non-cancellable period in the lease contract, and options to extend the lease are
included whenit is reasonably certain thatthe Company will exercise that option. Any termination fees are included in
the calculation of the ROU asset and lease liability when it is assumed that the lease will be terminated.

The Company accounts for lease components (e.g. fixed payments including rent and termination costs)
separately from non-lease components (e.g. common-area maintenance costs and service charges based on utilization)

which are recognized over the period in which the obligation occurs.

At each reporting date, the operating lease liabilities are increased by interestand reduced by repayments made
under the lease agreements.

The ROU asset is subsequently measured foran operating leaseat the amount of the remeasured lease liability
(i.e. the presentvalueof theremaining lease payments), adjusted for the remaining balance of any lease incentives
received, any cumulative prepaid oraccrued rent if the lease payments are uneven throughout the lease term, and any
unamortized initial direct costs.

The Company has operating leases in relation to property for office and research facilities. All of the leases
have termination options, and it isassumedthatthe initial termination options for the buildings will be activated for most
of these. The maximum lease term without activation of termination options is to 2041.

In May 2017, the Company entered intoanagreement for the lease of a building at Milton Park, Oxfordshire,
United Kingdom and in February 2018the Company entered into the lease for that facility. The term ofthe lease expires
on October 23, 2041, with termination options exercisable by the Company in October 2031 and October 2036.

In September 2015, the Company entered into anagreement fora 25-year lease, with early termination options,
fora researchanddevelopment facility in Oxfordshire, United Kingdom. In October 2016, the Company entered into the
lease forthat facility following the completion of construction. The term ofthe lease expireson October 23, 2041, with

termination options exercisable by the Company in October 2031 and October 2036.

InJuly 2015, the Companyentered intoa 15-year lease agreement, with an early termination option at 123
months, for offices and research facilities in Philadelphia, United States. The lease commenced upon completion of
construction in October 2016.

In August 2021, the Company entered into a two-year lease agreement for the lease of a building at Milton
Park, Oxfordshire, United Kingdom with the term of the lease expiring on August 12, 2023. The lease contained
termination options exercisable by the Company ona minimum of four months prior notice. During January 2023, the
Company served notice to terminate the lease effective on May 31, 2023.

On June 1, 2023, as part of the acquisition of TCR?, the Company became the lessee of three office,

manufacturingand research facilities in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The term of each of these leases expireson January
15,2024, September 30, 2024, and June 30, 2025, respectively.
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The Company haselected not to recognizean ROU assetand lease liability for short-term leases. A short-term
lease is a lease with a leaseterm of 12 months or lessand which does not include an option to purchase the underlying
asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.

Operating leasecosts are recognized ona straight-line basis over theleaseterm, and they are categorized within
Researchand development and Generaland administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The
operating lease cash flows are categorized under Net cash used in operatingactivities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows.

(n) Segmental reporting

Operatingsegments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial
informationis available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker in making decisions regarding resource
allocation and assessing performance. The Company’s chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”), its Chief
Executive Officer and the senior leadership team (comprising the Executive Team members and three senior vice
presidents), manages the Company’s operations on an integrated basis for the purposes of allocating resources. When
evaluatingthe Company’s financial performance, the CODM reviews total revenues, total expenses and expenses by
function and the CODM makes decisions using this information on a global basis. Accordingly, the Company has

determined that it operates in one operating segment.
(0) Revenue
Revenue isrecognizedso asto depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchangefor those goods or services. To achieve
that core principle, an entity should apply the following steps:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 3: Determine the transaction price.
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
The applicationof these stepsto our collaboration agreements is discussed in further detail by agreement in Note 3.
Variable consideration
The Company determines the variable considerationto be included in the transaction price by estimating the
most likely amount that will be received and thenapplies a constraint to reduce the considerationto theamount which is
probable ofbeingreceived. Thedetermination of whethera milestoneis probable includes consideration of the following
factors:
e whetherachievement ofa development milestoneis highly susceptible to factors outside the entity’s influence,
such as milestones involving the judgment or actions of third parties, including regulatory bodies or the

customer,

e whetherthe uncertainty about theachievement of the milestone is not expectedto be resolved for a long period
of time;

e whetherthe Company canreasonably predict that a milestonewill be achieved based on previous experience;
and
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e the complexity and inherent uncertainty underlying the achievement of the milestone.

Percentage of completion

The determination of the percentage of completion requires the Company to estimatethe costs-to-complete the
project. The Company makes a detailed estimate of the costs-to-complete, which is re-assessed every reporting period
based onthe latestproject plan and discussions with project teams. If a change in facts or circumstances occurs, the
estimate willbe adjusted and the revenuewill be recognized based on therevised estimate. The difference between the
cumulative revenuerecognized based on the previous estimate and the revenue recognized based onthe revised estimate
would be recognized as an adjustment to revenue in the period in which the change in estimate occurs.

Contract assets and liabilities

The Company recognizes a contract asset, when the value of satisfied (or part satisfied) performance obligations
is in excess of the payment due to the Company, and deferred revenue (contract liability) when the amount of
unconditional considerationis in excess of thevalue of satisfied (or part satisfied) performanceobligations. Once aright
to receive consideration is unconditional, that amount is presented as a receivable.

Changes in deferred revenue typically arise due to:

e adjustmentsarisingfroma change in the estimate ofthe cost to complete the project, which results in
a cumulative catch-up adjustmentto revenue that affects the corresponding contract asset or deferred
revenue;

e achangeinthe estimateof the transaction price dueto changes in the assessment of whether variable
consideration is constrained because it is not considered probable of being received;

e the recognition of revenue arising from deferred revenue; and
e thereclassification of amounts to receivables when a right to considerationto becomes unconditional.

A change in the estimate of variable consideration constrained (for example, if a development milestone
becomes probable of being received) could result in a significant changein the revenuerecognized and deferred revenue.

(P) Research and development expenditures

Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred.

Expenses relatedto clinicaltrials are recognized as services are received. Nonrefundable advance payments for
servicesare deferred and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as the services are rendered. This
determination isbased onanestimate ofthe services received and there may be instances when the payments to vendors
exceed the level of services provided resulting in a prepayment of the clinical expense. If the actual timing of the
performance of services varies from our estimate, the accrual or prepaid expense is adjusted accordingly.

Upfrontand milestone payments to third parties for in-licensed products or technology which has not yet
received regulatory approvalandwhich does not have alternative future use in R&D projects or otherwise are expensed
asincurred. The Company recognized a credit in relationto in-process R&D of $1,840,000 in the year ended December
31,2023,and expensed $2,316,000 and $889,000 in the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Milestone payments madeto third parties either on or subsequent to regulatoryapproval are capitalized as an
intangible asset and amortized over the remaining useful life of the product.
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Researchanddevelopment expenditure is presented net of R&D tax and expenditure credits from the U.K.
government, which are recognized over the period necessary to matchthe reimbursement with the related costs when it
is probable thatthe Company has complied with any conditions attached and will receive the reimbursement. As a
companythat carries outextensive researchand developmentactivities, Adaptimmune Limited is able to surrender the
trading losses thatarise from its qualifying research and deve lopment activities fora payable tax credit. Reimbursable
R&D tax and expenditure credits were $15,542,000, $30,226,000, and $34,082,000 in the years ended
December 31,2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

()] Share-based compensation

The Company awards certain employees options over the ordinary shares of the parent company. The cost of
share-basedawards issuedto employees are measured at the grant-date fair value of the award and recognized as an
expenseoverthe requisite service period. The fairvalueof theoptions is determined using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. Share options with graded-vesting schedules are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period foreach separately vesting portion of theaward. The Company has electedto account for forfeitures of
stock options when they occur by reversing compensation cost previously recognized, in the period the award is
forfeited, for an award that is forfeited before completion of the requisite service period.

N Retirement benefits

The Company operates defined contribution pensionschemes forits directors and employees. The contributions
to thisscheme are expensed to the Consolidated Statementof Operations as they falldue. The pension contributions for
theyearsended December 31,2023, 2022, and 2021 were $2,628,000, $2,810,000 and $2,505,000, respectively.

(s) Interest income

Interest income arises on cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale debt securities and is net of amortization
(accretion) of the premium (discount) on purchase of the debt securities of ($1,986,000), $2,525,000,and $5,276,000 in
the years ended December 31,2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

® Income taxes

Income taxes forthe period comprise current and deferredtax. Income tax is recognized in the Consolidated
Statementof Operations exceptto the extentthatit relates to items occurringduring the year recognized either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in other comprehensive income orequity. We
release stranded tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income using the portfolio approach.

Currenttax isthe expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the current or prior
periods using tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxis accounted forusingtheasset and liability method that requires the recognition of deferred tax
assetsand liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences betweenthe financial statement
carryingamountand the taxbases ofassetsand liabilities at the applicable tax ratesand for operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Avaluationallowance is providedto reduce deferred tax assets to the amount thatis more likely than not
to be realized. The Company evaluatesthe realizability of its deferred taxassets and adjusts the amount of the valuation
allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization include the Company’s forecast of
income, carryback availability, reversing taxable temporary differences and available tax -planning strategies that could
be implemented to realize the deferred tax assets.

Income tax positions must meeta more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to be recognized. Income tax
positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial
reporting period in which thatthreshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that nolonger meet the more-likely-
than-not threshold are derecognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold isno longer
met. Recognized income tax positions are measured atthe largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely of being
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realized. We recognize potential accrued interest and penalties related to income taxes within the Consolidated
Statement of Operations as income tax expense.

(u) Loss per share

Basic loss pershare is determined by dividing net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is determined by dividing net
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by theweighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
period, adjusted for the dilutive effect of all potential ordinary shares that were outstanding during the period.
Potentially dilutive shares areexcluded when the effect would be to increase diluted earnings per share or reduce diluted
loss per share.

The following table reconciles the numerator and denominator in the basic and diluted loss per share
computation (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Numerator for basic and diluted loss per share
Net loss $ (113,871) $ (165456) $ (158,090)
Net loss attributable to shareholders used for basic and diluted
EPS calculation $ (113,871) $ (165,456) $ (158,090)
Denominator for basic and diluted loss per share
Weighted average number of shares used to calculate basic and
diluted loss per share 1,206,440978 967,242403  934,833017

The effects of the following potentially dilutive equity instruments have been excluded from the diluted loss per
share calculation because they would have an antidilutive effect on the loss per share for the period:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Weighted average number of share options® 185,994528 155,673264 115,225480

From January 1, 2024 through to March 4,2024 the Company granted 37,097,688 options over ordinary shares
with an exercise price determined by reference to themarket valueof an ADS at theclosing rate onthe last business day
priorto the date of grant, and 26,984,352 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price equal to the nominal value
of the ordinary shares (£0.001 per share). These grants have not been included in the figures above.

() Restructuring costs

Restructuring costs are comprised of amounts payable to employees because of redundancy related to
restructuring programs. The Company classifies redundancy payments as either, contractual termination benefits if they
relate to an ongoing benefit arrangement, including terms ofemployment contracts or termination benefits that arise
from employment law in the relevant jurisdiction, or, one-time employee termination benefits if the benefits are not
related to anongoing benefit arrangementor represent a one-time enhancement to an ongoing benefit arrangement.

A liability for contractual termination benefits is recognized when it is probable that employees will be entitled
to benefits and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

A liability for one-time employee termination benefits is recognized from the communication date. If

employees are not required to render service until they are terminated or will not be retainedto render service beyond the
minimum retention periodin orderto receive the termination benefits, a liability for one-time employee termination

F-19



benefitsis recognizedatthe communication date. If employees are required to render services beyond the minimum
retention period in orderto receive thetermination benefits, a liability ismeasured initially at the communication date
based onthe fairvalueof the liability as of the termination date and is recognized ratably over the required service
period.

Restructuring costs are recognized within Generaland administrative expenses with the corresponding liability
recognized in current or non-current liabilities depending on the expected timing of payments.

(w) New accounting pronouncements
Adopted in the year ended December 31, 2023

Measurement of credit losses on financial instruments

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 - Financial Instruments - Credit losses, which replaces the
incurred loss impairment methodology for financial instruments in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects
expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable informationto inform
credit loss estimates. The Company adopted theguidance in the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2023. The guidance
must be adopted usinga modified-retrospective approach and a prospective transition approach is required for debt
securities forwhich an other-than-temporary impairmenthad beenrecognized before the effective date. There was no

material impact from the adoption of the guidance on the Company’s Consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 — Business Combinations (Topic 805)- Accounting for
Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which improves the accounting for acquired
revenue contracts with customers in a business combination by addressing diversity in and inconsistency related to the
following: (1) recognition ofanacquired contract liability and (2) payment terms and their effect onsubsequent revenue
recognized by the acquirer. The amendments in this ASU resolve this inconsistency by requiring thatan entity (acquirer)
recognize and measure contract assets and liabilities acquired in a business combinationin accordance with Topic 606,
in contrast to current GAAP which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination,
including contract assets and contract liabilities, are measured at fair value as of the acquisition date.

The Company adoptedtheguidance in the fiscal year beginning January 1,2023. The amendments in this ASU
should be applied prospectively to business combinations occurring on or after the effective date of the amendments.
Adoptionof thenew standard had no impact onthe Company’s Consolidated financial statements upontransition. There
was also no impact from adopting this standard on the acquisition accounting for TCR? Therapeutics Inc. as no contracts
with customers were assumed as a result of the business combination.

To be adopted in future periods

Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 — Segment Reporting (Topic 280) — Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures, which improves segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced
disclosure requirements for significant segment expenses. The improved disclosure requirements apply to all public
entitiesthat arerequired to report segment information, including those with only one reportable segment. The Company
intendsto adopt theguidance in the fiscal yearbeginning January 1, 2024. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of the guidance on its Consolidated financial statements.

Improves to Income Tax Disclosures

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09— Income Taxes (Topic 740) — Improvements to Income
Tax Disclosures, which improves incometax disclosures primarily relatingto the rate reconciliation and income taxes
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paid information. Thisincludesa tabular reconciliation using both percentages and reporting currency amounts, covering
varioustaxandreconciling items, and disaggregated summaries of income taxes paid during the period. For public
business entities, the guidanceis effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption
permitted. The Company intends to adoptthe guidance in the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2025. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of the guidance on its Consolidated financial statements.

x) Business combinations

The Company determines whether a transaction or other event is a business combination by determining
whetherthe assetsacquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business. Business combinations are accounted for by
applyingthe acquisition method as set out by ASC 805 Business combinations. The acquisition method of accounting
requires the acquirer to recognize and measure all identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree attheiracquisition-date fair values, with certain exceptions for specific items.

Forleasesacquired in a business combination in which the acquiree is a lessee, the acquirer shall measure the
lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments, as if the acquired lease were a new lease of the
acquireratthe acquisition date. The right-of-use asset shall be measured at the same amount as the lease liability,
adjusted to reflect favorable or unfavorable terms of the leasewhen compared with market terms. For leases in which the
acquiredentity isa lessee, the Company has elected not to recognize assets or liabilities at the acquisition date for leases
that, at the acquisition date, have a remaining lease term of 12 months or less.

Goodwillis measured as the excess of theconsiderationtransferred in the business combination over the net
acquisitiondate amounts of theidentifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. I f instead the netacquisitiondate
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired andthe liabilities assumed exceeds the consideration transferred, a gain on
bargain purchase is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measuredas the sumof the fair values of the assets transferred by the acquiring entity, the liabilities
incurred by the acquiring entity to former owners of the acquired entity, and theequity interests issued by the acquiring
entity.

The results of operations of businessesacquired by the Company are included in the Company’s Consolidated
Statement of Operations as of the respective acquisition date.

Where the acquiring entity exchanges its share-based payment awards for awards held by grantees of the
acquiree, such exchanges are treated as a modification of share-based paymentawards andarereferredto as replacement
awards. The replacementawards are measuredas of the acquisition date and the portion of the fair-value-based measure
of the replacement award that is attributable to pre-combination vesting is considered part of the consideration
transferred. Forawards with service-based vesting conditions only, theamount attributable to pre-combination vesting is
the fair-value-based measureof theacquiree award multiplied by the ratio of the employee’s pre-combination service
period to the greater of the total service period of the original service period of the acquiree award.

Acquisition-related costs, including advisory, legaland other professional fees and administrative fees are expensed as

incurred except for the costs of issuing equity securities, which are recognized as a reduction to theamounts recognized
in the Statement of Changes in Equity for the respective equity issuance.
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Note 3 — Revenue

The Company hadthree revenue-generating contracts with customers in the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022: a collaboration agreement with Astellas thatwas terminatedas of March 6, 2023, a strategic collaborationand
license agreement with Genentech anda termination and transfer agreement with GSK that was effective on April 6,

2023. The original collaboration and license agreement with GSK was terminated in 2022.

Revenue comprises the following categories (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Development revenue $ 60,281 $ 27,148  $ 6,149
$ 60,281 $ 27,148 $ 6,149

Deferred revenuedecreased by $6,379,000 from $184,412,000 at December 31,2022 to $178,033,000 at
December 31, 2023 primarily due to $59,072,000 of revenue recognized in the year that was included in opening
deferred revenue. Thiswas offset by a $7,174,000 increase caused by the changein the exchange rate between pounds
sterlingand theU.S. dollarfrom£1.00 to $1.21 at December 31, 2022 to £1.00 to $1.27 at December 31, 2023, by
additional payments of $15,000,000 received under the Genentech Collaborationand License Agreement in November
2023, and by payments of $9,613,000, $3,727,000and $15,226,000 from GSK in the second, third and fourth quarters of
2023, respectively.

Deferred revenuedecreased by $15,010,000 from $199,422,000 at December 31, 2021 to $184,412,000 at
December 31,2022 primarily due to a $20,601,000 decrease caused by the change in the exchange rate between pounds
sterlingand theU.S. dollar from£1.00to $1.35 at December31,2021to £1.00to $1.21atDecember 31, 2022 and due
to $17,648,000 of revenue recognized during the period. This was offsetby a $20,000,000 additional payment received
under the Genentech Collaboration and License Agreement in December 2022,

The aggregateamount of the transaction price that is allocated to performance obligations thatare unsatisfied or
partially satisfied under the agreements as of December 31, 2023, was $312,747,000.

The Genentech Collaboration and License Agreement

On September 3, 2021, the Company entered into a Strategic Collaboration and License Agreement with
Genentech, Inc.and F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd, which became effectiveon October 19,2021 upon expiry or termination
of all applicable waiting periods under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

Under the Agreement, Genentech and Adaptimmune (each, a “party” and together, the “parties™) will
collaborate todevelop two types of allogeneic T-cell therapies: (i) “off-the-shelf” af T-cell therapies directed to initial
collaboration targets, with Genentech having the right to designate additional collaboration targets, up to five
collaboration targets in total, and (ii) personalized therapies utilizing oy T-cell receptors (TCRs) isolated from a patient,
with such therapies being administered to the same patient.

The parties will collaborateto perform a research program, initially duringan eight year period (which may be
extendedforup totwo additional two year terms at Genentech’s election upon payment ofan extension fee for each two-
yearterm),to develop the cell therapies, following which Genentech will determine whether to further develop and
commercialize such therapies. Under the Agreement, Adaptimmuneexclusively licenses Genentech certain intellectual
propertyrights it controls to enable Genentech to research, develop, manufacture and commercialize (i) “off-the-shelf”
T-cell therapies directed tothe collaboration targets and (i) personalized T-cell therapies developed within the scope of
the Agreement, and Genentech s solely responsible for the clinical development and commercialization of any cell
therapies arising fromthe collaboration. Adaptimmune will manufacture and supply cell therapies for Phase 1 trials of
“off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies unless Genentech decides to assume responsibility for such manufacturing.
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Underthe Agreement, Adaptimmuneis also subjectto certain restrictions on its ability to further develop and
commercialize certain cell therapies. In particular restrictions apply in relation to its ability to develop cell therapy
productsto nominated targets and todevelop competing personalized cell therapies. This restriction does not prevent
Adaptimmune from developing cell therapies to othertargets or cell therapies containing different types of receptors.

Under the terms of the Agreement, Adaptimmune will receive $150 million asan upfront payment, which was
received in the fourth quarter of 2021. Adaptimmune may also receive:

e $150 million in additional payments spread overa period of 5 years from theeffective date of the Agreement,
unless the agreement is earlier terminated, of whichmilestones of $20 million and $15 million were received in
the fourth quarters of 2022 and 2023, respectively;

e Research milestones of up to $50 million;

e Developmentmilestones of upto $100 million in relation to the development of “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies
per collaborationtarget (unless Adaptimmune exercises its right to opt-in to receive a profit share) and up to
$200 million in relation to the development of personalized T-cell therapies;

e Commercialization milestones of up to $1.1 billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune
exercises its right to opt-in to receivea profit share and assuming “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies are developed
to 5 targets) and for personalized T-cell therapies; and

e Netsalesmilestonesof upto $1.5billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune exercises its
right to opt-in to receive a profit share and assuming “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies are developedto 5 targets)
and for personalized T-cell therapies.

In addition, Adaptimmune will receive tiered royalties on net sales in the mid-single to low-double digits.
Collaboration target designation fees apply if Genentech exercises its right to designate additional “off-the-shelf”
collaboration targets up to a maximum of 5 targets.

Adaptimmune also has a right to opt-in to receive a profit share and to co-promote “off-the-shelf” T-cell
therapies. If Adaptimmuneelectsto opt in, then Adaptimmunewill be eligible to share 50 percent of profits and losses
from U.S.sales on such products and to receive up to $800 million in ex-U.S. regulatory and sales-based milestone
payments, as well as royalties on ex-U.S. net sales.

The payments tothe Company underthe contract are typically due upon achievement of milestones, when
rights are exercised by Genentechor on achievement of specific events for the additional payments, and within standard
payment terms. The contract does not include a significant financing component.

The parties can terminate the Agreement in the event of material breach or insolvency of the other party.
Genentech is entitled toterminate the Agreement in its entirety, on a product-by-product basis or collaboration target by
collaborationtarget basis on provision of 180 days notice. Either party may terminate the Agreementon written notice in
the event thatthe US Federal Trade Commission or US Department of Justice seeks a preliminary injunction under
applicable antitrust laws againstthe parties or where HSR clearance has not occurred within 180 days of the effective
date of the Agreement. The Agreement became effective on October 19, 2021 upon expiry of all applicable waiting
periods under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

The Company has assessed the agreement under the provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customersand ASC 808, Collaborative Arrangements. The Company determined that Genentech isa customer and has
applied theprovisions of ASC 606 to the contract and related performance obligations. The Company identified the
following performance obligations under the agreement: (i) research services and rights granted under the licenses for
each of the initial ‘off-the-shelf” collaboration targets, (ii) research services and rights granted under the licenses for the
personalized therapies, (iii) material rights relating to the option to designate each of the additional ‘off-the-shelf”
collaborationtargets and (iv) material rights relatingto the two options to extend the researchterm. The Company began
recognizingrevenue for the performanceobligations relating to the initial ‘off-the-shelf” collaboration targets and the
personalized therapies in 2021.
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The aggregatetransaction price atinceptionof the agreementwas $313.6 million comprising the $150 million
upfront payment, $150 million of additional payments and $13.6 million of other consideration. The fees for extension
of the research program, additional collaboration target designation fees, and future research, development and
commercialization milestones are notconsidered probable as of December 31,2023 and have not been included in the
transaction price. The Company may also receive sales milestones and royalties for future sales of the therapies. These
amounts havenotbeen included within the transaction price as of December 31,2023 because they are sales-based and
would be recognized when the subsequent sales occur.

The aggregatetransaction price is allocated to the performance obligations depending on therelative standalone
selling price of the performance obligations. In determining the bestestimate of the relative standalone selling price, the
Company considered internal pricing objectives it used in negotiating the contract, together with internal data regarding
the cost and margin of providing research services and market data from comparable arrangements.

The amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligation is recognized as or when the
Company satisfies the performance obligation. The Company expects to satisfy the performance obligations relating to
the initial ‘off-the-shelf” collaboration targets and the personalized therapies as development progresses and recognizes
revenue based on an estimate of the percentage of completion ofthe projectdetermined based on the costs incurred on
the projectasa percentage of the total expected costs. The Company considers that this depicts the progress of the
project, where the significant inputs would be internal project resources and third -party costs. The Company expects to
satisfy the performanceobligations relating to the material rights to designate additional ‘off-the-shelf” collaboration
targets from thepoint that the options are exercised and then as development progresses, in line with the initial ‘off-the-
shelf” collaboration targets, orat thepointin time thatthe rights expire. The Company expects to satisfy the performance
obligations relatingto the material rights to extend the research term fromthe point that the options are exercised and
then over period of the extension, or at the point in time that the rights expire.

The amountof the transaction price that isallocated to performance obligations thatare unsatisfied or partially
satisfied under the agreement as of December 31,2023 was $275,185,000, of which $168,349,000 is allocated to the
research services andrights granted for the initial ‘off-the-shelf” collaboration targets, $87,359,000 is allocated to the
research servicesandrights granted for the personalized therapies, $13,147,000 is allocated to the material rights to
designatethe additional ‘off-the-shelf’ collaboration targets, $5,064,000 is allocated to the material right for the first
option to extend the research term and $1,266,000 is allocated to the material right for the optionto extend the research
term a second time.

The Astellas Collaboration Agreement

The Companyand Universal Cells mutually agreed to terminate the Astellas Collaboration Agreement as of
March 6,2023 (the “Termination Date”). In connection with the termination, all licenses and sublicenses granted to
either party pursuant tothe Collaboration Agreement ceased as of the Termination Date. There were no termination
penalties in connectionwith the termination; however the Company is still entitled to receive reimbursement for research
and development work performed up to and including a period of 30 days after the Termination Date.

The Company originally satisfied the performance obligations relating to the three co-development targets as
development progresses and recognized revenuebasedon an estimate of the percentage of completion of the project
determined based on the costs incurred on the project as a percentage of the total expected costs. The Company
originally determined that the performance obligations relating to the two independent Astellas targets would be
recognized ata point-in-time, uponcommencement of the licenses in the event of nomination of the target, since they
were right-to-use licenses.

The terminationwas accounted forasa contract modification on a cumulative catch-up basis. No performance
obligations were identifiedasaresult of the modificationas there were no further goods or services to be provided by
the Company and the modification resulted in the remaining unsatisfied and partially satisfied performance obligations
underthe collaboration becoming fully satisfied. The aggregate transaction price of the contract modification was
$42,365,000 whichincluded the remaining deferred incomethathad notbeenrecognizedasrevenueas ofthe date ofthe
modificationand variable consideration from the remaining reimbursement income to bebilled under the collaboration
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atthe end of the 30day period after the Effective Date. The transaction price of themodification was recognized in full
in March 2023 andthere isno remaining transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or
partially satisfied under, no remaining deferred income relating to, the agreement as of December 31, 2023.

The GSK Collaboration and License Agreement

The GSK Collaboration and License Agreementconsisted of multiple performance obligations, including the
development of a third target, which was the only performance obligation for which revenue was recognized in 2022.

The collaboration was terminated by GSK in October 2022 (effective December 23, 2022). A further
amendmentto the collaboration agreement wasentered into on December 19,2022 for the deletion of certain provisions
relating to GSK’s post termination manufacturing and supply obligations and payment of £5,000,000 by GSK to
Adaptimmune. Theaggregate transaction price of the contractmodification was $6,500,000, which was recognized as
revenue onthe date of the modification. No revenue was recognizedin relation to the GSK Collaboration and License
Agreement in 2023.

The GSK Termination and Transfer Agreement

On April 6,2023, the Company and GSK entered into a Termination and Transfer Agreement (the
“Termination and Transfer Agreement”) regarding the return ofrights and materials comprised within the PRAME and
NY-ESO cell therapy programs. The parties will work collaboratively to ensure continuity for patients in ongoing lete-
cel clinical trials forming part of the NY-ESO cell therapy program.

As part of the agreement, sponsorship and responsibility for the ongoing IGNYTE and long-term follow-up
(“LTFU”) trials relating to the NY-ESO cell therapy program will transfer to Adaptimmune. In return for this,
Adaptimmune received an upfront payment of £7.5 million in June 2023 following the signing of the agreement and
milestone payments of £3 million and £12 million in September 2023 and December 2023, respectively. Further
milestone payments totaling £7.5 million will be due in relation to successive stages of transfer of the trials.

The Company determined that GSK is a customer and has accounted for the agreement under ASC 606
Revenuefrom Contracts with Customers. The agreement isaccounted foras a separate contract from the original GSK
Collaboration and License Agreement. The Company has identified the following performance obligations under the
agreement: (i) to take over sponsorship and complete the IGNYTE trialand (ii) to take over sponsorship and complete
the LTFU trial.

The aggregate transaction price at inception of the agreement was $37,335,000 comprising the total
£30,000,000 upfront and milestone payments. No value was ascribed to non-cash consideration and there was no
variable consideration identified. The aggregate transaction price isallocated to the performance obligations depending
on the relative standaloneselling price of the performance obligations. Indetermining the best estimate of the relative
standalone selling price, the Company considered the internal pricing objectives it used in negotiating the contract,
togetherwith internal data regarding the expected costs anda standard margin on those costs, for completing the trials.
The amountof the transactionprice allocated to the performance obligation is recognized as or when the Company
satisfies the performance obligation.

The Company expects to satisfy the performance obligations over time from the point that sponsorship of the
active trials that make up the trial transfers and thenover the period that thetrial is completed, based on the number of
patientstransferredandstillactively enrolled to date on the trial at a given period-end relative to the total estimated
periods of active patient enrollment over the estimated duration of the trial.

The Company considers thatthis depicts the progress of the completion of thetrials under the Termination and

Transfer Agreement, as the status of patients on thetrial is not directly affected by decisions that the Company might
make relating to its own development of the NY-ESO cell therapy program.
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The amountof the transaction price that is allocated to performance obligations thatare unsatisfied or partially
satisfied under the agreement as of December 31, 2023 was $37,562,000, of which $20,903,000 is allocated to the
IGNYTE performance obligation and $16,659,000 is allocated to the LTFU performance obligation.

Note 4 — Financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consistprimarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities,
restricted cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable.

Assetsand liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis based on Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 fair
value measurement criteria as of December 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Fair value measurements using

December 31, Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2023
Assets classified as cash equivalents:
Corporate debt securities $ 1600 $ 1600 $ — $ —
Assets classified as available-for-sale debt securities:
Corporate debt securities $ 2,947 2947 $ —
$ 2947 $ 2947 9 — $ —

Assetsand liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis based on Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 fair
value measurement criteria as of December 31, 2022 are as follows (in thousands):
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Fair Value Measurements Using

December 31, Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2022
Assets classified as cash equivalents:
Corporate debt securities $ 2984 $ 2984 $ —  $ —
Assets classified as available-for-sale debt securities:
Corporate debt securities $ 85764 $ 85764 $ — $ —
U.S. Treasury securities 5,954 — 5,954 —
Agency bonds 4,854 — 4,854 —
$ 96572 85,764 10,808 —

The Company estimates the fair value of available-for-sale debt securities and corporate debt securities
classified as cash equivalents with the aid of a third-party valuation service, which uses actual trade and indicative prices
sourced from third-party providers on a daily basis to estimate the fairvalue. If observed marketpricesare not available
(forexample, securities with short maturities and infrequent secondary market trades), the securities are priced using a
valuation model maximizing observable inputs, including market interest rates.

Significant concentration of credit risk

The Company held cash and cash equivalents of $143,990,614, marketable securities of $2,947,000 and
restricted cash of $3,027,000as of December 31,2023. The cashand cash equivalents and restricted cash are held with
multiple banks and the Company monitors the credit rating of thosebanks. The Company maintains cash balances in
excess of amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation in the United States and the U.K. Government
Financial Services Compensation Scheme in the United Kingdom.

The Company hadthree customers during the year-ended December 31, 2023, which are Genentech, Astellas
and GSK. There were accounts receivable of $821,000and $7,435,000 as of the years ended December 31,2023 and
2022, respectively. The Company has been transacting with Genentech since October 2021 and GSK since 2014, during
which time no credit losses have been recognized.

Foreign exchange risk

The Companyisexposed to foreign exchange rate risk because it operates in the United Kingdom and the
United States. Expenses are generally denominated in the currency in which the Company’s operations are located,
which are the United Kingdom andthe United States. However, the U.K.-based subsidiary incurs significant research
and development costs in U.S. dollars and, to a lesser extent, Euros.

The results of operations and cash flows will be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, which could hamm the Company’s business in the future. Management seeks to minimize this exposure
by maintaining currency cash balances at levels appropriate to meet foreseeable expenses in U.S. dollars and pounds
sterling. To date, the Company has not used forward exchange contracts or other currency hedging products to manage
exchange rate exposure, although it may do so in the future. The exchange rate as of December 31, 2023, the last
business day of the reporting period, was £1.00 to $1.27.

Interest rate risk

Surplus cash and cashequivalentsare invested in interest-bearing savings, money market funds, corporate debt
securitiesand commercial paper from timeto time. Investments in corporate debt securities are subject to fixed interest
rates. The Company’s exposureto interestrate sensitivity isimpacted by changes in the underlying U.K. and U.S. bank
interest rates and the fair market value of its corporate debtsecurities will fallin value if market interest rates increase.
Managementbelieves thatanimmediate one percentage pointchange in interest rates would not have a material effect
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on the fair market value of our portfolio, and therefore does not expect the operating results or cash flows to be
significantly affected by changes in market interest rates.

Note 5 — Other current assets

Other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

Research and development credits receivable $ 46,098 $ 30,162
Prepayments 9,954 9,472
Clinical materials 1,329 1,279
VAT receivable — 490
Other current assets 2,412 1,927
$ 59,793 $ 43,330

On January 19, 2024, a receipt of £24.2 million ($30.8 million) was received from HMRC relating to the
Research and development credits receivable.

Note 6 — Property, plant and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
Computer equipment $ 4014 $ 3818
Laboratory equipment 33,951 30,173
Office equipment 1,009 925
Leasehold improvements 57,939 28,459
Assets under construction 53 28,729
96,966 92,104
Less accumulated depreciation (46,020) (38,588)

$ 50946 $ 53516

Depreciation expense was $9,453,000, $5,266,000, and $5,630,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 7 — Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
Acquired software licenses $ 5288 $ 4930
Licensed IP rights — completed technology used in R&D 197 188

5,485 5118
Less accumulated amortization (5,155) (4,676)

$ 330 $ 442

Amortization expense was $366,000, $809,000 and $937,000 for the years ended December 31,2023,2022 and
2021 respectively. Theestimated aggregate amortization expense expected to be recorded in respect of these assets for
each of the five years ended 2028 is $216,000, $114,000, $13,000, $1,000 and $nil, respectively.
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Note 8 — Operating leases

The followingtable shows the lease costs forthe years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Lease cost:
Operating lease cost $ 5791 $ 4,367
Short-term lease cost 954 389

$ 6745 $ 4,75

Year ended
December 31,
2023 2022

Other information:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases (in thousands) $ 5863 $ 3,746

December 31,

2023 2022
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 5.4 years 6.9years
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 8.3% 6.8%

The maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating leases

2024 $ 7,130
2025 5,583
2026 4,382
2027 5578
2028 2,159
after 2028 5,545
Total lease payments 30,377
Less: Imputed interest (5,142)
Present value of lease liability $ 25,235

The Company has operating leases in relation to property for office, manufacturingand research facilities. The
maximum lease term without activation of termination options is to 2041.

On June 1, 2023, as part of the acquisition of TCR?, the Company became the lessee of three office,
manufacturing and research facilities in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The Company retained TCR?’s previous
classification fortwo of these leases as operating leases and, uponacquisition, the lease liabilities were measured at the
present valueof theremaining lease payments, as if the lease were a new lease of the Company at June 1, 2023. The
right-of-use assets were initially measured at the same amount as the respective lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favorable or unfavorable terms of the leases when compared with market terms.
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The third lease had a remaining lease term of lessthan 12 months as of June 1,2023, and the Company elected
not to recognize a lease liability or right-of-use asset as of June 1, 2023. The rent associated with this lease will be
recognized on a straight-line basis over the remainder of the lease term.

Note 9 — Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Accrued clinical and development expenditure $ 12,351 % 16,749
Accrued employee expenses 13,226 8,232
VAT payable 1,398 —
Other accrued expenditure 3,277 4,079
Other 51 2,155
$ 30,303 % 31,215

Note 10 — Contingencies and commitments
Leases

Lease payments under operating leases as of December 31,2023 and information about the Company’s lease
arrangements are disclosed in Note 8.

Capital commitments

As of December 31,2023, the Company had commitments for capital expenditure totaling $912,000 primarily
relatingto future payments relating to intangible assets such as software licenses, of which the Company expects to incur
$550,000 within one year and $362,000 within one to three years.

Commitments for clinical materials, clinical trials and contract manufacturing

As of December 31,2023, the Company had non-cancellable commitments for purchase of clinical materials,
contractmanufacturing, commercial activities, maintenance, and committed funding under the MD Anderson strategic
alliance of upto $13,746,000, which the Company expects to incur $12,408,000 within one year, $1,268,000 within one
to three yearsand $70,000 within three tofive years. The amount andtiming of these payments vary depending on the
rate of progress of development. Future clinical trial expenses have notbeen included within the purchase commitments
because theyare contingent onenrollment in clinical trials and the activities required to be performed by the clinical
sites. The Company’s subcontracted costs for clinical trials and contract manufacturing were $48,416,000, $54,689,000
and $33,744,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively.

MD Anderson Strategic Alliance

On September 26,2016, the Company announcedthatit had entered into a multi-year strategic alliance with
The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center (“MD Anderson”) designed to expeditethe developmentof T -cell
therapies formultiple types of cancer. The Company and MD Anderson are collaborating on a number of studies
including clinicaland preclinical development of the Company’s T-cell therapies and will collaborate on future clinical
stage first and second generation T-cell therapies across a number of cancers.
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Underthe terms ofthe agreement, the Company committed at least $19,644,000 to fund studies. Payment of
thisfundingis contingent onmutual agreementto study orders in order forany study to be included under the alliance
and the performance of set milestones by MD Anderson. The Company madean upfront paymentof $3,412,000 to MD
Anderson in the yearended December 31,2017 and milestone payments of $2,326,000, $3,549,000, $454,000 and
$2,326,000in the years ended December 31,2018,2020,2021 and 2022, respectively. The Company is obligated to
makefurther paymentsto MD Andersonas certain milestones are achieved. These costs are expensed to research and
development as MD Anderson renders the services under the strategic alliance.

The agreement may be terminated by either party for material breach by the other party. Individual studies may
be terminated for, amongst other things, material breach, health and safety concerns or where the institutional review
board, the reviewboard at theclinical site with oversight of the clinical study, requests termination ofany study. Where
any legal or regulatory authorization is finally withdrawn or terminated, the relevant study will also terminate
automatically.

Universal Cells Research, Collaboration and License Agreement and Co-development and Co-commercialization
agreement

On November 25, 2015, the Company entered into a Research, Collaboration and License Agreement relating
to gene editingand Human Leukocyte Antigen (“HLA”) engineering technology with Universal Cells, Inc. (“Universal
Cells”). The Company paid an upfrontlicense and start-up fee of $2,500,000 to Universal Cells in November 2015, a
milestone payment of $3,000,000 in February 2016 and further milestone payments of $200,000 and $900,000 were
made in the year ended December 31,2018 and 2017, respectively.

The agreement was amended and re-stated as of January 13, 2020, primarily to reflect changes to the
development planagreed between the parties. The agreement was further amended as of July 22, 2022, primarily to
makecertain changes to development milestones and to agree on the status thereof, as agreed between the parties.
Following the amendment, milestone payments of $500,000, $600,000 and $400,000 were made in the year ended
December 31,2022. No remaining milestones have been accrued as of December 31, 2023. The upfront license and
start-up fee and milestone payments were expensed to Research and development when incurred.

This Agreement was terminated by notice on January 27, 2023, effective 30 days following receiptof notice of
termination. Asa result of termination, all licenses between the parties to the Agreement ceased and each party was
required to return all confidential information of the other party.

Astellas Collaboration Agreement

Underthe Astellas Collaboration Agreement, described further in Note 3, if Adaptimmune had unilaterally
developeda productwith technology contributed by Astellas, Astellas could have beeneligible to receive milestones and
royalties relating to future commercializationand sales. As a result of the termination of the collaboration, Astellas no
longer has the right to receive these milestones or royalties in future.

Noile-Immune Collaboration Agreement

On August 26, 2019, the Company entered into a collaboration and license agreement relating to the
development of next-generation T-cell products with Noile-Immune. An upfront exclusive license option fee of
$2,500,000 was paid to Noile-lmmune in 2019. This was recognized within Research and Development in the
Consolidated Statementof Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019. Under the agreement, development and
commercialization milestone payments up toa maximum of $312,000,000 may be payable if all possible targets are
selected and milestones achieved. Noile-Immune would also receive mid-single-digit royalties on net sales of resulting
products.

Alpine Collaboration Agreement
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On May 14,2019, the Company entered into a Collaboration Agreementrelating to the development of next-
generation T-cell products with Alpine. The Company paid an upfront exclusive license option fee of $2,000,000 to
Alpine in June 2019. Under the agreement, Adaptimmune will pay Alpine for ongoing research and development
funding costs and development and commercialization milestone payments up to a maximum of $288,000,000 may be
payable if all possible targets are selected and milestones achieved. The upfront payment of $2,000,000 and the
payments for ongoing research was recognized within Research and development in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31,2019. A further payment of $1,000,000 was paid and recognized within
Researchand development in the Consolidated Statementof Operations for the yearended December 31, 2022. Alpine
would also receive low single-digit royalties on worldwide net sales of applicable products.

ThermoFisher License Agreement

In2012, the Company entered into a series of license and sub-license agreements with Life Technologies
Corporation, part of ThermoFisher Scientific, Inc. (“ThermoFisher”) that provide the Company with a field-based
license under certain intellectual property rights owned or controlled by ThermoFisher. The Company paid upfront
license fees of $1,000,000 relatingto the license and sublicense agreements and has an obligation to pay minimum
annual royalties (in the tens of thousands of U.S. dollars prior to licensed product approval and thereafter at a level of
50% of running royalties in the previous year), milestone payments and a low single-digit running royalty payable on the
net selling price of each licensed product. The upfront payment made in 2012 was expensed to research and development
when incurred. Subsequent milestone payments have been recognized as an intangible asset due to the technology
havingalternative future use in researchand developmentprojects at the time of the payment. The minimum annual
royalties have been expensed as incurred.

In 2016, the Company entered into a supply agreement with ThermoFisher for the supply of the
Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology. The Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology is designed to isolate, activate and
expand human T-cells, andis being used in the manufacturing of the Company’s affinity enhanced T-cell therapies. The
supply agreement runs until December 31, 2025. Under the supply agreementthe Company is required to purchase its
requirements for CD3/CD28 magnetic bead product from ThermoFisher fora period of 5 years. ThermoFisher has the

right to terminate the supply agreement for material breach or insolvency.
Regulatory Assay Development

As part of the process of obtaining regulatory approval for its products, the Company has entered into various
agreements for the development of assays for commercial supply, some of which have milestone or other payments that
trigger on or afterregulatory approvalis received fromthe FDA, and uponthe occurrence of future salesor commercial
usage of the respective assay.

Note 11 — Stockholders’ equity

Ordinary shares

Subject to any other provisions of our articles of association and without prejudice to any special rights,
privileges or restrictions as to voting attached to any shares forming part of our share capital, the voting rights of
shareholders are as follows. On a show of hands, each shareholder present in person, and each duly authorized
representative presentin person of a shareholder thatis a corporation, has one vote. On a show of hands, each proxy
present in person who has been duly appointed by oneor m ore shareholders entitled to vote on a resolution has onevote,
but a proxyhas one vote forand one vote against a resolution if, in certain circumstances, the proxy is instructed by
more thanone shareholder to vote in different ways on a resolution. On a poll, each shareholder present in person or by
proxy or (beinga corporation) by a duly authorized representative has one vote foreach share held by the shareholder.
We are prohibited (to the extentspecified by the Companies Act 2006) from exercising any rights to attend or vote at
meetings in respect of any shares held by the Company as treasury shares.
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Subject tothe Companies Act 2006 and the provisions of all other relevant legislation, we may by ordinary
resolution declare dividends out of our profits available for distribution in accordance with the respective rights of
shareholdersbutno suchdividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the directors. If, in the opinion of the
directors, our profits available for distribution justify such payments, the directors may from time to time pay interim
dividendsto the holders ofany class of shares. Subject to any special rights attaching to orterms of issue of any shares,
all dividends shallbe declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the shares on which the dividend is paid.
No dividend shall be payable to us in respectof any shares held by us astreasury shares (exceptto the extent permitted
by the Companies Act 2006 and any other relevant legislation). As of December 31,2023, Adaptimmune Therapeutics
plc and Adaptimmune Limited have accumulated netlosses and, accordingly, no profits available for distribution out of
which to declare or pay dividends.

Subject toany special rights attaching to orthe terms of issue of any shares, on any winding-up of the Company
oursurplus assets remaining after satisfaction of our liabilities will be distributedamong our shareholders in proportion

to their respective holdings of shares and the amounts paid up on those shares.

Effective from May 16, 2023, the Directors were generally authorized to allot new shares or to grant rights to
subscribe fororto convert any security intoshares in the Company up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of
£327,921.00. This authority willexpire on the earlier of the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting in
2024 andJune 30,2024 (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked). Effective from May 16, 2023, the Directors
were also empoweredto allot equity securities for cash, pursuant to their general authority to allot described in this
paragraph, without first offering them to existing shareholders in proportionto their existing holdings up to anaggregate
maximum nominalamount of £327,921.00. This power will expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the Company’s

annual general meeting in 2024 and June 30, 2024 (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked).

Without prejudice to all prior existing authorities, effective from May 30, 2023, the Directors were generally
authorizedto allot new shares or to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security intoshares in the Company up
to a maximum aggregate nominalamount of £380,600.712 in connection with the transactions contemplated by the
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 5, 2023, as amended, by and among Adaptimmune, TCR?
Therapeutics Inc. and CM Merger Sub, Inc. (the “merger”) This authority will expire on the earlier of the conclusion of
the Company’s annual general meeting in 2024 and June 30, 2024 (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked).
Effective from May 30, 2023, the Directors were also empowered to approve the issuance of ordinary shares of the
Company, parvalue £0.001 per share to be represented by American Depositary Shares in connection with the merger
for purposes of applicable Nasdaq rules.

At-the-Market Offerings

On April 8,2022 the Company entered into a sales agreement with Cowen (the “Sales Agreement”) under
which we may from time to time issue and sell ADSs representing our ordinary shares through Cowen in at-the-market
“ATM” offerings for an aggregate offering price of up to $200 million. In the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Company sold 642,416 ADSs under the Sales Agreement representing 3,854,496 ordinary shares resulting in net
proceedstothe Company of $596,716 after deducting commissions payable under the Sales Agreement and estimated
issuancecosts. As of December 31,2023, approximately $186,067,867 remained available for sale under the Sales
Agreement.

Note 12 — Share-based compensation

The Company grants options over ordinary shares in Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc under the following option
plans: (i) the Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc Employee Share Option Scheme (adopted on January 14, 2016), (ii) the
Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2015 Share Option Scheme (adopted on March 16, 2015) and (iii) the Adaptimmune

Therapeutics plc Company Share Option Plan (adopted on March 16, 2015).

The Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc Company Share OptionPlan is a tax efficient option scheme intended to
comply with the requirements of Schedule 4 to the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 of the United
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Kingdom, which provides forthe grantof company share option plan (“CSOP”) options. Grants may not exceed the
maximum value of £60,000 per participant for the shares underthe option, which is a CSOP compliance requirement.

Generally, the vesting dates for the options granted under these plans upto December 31,2023are 25% on the
firstanniversary of the grantdateand 75% in monthly installiments over the following three years. However, the options
granted tonon-executive directors under the Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2015 Share Option Scheme vest and

become exercisable as follows:

Options granted to non-executive directors on May 11,
2015:

Options granted to a non-executive director on June 23,
2016:

Options granted to non-executive directors on August 11,
2016:

Options grantedto non-executive directors on November
28,2016:

Options granted to non-executive directorson July 3,2017

Options granted to non-executive directors on June 22,

Immediately on grant date

25% on the first anniversary ofthe grant date and 75% in
monthly installments over the following two years
100% on the first anniversary of the grant date

25% on the first anniversary of the grant date and 75% in
monthly installments over the following two years
100% on the first anniversary of the grant date

100% on the first anniversary of the grant date

2018:

Options granted to a non-executive directoron July 5,  25% on the first anniversary ofthe grant date and 75% in

2018: monthly instalments over the following two years

Options granted to non-executive directors on July 2, 100% on the first anniversary of the grant date
2019:

Options granted to non-executive directors on July 1, 100% on the first anniversary of the grant date
2020:

Options granted to non-executive directors on July 1, 100% on the first anniversary of the grant date
2021:

Options granted to non-executive directors on July 1, 100% on the first anniversary of the grant date
2022:

Options granted to non-executive directors on July 3, 100% on the first anniversary of the grant date
2023:

Options grantedto a non-executive director on November 25% on the first anniversary ofthe grant date and 75% in
1,2023: monthly instalments over the following two years

Effective from January 2018, the Company has also granted restricted stock unit style options (“RSU-style”).
The RSU-style options over ordinary shares in Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc are granted under the Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc Employee Share Option Scheme (adopted onJanuary 14,2016). These options have an exercise price
equalto thenominal value ofanordinary share, of £0.001, and generally vest over four years, with 25% onthe first,and
each subsequent, anniversary of the grant date.

Options granted underthese plansare not subjectto performance conditions. The contractual term of options
granted under these plans is ten years.

The maximum aggregate number of options which may be granted underthese plans and any incentive plans
adopted by the Company cannot exceed a scheme limit that equates to 8% ofthe initial fully diluted share capital of the
Company immediately followingits IPO plus an automatic annual increase of an amountequivalentto 4% of the issued
share capitalon each 30June (or such lower number as the Board, or an appropriate committee of the Board, may
determine). The automatic increase is effective from July 1, 2016.

Prior to December 31, 2014, the Company granted options to purchase ordinary shares in Adaptimmune
Limited under three option schemes:

(i) The Adaptimmune Limited Share Option Scheme was adopted on May 30, 2008. Under this scheme
Enterprise Management Incentive (“EMI”) options (which are potentially tax-advantaged in the United Kingdom) have
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been granted (subject to therelevant conditions being met) to its employees who are eligible to receive EMI options
underapplicable U.K. tax lawand unapproved options (which do not attract tax advantages) have been granted to its
employeeswhoare not eligible to receive EMI options, and toits Directors and consultants. In May 2014, the Company
no longer qualified for EMI status and since thatdate, no further EMI options were granted under this scheme; however,
unapproved options have been under granted under this scheme since that date.

(i) The Adaptimmune Limited 2014 Share Option Scheme wasadoptedon April 11,2014. EMI options were
granted (subjectto the relevant conditions being met) under this scheme to our employees who are eligible to receive
EMI options under applicable U.K. tax law. Unapproved options were granted to its employees who are not eligible to
receive EMI optionsandto directors. In May 2014, the Company no longer qualified for EMI status and since that date,
no further EM1 options were granted under this scheme; however, unapproved options have been under granted under
this scheme since that date.

(i) The Adaptimmune Limited Company Share Option Planwas adopted on December 16,2014. This scheme
allowed the grant of options to our eligible employees priorto the Company’s corporate reorganization in 2015. This
scheme is a tax efficient option scheme and options were granted on December 19,2014 and on December 31, 2014 to
our part-time and full-time employees.

As part of the corporate reorganization in connectionwith our IPO, the holders of options granted under these
schemes over ordinary shares of Adaptimmune Limited were granted equivalent options on substantially the same terms

overordinary shares of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc (“Replacement Options”) in exchange for the release of these
options. The Company does not intend to grant any further options under these schemes.

As of December 31,2023, allthe Replacement Options under the Adaptimmune Limited schemes have vested.
The contractual life of options granted under these schemes is ten years.

The followingtable shows thetotal share-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Research and development $ 3061 $ 6,264 $ 9,052
General and administrative 8,712 11,976 11,577

$ 11773 $ 18240 $ 20,629

As of December 31,2023, there was $9,702,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock
options granted but not vested under the plans. That cost will be recognized over an expected remaining weighted -
average period of 2.4 years. The following table shows information about share options granted:

Year ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Number of options over ordinary shares granted 60,891,430 31,826,293 21,300,998
Weighted average fair value of ordinary shares options $ 012 $ 037 $ 0.70
Number of additional options with a nominal exercise price granted 27,375,252 24,248,424 17,765,778
Weighted average fair value of options with a nominal exercise price$ 027 $ 051 $ 0.97
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The following table summarizes all stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Weighted Average
average remaining Aggregate
exercise price contractual intrinsicvalue
Options per option  term (years) (thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2023 152,539089 £ 0.44
Changes during the period:
Granted 88,266,682 £ 0.26
Exercised (14,614,410) £ 0.01
Expired (14,916,414) £ 0.54
Forfeited (20,124,772) £ 0.18
Outstanding at December 31,2023 191,150175 £ 0.41 64 £ 4601
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 111671247 £ 057 48 £ 876

The following table summarizes information about stock options granted based on the market value at grant
date which were outstanding as of December 31, 2023:

Weighted Average
average remaining Aggregate
exercise price  contractual intrinsicvalue
Options per option  term (years) (thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2023 112477463 £ 0.60 68
Changes during the period:
Granted 60,891,430 £ 0.38
Exercised (2,318,712) £ 0.08
Expired (14,681,143) £ 0.55
Forfeited (8,698,923) £ 0.42
Outstanding at December 31,2023 147,670115 £  0.53 59 £ 131
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 104,062503 £ 0.61 47 £ 94

The following table summarizes information about RSU-style options which were outstanding as of
December 31, 2023:

Average
remaining Aggregate
contractual intrinsic value
Options term (years) (thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2023 40,061,626 8.4 8,014
Changes during the period:
Granted 27,375,252
Exercised (12,295,698
Expired (235,271)
Forfeited (11,425849
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 43,480,060 81 £ 4,470
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 7,608,744 63 £ 782

There were 14,614,410, 5,823,534 and 5,723,646 share options exercised in the years ended
December31,2023,2022 and 2021 respectively. In the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 the total
intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $2,527,000, $2,368,000 and $4,321,000, respectively and the cash received
from exercise of stock options was $256,000, $50,000 and $759,000 respectively. The Company recognizes tax benefits
arisingon the exercise of stock options regardless of whether the benefit reduces current taxes. Thetax benefit arisingon
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the exercise of stock options was $541,000, $488,000and $862,000 for theyears ended December 31,2023, 2022 and
2021 respectively. The Company satisfies the exercise of stock options through newly issued shares.

Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted-
average Weighted- Weighted-
Total share remaining average Total share average
Exercise price options contractual life exercise price options exercise price
£ 0.001 43,480,060 81 £ 0.00 7,608,744 £ 0.00
0.01-0.25 21,971,325 7.3 0.15 12,088,355 0.17
0.26 - 0.50 58,019,113 6.8 0.36 29,574,227 0.41
0.51-0.75 37,467,776 4.4 0.59 36,525,314 0.59
0.76 -1.00 22,398,887 5.0 0.84 19,100,118 0.85
1.01-150 4,760,589 4.1 1.30 4,423,554 1.29
1.51-2.00 2,208,807 4.7 1.67 1,735,989 1.68
Over 2.00 843,618 6.0 3.94 614,946 4.05
Total 191,150,175 64 £ 041 111671247 £ 0.57

The fairvalueof the stock options granted during the period was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model using the following assumptions:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31,  December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Expected term 5 years 5 years 5 years
Expected term (TCR? replacement options) 0.5-4years — —
Expected volatility 84-113%  99-101%  98-100%
Risk free rate 3.27-452% 0.94-390% 0.00-061%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The expectedterm of the optionisbasedon management judgment. The life of the options depends on the
option expiration date, volatility of the underlying shares and vesting features. We do not have sufficient history to
determine theexpected life based on internal data and therefore the estimate is based on empirical data. For Replacement
Optionsissued formerto TCR? employees as part of the acquisition of TCR? the expected term of the options was
adjusted to account for options thatwere already fully or partially vested onthe grant date and for known factors that
would impact the expected term such as redundancy post-acquisition.

Managementuses historical data to determine the volatility of the Company’s share price. The risk-free rate is
based on the Bank of England’s estimates of the gilt yield curve as of the respective grant dates.

Note 13 — Income taxes

Loss before income tax expense is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
u.s. $ (9597) $ (3245 $ 1625
U.K. (102,938)  (159,714)  (158,924)

Loss before income tax expense $(112,535) $(162,959) $ (157,299)

F-37



The amount allocated to the U.S. includes the $22,049,000 gain on bargain purchase.

The components of income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
United States:
Federal $ 1301 $ 2492 % 791
State and local 9 5 —
U.K. 26 — _
Total current tax expense 1,336 2,497 791
United States:
Federal — — —
State and local — — —
U.K. — — —
Total deferred tax expense — — —
Total income tax expense $ 1336 $ 2497 $ 791

As of December 31,2023and 2022 the tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to
deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment $ (4,954) $ (3,486)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (1,780) (1,529)
Other (365) (251)
Total (7,099) (5,266)
Deferred tax assets
Share-based compensation expense 15,039 16,963
Property, plant and equipment 391 —
Intangible assets 1,392 1,324
Operating lease liabilities 2,556 1,958
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 241,337 136,592
Capitalized research and development expenditure 37,699 8,409
Other 3,605 532
Total 302,019 165,778
Valuation allowance (294,920) (160,512)
7,099 5,266
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) $ ) $ —

The valuation allowance is primarily related to deferred tax assets for operating loss and tax credit carry-
forwards and temporary differences relating to share-based compensation expense and research and development
expenditure. Deferred tax assets have been recognized without a valuation allowance to the extent supported by
reversing taxable temporary differences. A valuation allowance has been provided over the remaining deferred tax
assets, which management considered are not more likely than not of being realized after weighingallavailable positive
and negative evidence including cumulative losses in recent years and projections of future taxable losses.
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The movements in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance for the yearended December 31, 2023 and 2022
are as follows (thousands):

2023 2022
Valuation allowance at January 1, $ 160,512 $ 132,443
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets acquired from TCR2 114,294 —
Increase in valuation allowance through net loss 21,076 30,455
(Decrease)/increase in valuation allowance through other comprehensive loss (8,042) 9,836
Foreign currency translation adjustments 7,080 (12,222)
Net change in the valuation allowance 134,408 28,069
Valuation allowance at December 31, $ 294920 $ 160,512

Reconciliationof the U.K. statutory income tax rate, the income tax rate of the country of domicile of the
Company, to the Company's effective income tax rate is as follows (in percentages):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

U.K. tax rate 23.5 % 19.0 % 19.0 %
Tax-exempt reimbursable tax credits included within pretax Research
and development expense 25 % 3.6 % 4.1 %
Income not taxable 5.3 % — % — %
Surrender of R&D expenditures for R&D tax credit refund (13.3)% (10.5)% (10.3)%
Expenses not deductible (2.3)% (0.3)% (0.2)%
Change in valuation allowances (18.9)% (18.8)% (31.8)%
Change in tax rates — % — % 13.7 %
Difference in tax rates 0.0 % 55 % 4.4 %
R&D tax credits generated 31 % 21 % 2.0 %
Other (1.0)% (2.1)% (1.4)%
Effective income tax rate (1.1)% (1.5)% (0.5)%

The Company is headquartered in the United Kingdom and has subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and the
United States. The Company incurs tax losses in the United Kingdom. The U.K. corporate income tax rate for the year
ended December 31,2023 was 23.5%and forthe yearsended December 31, 2022 and 2021 it was 19% in each year.
Adaptimmune LLCin the United States has generated taxable profits dueto a serviceagreement between Adaptimmune
LLC and the Company’s subsidiaries in the United Kingdom. The U.S. fed eral corporate income tax rate was 21% for
the yearsended December 31,2023,2022 and 2021, respectively. TCR? has incurred net losses in the United States
since acquisition and generates researchand development tax credits. TCR?’s deferred tax assets for operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards and othertax attributes are reduced by a valuation allowance to the amount supported by
reversing taxable temporary differences because there is currently no indication that we will make sufficient taxable
profits to utilize these deferred tax assets. Income not taxable primarily relates to the gain on bargain purchase, which
only arises at a consolidated level and is not taxable.

The United Kingdom’s Finance Act 2021, which was enacted on June 10,2021, maintained the corporate
income tax rate at 19% up until the year commencing April 1, 2023, at which point the rate rose to 25%. As of
December 31,2023, the Company used a 25%and 21% taxrate in respectof the measurement of deferred taxes existing
in the U.K. and the U.S., respectively, which reflects thecurrently enacted tax rates and the anticipated timing of the

reversing of the deferred tax balances.
As of December 31, 2023, we do not have unremitted earnings in our U.S. subsidiaries.

As of December 31,2023, we had U.K. net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $563,883,000, U.K.
expenditure credit carryforwards of $915,000, U.S. net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $366,609,000,
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U.S. tax credit carryforwards of $3,759,000 and U.S. capitalized research and development expenditure of $179,519,000.
Unsurrendered U.K. net operating loss carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely to be offset against future
taxable profits; however, this is restricted to an annual £5,000,000 allowance in each standalone company or group and
above this allowance, there will be a 50% restriction in the profits that can be covered by losses brought forward.
U.K. tax credit carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely to be offset against future tax liabilities of the
company. U.S. tax credit carryforwards can be carried forward for 20 years to be offset against future tax liabilities,
subject toa minimum tax paymentof 25% of the tax charge. The U.S. tax credit carryforwards expire between 2041 and
2043.

Our tax returns are under routine examination in the U.K. and U.S. tax jurisdictions. The scope of these
examinations includes, but isnot limited to, thereview of our taxable presence in a jurisdiction, our deduction of certain
items, our claims for researchand developmentcredits, our compliance with transfer pricing rules and regulations and
the inclusion orexclusion of amounts from our tax returns as filed. The Company is no longer subject to examinations
by tax authorities forthe tax years 2016 and prior in the U.K. and there are no ongoing enquiries in the U.K. However,
U.K. net operating losses from the tax years 2016 and prior would be subjectto examination if and whenusedin a future
tax returnto offset taxable income. Our U.K. income tax returns have been accepted by His Majesty’s Revenue and
Customs through the period ended December 31,2017. The Company is subject to examinations by taxing authorities in
the United States foralltax years 2020 through 2023. We are alsosubject to audits by U.S. state taxing authorities where
we have operations.

Unrecognizedtax benefits arise whenthe estimated benefit recorded in the financial statements differs from the
amounts taken orexpected to be taken in a tax return because of uncertainties in the tax law. As of December 31, 2023

and 2022, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits.
Note 14 — Geographic information

Operations by geographic area

Revenue represents recognized income from the Astellas Collaboration Agreement, the Genentech
Collaboration and License Agreement, the GSK Collaborationand License Agreement and the GSK Termination and
Transfer Agreement. All revenue was derived in the United Kingdom.

Long-lived assets (excludingintangibles, deferredtax and financial instruments) were located as follows (in
thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
U.K. $ 40988 $ 42,387
u.sS. 30,720 29,148
Total long-lived assets® $ 71708 $ 71535

Major customers:

During the yearended December 31,2023, 73%, 26%and 1% of the Company’s revenues were generated from
Astellas, Genentech and GSK, respectively.
Note 15 — Restructuring programs

On November8,2022, the Company announced thatin orderto extend the Company’s cash runways, it was re-

focusingthe business on core programs and deprioritizing non-core programs and undertaking a restructuring of the
Company including a headcount reduction to be completed in the first quarter of 2023.
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The redundancy process was completed in the first quarter of 2023 with a reduction of approximately 25% of
globalheadcount. The redundancy packages to be paid to departing staff comprise a combination of contractual
termination benefits, relating to payments that arise from terms of employment contracts and statutory redundancy pay,
and one-time employeetermination benefits that were provided orenhanced specifically for this redundancy process.
Due to the structure of the redundancy scheme and the different employmentregulations a ffecting the Company’s UK.
and U.S.employees, some of the expense associated with the one-time employee termination benefits were recognized
overthe remaining period of employee service to be rendered. Contractual termination benefits and other one-time
employee termination benefits were expensed and recognized in the year ended December 31, 2022. All expenses have
been recognized in General and administrative expenses in the Statement of Operations.

The amounts expected to be incurred in relation to the redundancy program are as follows:

One-time
Contractual employee Total
termination termination  restructuring
benefits benefits costs
Cumulative amount incurred to December 31, 2022 $ 1171 $ 1114 $ 2,285
Amount incurred in the year ended December 31, 2023 778 925 1,703

Total amount and cumulative amount incurred to December 31, 2023 $ 1949 $ 2039 $ 3,988

Thetable belowisa summary of thechanges in the restructuring provisionin the consolidated balance sheets in
the year ended December 31, 2023:

One-time
Contractual employee Total
termination termination  restructuring
benefits benefits provision
Provision at January 1, 2022 3 — 3 — 3 —
Costs incurred and charged to General and administrative expenses 1,171 1,114 2,285
Provision at December 31, 2022 $ 1,171 $ 1114 $ 2,285
Costs incurred and charged to General and administrative expenses 670 947 1,617
Costs paid during the period (1,955) (2,041) (3,996)
Adjustments to the liability 108 (22) 86
Effect of foreign exchange rates 6 2 8
Provision at December 31, 2023 $ — 3 — 3 —

The costsincurredduringthe period includes the element of one-time employee termination benefits that was
recognized overthe remaining period of employee service. The costs incurred during the year ended December 31,2023
alsoinclude anadditionto the provision for costs incurred relating to termination benefits paid to the former Chief
Commercial Officer, who left employment with the Company in the first quarter of 2023.

No impairment losses were recognised as a result of the restructuring.
TCR? post-acquisition senior leadership severance

Following the acquisition of TCR? Therapeutics Inc. in June 2023 (see Note 16), the Company made most of
the former members of TCR?’s senior leadership team, comprising the executive officers and most vice presidents,
redundantand paid severance packages. The redundancy packages are considered contractual termination benefits as
they arise from terms of employment contracts including change-in-control ‘dual trigger’ provisions, and were
comprised of severance and other payments and accelerated vesting of share option awards.

The amountsincurred in relationto these redundancies in the year ended December 31, 2023, are as follows:
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Year ended
December 31, 2023

Severance and other cash payments $ 5,655
Accelerated vesting of share-based compensation awards 1,032
Total and cumulative amount incurred to December 31, 2023 $ 6,687

The expense associated with the accelerated vesting of share-based compensation awards recognized in
Researchand development and Generaland administrativeexpenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations was
$0.2 million and $0.8 million, respectively. The table below is a summary of the changes in the liability in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet in the year ended December 31, 2023:

Liability
Liability at June 1, 2023 $ 805
Costs incurred and charged to Research and development expenses 1,267
Costs incurred and charged to General and administrative expenses 4,388
Costs paid during the period (5,887)
Liability at December 31, 2023 $ 573

Theamounts included in the liabilities at December 31, 2023 and the cash paid during the period, include
amounts relating to accrued payments to these employees for services provided priorto the acquisition of TCR? by the
Company.

Note 16 — Business combinations

On March 6, 2023 the Company announcedentry into a definitive agreement under which it would combine
with TCR? Therapeutics Inc. (“TCR?”)in an all-stock transaction to createa preeminentcell therapy company focused
on treatingsolid tumors. TCR?isa Boston, Massachusetts-based T-cell therapy company focused on treating solid
tumors, with clinical franchises undergoingtrials anda preclinical pipeline. The combination provides extensive benefits
for clinical development and product delivery supported by complementary technology platforms.

The transaction was approved by the Company’s shareholders and TCR? stockholders on May 30,2023 and the
merger became effective onJune1,2023. The Company issued 357,429,306 shares to TCR?stockholders in return for
100% of TCR?’s stock. As a result, TCR? and all entities within the TCR? group, became wholly owned by the
Company. Following the completion of the transaction, the former TCR?stockholders held approximately 25% of the
Company, whereas the Company’s pre-existing shareholders held approximately 75%.

The Companywas identified as the acquirer, with TCR? as the acquiree, and June 1, 2023 was determinedto be
the acquisition date.

The consideration transferred for TCR? includes the shares issued by the Company to former TCR?
shareholders, plus the fair value of replacementawards of the Company granted to TCR? grant holders attributable to
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pre-combination vesting. The table below summarizes the consideration transferred and the amounts of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed recognized at the acquisition date:

Consideration transferred:

Fair value of 357,429,306 ordinary shares issued $ 60,763
Fair value of replacement options and RSU-style options granted attributable to pre-

combination service: 963
Purchase consideration $ 61,726

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Assets acquired

Cash and cash equivalents $ 43,610
Restricted cash 1,654
Marketable securities - available-for-sale debt securities 39,532
Other current assets and prepaid expenses 6,029
Property, plant and equipment 2,712
Operating lease right-of-use assets 5,145
Intangible assets 58
Total assets acquired $ 98,740
Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable (6,210)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (4,537)
Operating lease liabilities, current (1,974)
Operating lease liabilities, non-current (2,244)
Total liabilities assumed $ (14,965)
Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 83,775

The fairvalueof the 357,429,306 ordinary shares issued to TCR? stockholders of $60,763,000 was determined
on the basis of the closing market price of $1.02 ($0.17 per ordinary share) of the Company’s ADSs asof May31,2023.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were measured based on management’s estimates of the fair value
as of the acquisition date, excluding leases.

The lease contracts acquired by the Company relate to the rental of officeand manufacturing spaces in which
TCR?wasthe lessee. The Company retained TCR?’s previous classification of acquired leases as operating leases as
there were no lease modifications asa result of the combination, with the exception of leases with a remaining lease term
of 12 monthsor lessat the acquisition date, forwhichno assets or lia bilities were recognized at theacquisitiondate. The
lease liabilities were measuredatthe present value of the remaining lease payments as if the leases were a new lease as
of June 1,2023, discounted usingthe incremental borrowing rate. The right-of-use assets were measured at the same
amount asthe lease liabilities, with adjustments to reflect favorable or unfavorable terms compared to market terms. No
intangible assets were identified in relation to lease contracts acquired.

The table below summarizes the calculation for the gain onbargain purchase, recognized in the Gain on bargain
purchase line in the Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Gainon bargain purchase

Purchase consideration $ (61,726)
Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 83,775
Gain on bargain purchase $ 22,049
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The transaction resultedin a gain on bargain purchase as the purchase considerationincluded in the agreement
on March6,2023 comprising Company ADSs was based on a fixedratioof 1.5117 of the Company’s ADSs to be issued
foreach TCR?stock acquired. As the transactionwas an all-stock transaction, the value of the consideration was highly
sensitive to changes in the Company’s ADS price. The price of a Company ADS fell from a closing price of $1.32 on
March 6, 2023 compared to a closing price of $1.02 on May 31, 2023.

The amountof TCR?’s earnings that are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations for
the year ended December 31, 2023 was a loss of $32,427,000 which excludes the gain on bargain purchase.

Theamountof revenueand earnings of the combined entity for the years ended December 31,2023 and 2022,
had the acquisition date been January 1,2022, are as follows:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Revenue $ 60,281 $ 27,148
Net loss (177,312) (301,879)

The supplemental pro forma earnings for the year ended December 31, 2023 were adjusted to exclude the $22.0
million Gain on bargain purchase, the $7.3 million of acquisition-related costs recognized by the Company, as detailed
below, and the $9.0 million of acquisition-related costs incurred by TCR?. The pro forma earnings for the year ended
December 31,2022 were adjusted to include these gains and losses. The supplemental pro forma earnings for both
periodswere adjustedto include theimpactof replacementoptions issued, as if these had been issued as of January 1,
2022. Accordingly, the share-based compensation expense recognized by TCR?in the year ended December 31, 2022,
and the five months ended May 31,2023, prior to the acquisition by the Company, of $11.4 million and $1.0 million,
respectively, were excluded from the pro forma earnings.

TCR?did not generate revenue in the period from January 1,2022to December 31,2023, as it hasno contracts
with customers, so there was no impact on the revenue included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations
or in the supplemental pro forma revenue and earnings presented above.

The Companyincurredthefollowingacquisition-related costs that were recognized as an expense in the nine
months ended December 31, 2023:

Legal, professional and accounting fees $ 5174
Bankers' fees 2,172
Total acquisition-related costs $ 7,346

All acquisition-related costs thatwere recognized asanexpense were recognized in Generaland administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. No issuance costs were incurred relatingto the issuance of shares
to TCR? stockholders.

Note 17 — Subsequent events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events from January 1, 2024 up to March 6, 2024.
At-the-Market Offerings
During the period from January 1, 2024 through March 6, 2024, we sold 18,750,000 ADSs under the Sales
Agreement representing 112,500,000 ordinary shares resultingin net proceeds to the Company of $14,653,500 after

deducting commissions payable under the Sales Agreement and estimated issuance costs. As of March 6, 2024,
approximately $171,067,867 remained available for sale under the Sales Agreement.
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